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MARJCORY STONEMAN DOUGLAS H GH SCHOOL
PUBLI C SAFETY COWM SSI ON MEETI NG
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Novenber 14, 2018
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MAX SCHACHTER - VI CTI M PARENT
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MELI SSA LARKI N SKI NNER - CEO, CENTERSTONE OF FLORI DA
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JUSTI CE REBECCA KAPUSTA - SECRETARY, DCF
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COUNTY
DESMOND BLACKBURN - SUPERI NTENDENT, BREVARD COUNTY
GRADY JUDD - SHERI FF, POLK COUNTY
DOUGLAS DCDD - SCHOCOL BOARD MEMBER, ClI TRUS COUNTY
LAUREN BOCK - SENATOR, DI STRICT 32
RYAN PETTY - VI CTI M PARENT
MARSHA POVERS - SCHOOL BOARD MEMBER, MARTI N COUNTY
KEVI N LYSTAD - PRESI DENT, FLORI DA POLI CE CH EF ASSCC
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(Thereupon, the neeting is called to order:)
CHAIR Al right, good norning everybody.
We're going to begin this norning with a
presentation on the physical site security at
St oneman Douglas. And you're going to |earn
about the canpus itself, how the canpus was set
up, the investigative work that was one on
canpus, and also the results of many interviews
there were conducted wth the school personnel.
This presentation this norning i s not
about the |l aw enforcenent response, so pl ease
that keep that mnd. And please keep that in
m nd as you have questions because after this
presentation this norning we're going to get
into the | aw enforcenent response, and you're
going to get a very detailed presentation on
that. So with all of this there sone segue
way, you know, between the two topics, but
again this is primarily focused on the canpus
itself. So we'll ask Detective Bonasoro to
come up and make his presentation on the site
security.
And with this, we kind of did it
yesterday, | know in previous neetings we were

hol di ng questions to the end, but with this
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topic, and with the next one that we're going
to have when Sergeant Suess cones up and tal ks
about the | aw enforcenent response, because
there's so nuch here if you have specific
clarifying questions that you want to ask
during the presentation | think it's probably a
good idea that we allow that, and that we do
that, but if you have just general questions
then we'll do what we usually do at the end.
But if you want to ask any clarifying as you go
through it because it's the right tinme to put
that on the table then speak up and we'll, and
we'll do it that way for today.

wally, all yours.

PRESENTATI ON PHYSI CAL SI TE SECURI TY

DET. BONASORO.  Thank you, Sheriff. Good
nor ni ng Conm ssioners. Like the Sheriff said
we're going to be covering topics three and
four. We're going to touch on a brief history
of MSD. W're going to talk alittle bit about
t he canmpus structure, the buildings, the
fencing, the gates around the canpus. W're
going to touch on sone school board policies
that were in place at the tine, or not in place

at the tine. W'll talk alittle bit about
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training that the canpus staff received by Al
Butler, and then we're going to conclude with
sonme of the teacher and adm ni strator

I ntervi ews.

Marjory Stoneman Douglas Hi gh School is
| ocated at 5901 Pine Island Road in Parkl and,
Florida. It opened in 1990 to neet the grow ng
popul ati on of Parkland and Coral Springs. The
school itself was nanmed after Marjory Stoneman
Dougl as. She was an aut hor, journalist,
wonen's rights advocate, and was nost known for
her Evergl ades conservation efforts. Dougl as
passed away in 1998 at the age of one hundred
ei ght.

At the time of the shooting there were
three thousand three hundred ei ghteen students
enrolled at MSD. Three thousand ni nety were
present the day of the offense. There is one
princi pal assigned to the school, five
assi stant principals, six guidance counsel ors,
one full tinme social worker. According to the
princi pals approximately two hundred ten total
staff, and the school hours are 7:40 a.m to
2:40 p.m Just a side note, on that day

Princi pal Ty Thonpson was not present, and
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Assi stant Principal Denise Reed was in comrand.

I"'mgoing to get into a little bit about
t he canpus structure. This is an overview of
the canmpus. It sits on forty-five acres, and
this picture just depicts the sheer massive
size of the canpus itself. The next slide is
t he west border of MSD that separates the high
school fromthe mddle school there. It runs
approxi mately nine hundred fifty-nine feet
north and south, and these are the property
|l i nes, nine hundred fifty- nine feet north and
sout h, and approxi mately sixteen hundred
forty-one feet east to west.

There are at | east fourteen buildings on
the canpus. The picture shows the nunbers in
white are nostly student housi ng cl assroons.
|'ve seen there is sone depictions of this nmap
t hat says there's sixteen buildings on the
canmpus, but the one that was provided fromthe
district says there's at |least fourteen. The
canmpus al so houses a football field, basebal
and softball fields, tennis and basket bal
courts. The box depicts that the athletic
fields are to the west of the main canpus.

There are about six, or there is six
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parking lots on canpus; three student lots to
the north, two staff lots, and one visitor |ot.
The staff lot to the south side there al so

I ncorporates the bus | ook and ESE drop-off.

The visitor parking lot is at the very east
end, where visitors and adm nistrative staff
par k.

Building 12 is the newest building on the
hi gh school canpus, and it was designed a | ot
different than the other buildings. Building
12 was built in 2008, and open for students in
2009. The older structure is a two story bl ock
constructed building in which the classroom
doors lead out into open air hallways. Al the
exterior walls were block, or are block with
metal doors. The wi ndow in the door neasured
five inches wde, and the door |ocks were the
same style locks that were inside Building 12.

Thi s photo depicts the perineter fencing
t hat enconpasses the canpus. There is a siXx
foot chain link perineter fence that surrounds
the entire canpus. The fence was not, is not
anchored at the bottom and there's no added
security features at the top of the fence. A

si de note; the canpus nonitors would say they
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frequently saw on a daily basis students easily
scaling and junping that fence. And there's
sone ot her opinions out there, and studies,
that anchoring the fence would nmake it easier
to, to get over, however this fence was not
anchored, and according to the staff the kids
were junping the fence on a daily basis, so.

This next slide, if you can see it, great,
but it depicts a parking lot gate. There's two
gates there that sw ng open. They are chain
link. That secures the parking | ot entrances.
Those are | ocked by a chain and a padl ock.
There are four pedestrian gates at the front of
the school, two gates |ong the west property
| ine that separate MSD from West gl ades M ddl e,
and one pedestrian gate on the sout hwest
property line. The next slide will show you
where those gates are. The red circles
I ndi cate pedestrian, or walk in gates, and the
blue circles indicate the parking | ot sw nging
gat e access.

During interviews | was told that the
gates to the west where the football fields
are, and the baseball fields, are constantly

| ocked there, they just don't open them
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anynore. The ones on the east side of the
school, the red circles, they are unl ocked and
| ocked on a daily basis.

This next slide depicts the front of the
school. \What you see there, what we tried to
capture is the, the gate. That is a ten foot
hi gh netal gate with doors, and above the doors
you see that it extends even higher. This next
slide is the visitor entry. You'll see that
little awning there. If you pull up to the
school this is where it funnels you into, and
that's the visitor entry.

So if all the perineter gates were | ocked
this becones your single point of entry. You
stand outside the door and a secretary buzzes
you in. There is no screening process outside
of that door. Even though you get buzzed in --
|'ve been there nmultiple tinmes, anybody who
wal ks to that door, rings the bell, and can
still enter the adm nistration building. Once
you have access to the adm nistration building
there's no additional security features there.

The school hours again are 7:40 a.m start
time, and dismssal is at 2:40 p.m The

perinmeter pedestrian gates and parking | ot
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gates were opened at 5:30 a.m by the

mai nt enance staff. Al the gates were
re-secured anywhere between 7:50 and 8:00 a. m
And agai n, school begins at 7:40, so between
5:30 in the norning and approxinmately 8:00 a. m
the gates were open and left unstaffed. 1In the
afternoon at dism ssal the gates were opened at
approximately 2:15 p.m Again, these gates
were not staffed.

COW STEWART: Let ne ask a question --

CHAIR Go ahead.

COMWM STEWART: So between 8:00 and 2: 15
wer e those pedestrian gates egress accessible
SO --

DET. BONASORO. At approximately 8:00 al
the gates were | ocked, and if sonebody had to
| eave the school adm nistration would contact
t he campus nonitors, the canpus nonitors would
t hen neet the student or staff nenber to allow
t hem - -

COMW STEWART: But if the student wanted
to, instead of scaling the fence would they
actually egress, or were they |ocked such that
the students couldn't get out?

DET. BONASORO Unfortunately the prem se

800-726-7007

Veritext Legal Solutions

305-376-8800



© 00 N o o~ wWw N

N N N N N N P B P PP R R R R
a A W N BB O © 0O N O 0o~ W N+, O

Page 10

was to have them ask to be all owed out, however
during the interviews there were nultiple tines
that were said once the gates were opened they
were | eft open, so.

CHAIR Well, and explain during that, to,
about the responses, as to why, you know, they
open the gates at 5:30 in the norning. School
doesn't start until 7:40, so you got two hours.
And then in the afternoon Medi na opened that
gate at 2:15.

DET. BONASORO  Yes.

CHAIR  And of course school doesn't get
out until 2:40.

DET. BONASORO  Ri ght .

CHAIR  Way? | nean what -- what was the
-- why do they open themso early? And of
course they're unstaffed, which just provided
unfettered access for, you know, two hours in
t he norni ng.

DET. BONASORO | asked that question, and
just the response was it was the routine. That
was the start of the day, that maintenance
woul d get there at 5:30, and the first thing
they would do is unlock the school.

CHAIR Al right, so the point is that

Veritext Legal Solutions
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there's, there's no operational reason, just
the way they did it.

DET. BONASORO.  No.

CHAIR Gkay, go ahead.

DET. BONASORO Again, the interviews with
t he school adm nistrators cited insufficient
personnel as the explanation for the unstaffed
gates. This next slide is an overview of the
canpus, and agai n depicting Building 12.
Building 12 was first utilized for students in
2009. It's a three story building. There's
I ngress/egress to the building on the east and
west side of Building 12. This next slide just
depicts the three stories, and the classroons
on each I evel.

CHAIR Hey, Wally --

DET. BONASORO Sir.

CHAI R Senator Book, you're recognized.

DET. BONASORO |'msorry.

SEN. BOOK: One of the things | renenber
when we were there wal king around the buil ding
toget her was that Building 12 sort of was |ike
pl unked in the m ddl e because it was an
addi tion, and that obstructed sone of the, the

surveill ance caneras. Are you going to cover
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that, or is, that's not a part of this?

DET. BONASORO |I'mgoing to briefly touch
on the surveillance caneras inside of Building
12, however Sergeant Suess wll go into further
detail about that in his explanations.

CHAIR. The -- the answer is he'll get
into it, and he's going to show you a map, but
the answer is correct, there were gaps in
coverage because of where that building was
erected, there was, but he'll get into that, so
t he answer is yes though.

SEN. BOOK: kay, thank you.

DET. BONASORO \What you're | ooking at
here is the east doors to Building 12. The
doubl e netal doors lead into a hallway where
cl assroons are |located. The single stairwell
doors off to the right there, if you access
that will lead you right into the stairwell,
and these are, the maroon doors there are the
doors that Cruz entered the building. He then,
once entered the building, he make a right into
that stairwell.

This next slide is the ingress/egress on
the west side of Building 12. Sane type of set

up, and that single door, stairwell door, is
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where Coach Feis entered. Building 12 --
Wi thin Building 12 is about thirty cl assroons,
pl us teach and pl anni ng breakroons on the west
end of each floor. The building is occupied by
approximately thirty teachers and nine hundred
students daily. There are boys and girls
bat hroonms on each floor. And there are
thirteen interior caneras which cover the
hal | ways, but no video inside the classroom
And we heard yesterday that the canera
configuration in Building was there are three
caneras on each hallway on each |evel, and then
in the stairwells there was two each.

This next slide shows where the bull et
hol es travell ed through the drywall. Buil ding
12, the interior of that building, the walls
were constructed of standard drywall, and of
course this picture is show ng where the bull et
hol es went easily through the walls. In this
picture here, we'll stay on it for a second,
this is the north wall of Building 12, so when
Cruz was in the hallway he shot through the
wi ndow. This wasn't the hallway wall, he shot
t hrough a wi ndow, it went through the

classroom and this is the north wall of one of
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t he cl assroons.

In Building 12 the classroom doors are
made of netal with a pane, with a pane of gl ass
t hat neasures eight inches wide. The doors on
the ol der construction building are al so netal
with a five inch wide glass pane. | just point
t hat out because the w der the pane the nore
area of the classroomyou can see fromthe
outside. As we all heard many tines at that
time the doors could only be |ocked fromthe
outside of the classroom And | go into the
door locks in alittle bit further detail on an
additional slide here later on in the
present ati on.

CHAIR.  Sen. Book, go ahead. No, no

probl em
SEN. BOOK: Can -- | know that the doors
are nmetal. Can netal -- can these type of

doors stop those, stop bullets, or do they, can
they penetrate the netal ?

DET. BONASORO They'll penetrate the
netal. And | do have a slide depicting that
here in just a second.

CHAIR:  And renenber what Detective Scot

said yesterday, is, is that the mgjority, from
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t he best anybody can tell is, is that when he
was shooting in the classroons the way he was
shooting in order to shoot people was through

t he w ndow, but sonme of the rounds | ooked Iike
nore that he mssed. It wasn't intentional, he
was trying to go through the door, and these
are actual rounds in the door, and what you saw
on the wall is, Detective Bonasoro pointed out,
once the rounds went through the w ndow then
they hit walls in the classroom Those walls
are drywall, so then they're going through that
drywal | .

So, and you do see sone in there where
fromthe outside hallway, a few where there
were rounds fromthe hallway into the
cl assroom but those are few, so he wasn't
tactically, strategically, intentionally trying
to shoot through the door or the wall, fromthe
best anybody can tell, it's through the
wi ndows, and then of course the victins in the
hal | ways thenselves. So that's the -- so but
what you see, | would describe it here as, what
you see in these doors, or in the walls, is
nore coll ateral, as opposed to his intentional

effort to fire.
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MR. SCHACHTER: Chair, can | ask you a
gquesti on?

CHAIR M. Schachter, go ahead.

MR. SCHACHTER: \Wen -- when the nurderer
shot through the wi ndow did he purposefully
aim or was it just indiscrimnate shooting in
the classroom or was he specifically aimng at
children? D d he spend tinme trying to do that?

CHAIR Well, you can see fromthe video
he noved very fast, and by all accounts, and by
|l ooking at it is, is that it was unfortunately
whoever was line of sight. So it wasn't that
he was picking out any specific individuals, it
was, and you can see by the window there is, is
that it is long and it's narrow, so as he shot
It's unfortunately whoever was in that |ine of
sight, and that's what it appeared to be. It
wasn't that he was trying to get angles, and
we' || get ahead of ourselves here, but |'1l]
keep saying it because | think it's so
i nportant, is that he wasn't even trying to
defeat hard corners, so if you' re shooting
t hrough that w ndow with what he did, if you
went into that classroomand you took a hard

| eft into the hard corner you were going to be
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saf e.

Where you were unsafe is if you were in
that line of sight, and unfortunately there
were a | ot of people that were in that |ine of
sight, including people that could not get into
the hard corners, and according, and a couple
of those kids we tal ked about that were hiding
behind a TV because they couldn't get in. So
he was shooting line of sight. Conmm ssioner
Carroll.

MR. CARROLL: On one of the 911 calls
yesterday, and it was a young |ady on the call
she was afraid because she said the w ndow s
been shot out so he can sinply reach in and
open the door. |Is that true, because that's a
pretty high door handle there, and it's
adj acent with the wi ndow, once the windowis
gone can you open the door fromthe inside
still?

DET. BONASORO  Yes.

MR. CARROLL: kay.

DET. BONASORO. And, Senator --

CHAIR M. Schachter, go ahead.

DET. BONASORO. |'m sorry.

MR. SCHACHTER: So one of the
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recommendations that | think that we shoul d put
I n the recommendations is that any new
construction schools, and new doors, the vision
wi ndows shoul d be on the opposite side as the
door handl e so that what Conm ssioner Carrol
menti oned i s not possible, because he coul d
have easily put his hand in, opened up that
door, and then executed everybody in that room

CHAIR  Yeah. Go ahead.

DET. BONASORO. All right. So the
I ngress/egress doors to Building 12 on the east
and west sides were left unlocked due to the
amount of foot traffic that was in and out of
that building all day. One of the canpus
noni tors, David Taylor recogni zed that, and
suggested to his supervision that one side of
t he doors be | ocked so that the other side
could be staffed. He followed up by saying
once he made that suggestion he never heard
anyt hi ng about it again.

MR. SCHACHTER: Detective, did he nention
who he, which adm nistrator he informed?

DET. BONASORO | believe it went through
G eenleaf, and then Greenleaf ran it through

the admnistration. |If it went any further
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than Greenleaf |'mnot sure. The classroom
setup, Broward County Public Schools does not
have a policy relating to classroom setup other
than the m ni num standards established by the
fire code. The district policy regarding the
establ i shnment of hard corners or safe areas in
each room or has no policy regarding the
establ i shnment of hard corners or safe areas in
each room

According to the response that we received
fromthe district, it stated that the teachers
are permtted to set up their classroons as
they see fit to provide educational instruction
and inspire learning. The only requirenents
that would be that they do so in a safe manner,
and provide clear paths of egress for an
emer gency.

CHAIR And that's the current policy
t oday.

DET. BONASORO That is today, yes.

CHAIR. There is no requirenent of
t eachers having hard corners in the Broward
County school s today.

DET. BONASORO. When | ooking at the fire

code there is nothing in the fire code that
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woul d have prohibited the district from
establishing and/or requiring hard corners in
each cl assroom

During a wal k-through of Building 12 the
safe or hard corners of some roons were
obstructed by furniture. Actually nost of the
roons were. Later on in this presentation we
have many slides to, to show you that. There
was furniture, desks, and in sonme instances
| arge cabinets were nmounted to the walls in the
saf e area.

During a training session on January 11,
2018 Detective Al Butler with the Broward
County Public Schools Police Special
I nvestigations unit did instruct the staff
about utilizing a hard corner of the roomto
hide in the event of energencies. Only two of
the thirty classroons in Building 12 had a |ine
of tape on the floor to denote the hard corner.
The cl assroons are equi pped with a | andline
t el ephone and a PA system The PA systemis
activated by flipping a switch that is on a
wal | . The PA provides two way conmuni cati on.
There are no speakers in the common areas or

the hal |l ways of Building 12.
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CHAIR M. Schachter, go ahead.

MR. SCHACHTER: Did Al Butler, going back
a slide, he instructed the staff. Do we know
-- or you said there were only two cl assroons
that, or two teachers that took his
recommendati ons, and - -

DET. BONASORO W're going to get into
that in further detail later on in the
presentati on.

MR. SCHACHTER: Ckay. Do we know if, if
anybody in MSD adm nistration did anything with
hi s recommendati on?

DET. BONASORO No, they did not.

MR, SCHACHTER: Did -- did we know -- did
he recommend that to MSD adm n, that they put
hard corners in all the classroons?

DET. BONASORO. He recomended that during
the presentation on the 11th.

MR. SCHACHTER: Who was present at that?

DET. BONASCRO The entire staff.

MR. SCHACHTER: So all the APs and, and Ty
Thonpson?

DET. BONASORO. Yeah, | think it was
Decenber 15th he cane again, of 2017, he did a

simlar presentation to the principal, the
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adm ni strators, and the canpus nonitors. On
January 11th he cane back and did a very
simlar presentation for the teachers and the
rest of the staff.

MR. SCHACHTER: Let ne just get this
straight. So on two separate occasions he told
the staff and the adm nistration of Mrjory
St oneman Dougl as that this was a vulnerability,
and they ignored his recomendati ons, and they
did not institute this as a policy.

DET. BONASORO Wl |, he suggested
utilizing the hard corner. That's what he
st at ed.

MR. SCHACHTER: Did they give a reason why
they didn't do this?

DET. BONASORO. No, sir.

CHAIR  Comm ssioner Stewart.

COMWM STEWART: | know that the other
ol der buil di ngs have direct access to the
out si de.

DET. BONASORO  Yes.

COM STEWART: Not an indoor corridor.

DET. BONASORO  Ri ght.

COMW STEWART: But is there a PA system

in that center courtyard, or outside of any of
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the buildings so that --

DET. BONASORO At the tine there was not.

COW STEWART: And was there any reason
provi ded for why there would not be a PA system
in the hallway in Building 12, or on the
out si de of the buil dings?

DET. BONASORO No. It was just stated
that the PA systemwere in each of the
cl assroons.

CHAIR  Sonme of these questions, and |
encour age you, renenber Superintendent Runcie
wi |l be on Thursday, and | encourage you to
take notes of any questions you want to ask
him | can tell you that the questions that
you are asking are probative questions that we
have asked, and the investigators have asked
during the course of the |ast several nonths of
I nterview ng many people, and so we've asked
that the sane question. Were -- and the only
thing that we've determined is the only place
there were speakers were inside the -- no
comon areas had speakers at all. So again,
when the code red, and that's what | said
yesterday, if the code red had been called, |

mean it wasn't, the problemwas, there's a
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problemthat it wasn't called until after three
mnutes into the event, | nean that's a problem
in and of itself.

But the point of it is even if it had been
called it would have been usel ess because
nobody coul d have heard it anyway, you know.

But | -- again | would encourage those of you
so inclined with sone of these questions that
we don't have the answers to that you stil

have questions about, that they would be
appropriate questions to ask the superintendent
on Thursday, so.

MR. SCHACHTER: And, Chair, | wasn't here
for the video, so I'"msorry if sone questions |
ask was, was already gone over. How nany
children apparently were killed because they
could not get into the hard corners, or as a
result of the not, you know, doing that
correctly in the classroons, to your --

CHAIR Well, there is sonme. And you're
going to see sone of it during the | aw
enforcenment response presentation | ater today
and into, into tonorrow. | nean |, you know,
there, there were sone definitely that, and

you' Il see sone as Detective Bonasoro gets into
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this presentation. W're going to show you
actual photos fromthe actual classroons as

they existed on that.

You're going to see what we'll call crine
scene photos, and you'll see how it was set up,
and you'll see what it is, and there are kids,

it's a fact, who, you know, one in particular
who died on the |ine because she was nudged out
of the hard corner because she couldn't get in.
There are two that were hiding behind a TV set
because they couldn't get into the hard corner.
So there was a problemw th the kids not being
able to get into the hard corner and be in that
safe spot within this classroons. [It's just a,
yeah, those are just the facts.

MR. SCHACHTER: When you interviewed the
assi stant principal and Ty Thonpson did you ask
hi m about Al Butler's recomendati ons on two
separate occasions in two different years to
institute the hard corners?

DET. BONASORO. We asked hi m about the
training, and he said he was in attendance for
the training. So no, specifically no, we
didn't ask himwhy he didn't inplenent the hard

corners.
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MR. SCHACHTER: \What was the -- what was
the date in, in 20177

DET. BONASORO. | believe it was Decenber
15th. Again, yesterday Jeff Mbquin, Mbquin,
wi th the School Board was here, and he did say
during his presentation that there were severa
enhancenents nmade to the PA's infrastructure.
| don't know if that neant that speakers were
added to the, the hallways or not, we would
have to clarify that tonorrow, but he did say
that there were several enhancenents nade. |
don't knowif it was to the existing
infrastructure or it was added to.

MR SCHACHTER: | had a whole intercom
system donated, but the District decided to go
ahead and buy a brand new intercom system so
it's conpletely new, $150, 000.

CHAIR Go ahead, Wally.

MR. SCHACHTER: The -- the fire alarmon
MSD and the suppression system Building 12's
fire alarmsystemwas installed by Bass United
Fire and Security Systens. Although Buil ding
12 was constructed at a later tine the newer
systemwas fully integrated with the ol der

systemin the building. The detectors inside
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of Building 12 are placed thirty feet apart in
the hallways on all floors. Refracted or
reflected beans of light |ink the detectors
together, and that's how they communi cat e.

A representative fromBass United advised
that the alarmwent off either because the beam
of Iight was disrupted by muzzle flash fromthe
gun, snoke fromthe gun, or dust which was
created by the ceiling tiles' novenent fromthe
percussion of the rifle. The main control
panel to the fire alarmis |ocated inside of
the SROs office, which is |ocated inside of
the adm nistration building. It did confirm
that the second detector fromthe east door on
the first floor was triggered. It also
confirnmed that no pull stations were triggered,
or pulled anywhere on canpus.

Further, the fire alarmsystens may have
positive fire alarmfeatures. |f they do the
operation also nust conply with the foll ow ng.
The signal from any device nust be acknow edged
at the fire alarmcontrol unit by trained
personnel within fifteen seconds of
enunci ation. |If the signal is not acknow edged

within fifteen seconds the notification signals
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are automatically and i mmedi ately acti vat ed.

CHAIR  Senat or Book, go ahead.

SEN. BOOK: Thank you very nuch. 1'm--
so |I'm ski pping, and going back and forth. But
SO0 just because one spot, one building has,
triggers an alarm that means that everywhere
on the canpus, all of the buildings, a fire
al arm goes off.

DET. BONASORO Right now, yes.

SEN. BOOK: It seens kind of --

CHAIR It's the way it's set up now.

SEN. BOOK: And | guess ny question is
does that necessarily seemlike the safest and
smart est choice?

DET. BONASORO. That's the way it's al ways
been, however if we just get through these
couple of slides here it will show you this is
an additional option to have.

CHAIR  And -- and this is inportant,
because a | ot of you in your reconmendati ons,
and | know we covered, you know, a trenmendous
anount of material, and sonme of it gets to be a
little blurred sonetines, renenber though, and
a lot of you in your recomrendati ons said that

we shoul d i nclude a recommendati on that the
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fire code be changed, and Florida | aw be
changed to allow a del ayed response. It is
already in the law, and this is what Detective
Bonasoro is covering now, so | encourage you,

t hose of you who have questions about it, pay
close attention to this, because Florida | aw
sets forth the procedure for allow ng a del ayed
alarm so it's not a |law change that's
required, it's a systemchange that's required,
and that's what he's expl ai ni ng now.

But a lot of you had this in your
recommendati ons that you submtted to us, so
this explains it. So it's not a question of a
| aw change, it's a question of inplenenting the
system The systens exist, it's a question, is
do they have the desire to do it, and then the
capacity to revise our alarmsystens.

SEN. BOOK: And, I'msorry, this is being
done just because this is the way it's been
done, right, because --

CHAIR Wll, a lot of things are that
way.

SEN. BOOK: Ckay. I'm-- but I'mreally
just asking, not being not like flip about it.

CHAIR  Yes, right. R ght, no, and they,
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you know, they legally have the capacity to
have a delay in the alarmsystem and this is
what he's explaining now, is, is that, and, you
know, getting into here is, is that so it has
to be acknow edged within fifteen seconds. |If
it's acknowl edged with in fifteen seconds then
sonmebody has a hundred ei ghty seconds to access
whether it's a true fire energency, and whet her
they should then allow the alarmto continue
with the activation.

Once it's acknow edged in fifteen if there
isn't a decision to override it then it sets it
off within a hundred eighty seconds. That's
what the | aw says. And there are systens that
do that, so the question is do the individua
school s want that type of system or do they
want a system as soon as sonethi ng happens it
just, everybody everywhere, and everybody
reacts to it. And that's the systemthat was
at MSD, or is at MSD.

SEN. BOOK: And even still, like let's say
there was a fire in Building 12 --

CHAIR Right. Right.

SEN. BOOK: That doesn't nean that

Buil ding or Building 2 should have to evacuate
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out into --

CHAIR Those are valid points.

MR. SCHACHTER: And, Chair, | just had a
meeting with Chief May of Broward County Public
Schools, and also the fire marshals, along with
t he new School Board nenber Lori Al hadeff, and
we were addressing those issues, because
currently the fire alarmat Marjory Stonenman
Dougl as continues to go off incessantly,
traumati zing the kids currently there. And one
of the challenges is that the panel that they
have, they're not able to distinguish which,
whi ch buil di ng, which, which floor, which
cl assroonms, so that needs to, that needs to
change as wel | .

CHAIR Go ahead, Wally.

DET. BONASORO. As the Sheriff just
expl ained, that's a perfect explanation of what
these slides are, so we'll go back and j ust
reiterate this just one nore tine real quick.
The signal from any, any device, nust be
acknow edged at the fire alarmcontrol unit by
trai ned personnel within fifteen seconds of
enunci ation. At that point you then have a

hundred ei ghty seconds to determ ne what's
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happening. After a hundred eighty seconds if
no additional action is taken the fire alarm
will go off if it's not reset. So -- and this
is the current law, as the Sheriff said. WMsD
did not have this systemin place at the tine.

MR. SCHACHTER: Well, | nean is it -- is
it conceivable that once they hit the, once the
fire alarm goes off they hear a notification,
that they have their staff, or designated
peopl e go check to see if there's actually a
fire there before they evacuate every buil di ng,
because, because to Senator Book's point, it's
absolutely ridiculous to evaluate thirteen
masonry buildings if there's a fire in the
kitchen, in the cafeteria.

DET. BONASORO. Right now we're going to
get into sone of the SRO and the security
staff. Scot Peterson was the SRO at MSD. He
had about thirty-two years total of |aw
enforcenent, twenty-eight as an SRO
approxi mately nine years as the SRO at MsD
There was thirty-three hundred students, a
little over thirty-three hundred students
enrolled at the tinme, and there was only one

SRO assigned to the school.
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The security staff on canpus one 2/14, you
had one security specialist and canpus
nonitors. Al were present at the tine.

SEN. BOOK: Is there --is there a specific
| ocati on where the SRO is supposed to be
| ocated on, because it's a big canpus,
forty-two acres, so is there a specific
| ocati on where he's supposed to be?

CHAIR I'msorry, we can't hear you. Can
you speak into the m crophone?

SEN. BOOK: I'msorry. |If there's only
one SRO assigned to the canmpus, and it's
forty-two acres, is there a specific |ocation
that that SRO is supposed to be located, and if
so where is that in |ocation, or respect, to
Bui | di ng 127

DET. BONASORO. Not hing specific, but on a
daily basis he should be visible. That's what
SRCs do, they're out, out and about on canpus,
and should be visible at all tines.

SEN. BOOK: Do you know where he was
| ocat ed when the shooter arrived at the school ?

DET. BONASORO. We do. And agai n,

Sergeant Suess will go over that in detail, but

he was in the SRO office at the tine. He was
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handl i ng anot her situation.

SEN. BOOK:  Ckay.

DET. BONASORO. The SRO office is |ocated
in the adm ni stration buil ding.

CHAIR So he was in Building 1. His
office is in the admn building, and Building 1
on the map, and so Peterson was in his office
in Building 1 when the incident began.

MR. SCHACHTER: Do you know if he was
wearing a vest?

CHAIR He was not.

MR. SCHACHTER: Did he have a vest?

CHAIR | don't know.

MR SCHACHTER:. Did he have a rifle?

CHAIR He didn't have it with him and as
far as we know he did not.

SEN. BOCOK: Can | just ask one quick
guestion on the staffing? Wen we tal k about
security specialists and canpus nonitors, what
gualifies sonebody to be a security speciali st,
is that |ike a higher level of certification,
is that nore tine, like what is a special, do
t hey have special responsibilities?

DET. BONASORO It's a supervisory

position, so they do have to qualify for that
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position. And in a few slides here we have the
actual job description of the canpus security
speci al i sts. Good questi on.

COMWM STEWART: Sheriff, if | may?

CHAI R Conmi ssioner Stewart.

COW STEWART: But one of, may be behi nd
part of your question, nost of these here at
this school did not hold an educator's
certificate.

CHAIR  You'll see, the qualifications for

the nonitor are very mnimal, and they're just

there to open gates and report. He'll get into
it nore. Go ahead. He'll explain nore. o
ahead, Wally.

DET. BONASORO So we asked the district
whet her or not there was a witten policy
regardi ng canpus nonitor responsibilities and
we received the follow ng response: There is
no specific policy regarding responsibilities
of canpus nonitors. The only witten
i nformati on provided was the job description of
t he campus nonitor outlining their job
responsibilities.

Like the Sheriff said it's that they're

openi ng gates, dealing with students on a daily
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basis. So | just want you to, of all these
responsibilities here | want to refer you to
nunber seven, determ ne the reason of outsiders
on canpus. That was in the job description,
and --

CHAIR But -- but also know that, again,
we asked for a policy that tells everyone as to
an operating policy about the canpus nonitors,
the security specialists, et cetera. It
doesn't exist. So this is the job description,
so this is when sonebody applies for the job
this is what they woul d see when they apply for
the job. So how nmany people renenber what's in
the job description they applied for five years
ago, you know, this isn't sonething that guides
daily activity, I want to be clear about that.
There is no policy. There is no procedure.
There's no witten docunent that tells the
admni strators, that tells other staff, that
tells teachers, that tells anybody what these
nonitors do. This isn't the job description.
So there's a big difference.

MR. SCHACHTER: Chair, you know, we can --
we can -- we're dealing wiwth the schoo

hardening, and that's extrenely inportant, but
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the, you know, you can put as nuch technol ogy
I n these school s as possi bl e, caneras,
everything, but it's the nonitors, it's the
personnel that nmake the decisions that, that
really obviously let this nurdered on the
canmpus to nurder these seventeen innocent
people, so we need in nmy opinion to put
sonething to educate these nonitors, and to
prepare them and to train themalong the |lines
of what you're saying, Chairman. That is
extrenely inportant. There's nothing nore

i mportant than the personnel.

DET. BONASORO So during the interviews
of the canpus nonitors one of the main
questions we asked was what is your job
responsibilities, what do you do as a canpus
nonitor, and every single one of them their
answer was we observed and we report. And |
asked what that nmeant, and their explanation
did not nmeet what they actually do on a daily
basis. (Observing and reporting, you observe
somet hi ng go down, they're saying that they
report to their boss, or the admnistration, to
cone handl e the problem when in fact that's,

that's not reality on the canpus.
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So they do encounter students on a daily
basis, and they do nuch nore hands on work
t han, than what they, what observe and report
technically nmeans. And again | want to point
out that one of their responsibilities was to
determ ne the reason for the presence of
out si ders on canpus.

MR. SCHACHTER: And so -- so | ask the
guestion, that if their job is only to observe
and report, that's exactly what Medina did,
that's exactly, you know, none of these guys,
who's there to protect the school, who's there
to do sonmething if there's sonebody on canpus
that's not supposed to be there?

CHAIR Go ahead, Wally.

DET. BONASORO. So we asked Greenleaf, the
security specialist, what does a canpus nonitor
do on a daily basis, and this is, the follow ng
Is some of the information that he told us.
Each nonitor is assigned a general area of the
school to nonitor throughout the day. The
assignnents do adjust according to activity or
need. The perinmeter of the school is often
patrolled by the nonitors, according to

Greenleaf. He did suggest that they unlock the
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gates for early dismssal.

They were not trained in the use of the
vi deo canera system however he did say that
sonme did have limted and generic know edge on
how to use it. The nonitors will initiate
contact with multiple students throughout the
day to ensure that the students are out of
class for a legitimate reason. Mnitors wl|
often participate in debriefings after fire and
other code drills. And nonitors will perform
ot her duties assigned by the principal and/or
APs.

These next few slides are going to explain
Andrew Medi na's novenents and acti ons when he
first observed Cruz. | do want to state that
Medina is going to tal ked about in greater
detail in Sergeant Suess's presentation. So at
2:19 p.m Medina was on the east side of the
school unl ocking the gates, preparing for
di sm ssal. He observed an Uber stop on Pine
I sland Road in front of the school, and
observed Cruz exit. Cruz wal ks toward, wal ked
toward the school wearing a backpack, and
carried what was readily identifiable as a

rifle bag.
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Cruz entered through one of the gates that
Medi na had just opened. Now, that gate there
-- if this will work here -- | don't know if
you can see that there. It's right in that
area where that dot is there.

COMWM STEWART: Chair?

CHAIR. Commi ssioner Stewart, go ahead.

COW STEWART: And where exactly was
Medina in rel ation?

DET. BONASORO. Medina -- okay, so the
front -- the whole front of the school there,
there was several gates that he had to open.

He was working his way south opening the gates,
so he was on the southern portion of the
property when he observed this.

CHAIR Wl l, can you, based on your, you
know, discussion with Medina just, you know,
use the pointer and, and just point generally
where you know t hat Medi na was.

DET. BONASORO Let's see, he was probably
down in this area here.

CHAIR And -- and Cruz cane in -- point
to where Cruz was.

DET. BONASORO. And Cruz conmes in right

about through here.
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MR. SCHACHTER: So about a hundred yards
or so?

DET. BONASORO. A little bit over. Yeah,
It was over a hundred yards away. This is the
bag Cruz was carryi ng.

MR. SCHACHTER: And can you talk for a
second about -- so he it was -- it was -- they
open the gates every day at 2:15?

DET. BONASORO  Approximately, vyes.

MR. SCHACHTER: (Ckay. And that was --
that was determ ned by adm nistration, it's not
like - -

DET. BONASCRO That was a --

MR SCHACHTER: |'m sorry?

DET. BONASORO. Det erm ned?

MR. SCHACHTER: Yeah, l|ike that was --
pushed down as a procedure through the
adm ni strati on.

DET. BONASORO Yes, sir, at sone point
the nonitors had to take direction from
sonebody, so. And that was just a conmon
practice, every day at 2:15 the gates woul d
start bei ng opened.

So Medi na sees Cruz wal ki ng, and at that

poi nt he radi os canpus nonitor David Tayl or,
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who was stationed inside of Building 12. W
know from yesterday's presentation that David
Tayl or was on the second floor of Building 12.
Medina tells himthat there is a suspicious kid
that just cane onto the canmpus. At this point
Medina is in his golf car, and he starts
driving fromwhere he was on the south end, he
starts driving up towards where Cruz was
wal ki ng.

When we tal k about this, the bag, and
you' Il hear it in Sergeant Suess' presentation,
he makes a specific comment to | aw enforcenent
that he knew the bag Cruz was carrying was a
rifle bag, he refers to it as a rifle bag just
m nutes after the incident. And with that in
m nd, he did not call a code red at this tine.

MR. SCHACHTER: Did -- wow, that's --

t hat's shocki ng, because | had thought that in
his testinony he said he didn't realize that.
Did we ook at testinony -- did he give the
School Board a witten statenent?

DET. BONASORO. Yeah, we | ooked into that.
He did not.

MR. SCHACHTER: Because it was -- it was

told to nme by the superintendent and schoo
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board nenbers that Medina's statenment to them
was contrary to what he gave to BSO

DET. BONASORO. He was interviewed several
times by |aw enforcenent. | don't know about
t he school board personnel.

CHAIR. But you'll hear it tonorrow, and
you' Il hear it in his own words. |It's captured
on a body camvideo, and he tells a sergeant
fromBroward County Sheriff's Ofice that he
saw Cruz carrying a rifle bag. So you'll hear
it later today or tonorrow, it depends when
Sergeant Seuss gets to it in his presentation.
So there's no doubt that Medina knew what he
was seeing was a rifle bag, and those are his
own words, and what you just saw in that
previous slide is the actual bag that he was
carrying, and that's a rifle bag. It's not a
pool cue bag. It's not a guitar case. It's a
rifle bag, and he says that. So | nean that's
what know, those are the facts, what he has
said otherwise to others, you know, this is
what cane to, the words that cane out of his
own nout h.

MR. SCHACHTER: \When we asked the district
why they didn't fire himinitially they said
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they didn't have evidence to support that.
CHAIR They -- they didn't. This
district still doesn't have -- this is being

told for the first tinme, because the district
doesn't have that body cam footage. They don't
-- the district doesn't know yet what we know,
and they're hearing it now Senator Book.

SEN. BOOK: Thank you. And this is a
question for Comm ssioner Stewart, and we kind
of were | ooking at each other and tal ki ng about
this issue. They may not have known that then,
or now, but they did know that Medi na was
sexual | y harassing students, and | nean a
conplaint was filed, and | think this goes to
sonething that's a policy piece that's really
I nportant to address that |'ve been working on
with the conm ssioner, and has been very
difficult to nove forward.

And can you just tal k, Conm ssioner, if
you don't mnd, M. Chair, through you, a
little bit about kind of how we can like fix
some of what this is.

COMW STEWART: So currently the
Departnent only has jurisdiction over

I ndi vidual s that hold and educator certificate.
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Those individuals that are non-instructional

for the nost part do not hold an educator's
certificate. W do have sone paraprofessionals
who by nature of their career path do hold a
certificate. W also have sone, and this is
public information, Medina happened to have an
athletic coaching certificate. He doesn't have
an educator's certificate, but it, because he
has a coaching certificate it does put himin
the real mof jurisdiction under the Departnent
of Educati on.

For me to say anything nore specifically
about Medina | would have to say | can neither
confirm nor deny.

SEN. BOOK: But --

COMW STEWART: But | think surrounding
your question, if there were sonething to be
put into statute surroundi ng enpl oyees | think
that could in fact be extrenely hel pful, not
just with this kind of a situation but for nmany
others. They do have to undergo background
screening, and their hiring policies wuld have
to take into consideration any background
screening, but that's the | evel of

jurisdiction.
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MR SCHACHTER: Chair, | think the
conmm ssi on needs to al so understand that Medina
sexual | y harassed, sexually harassed Meadow
Pol | ack, and that case was brought in front of
the School Board. There was a, you know, maybe
one of the other conm ssioners know, there was
a person at the district that overrode the
reconmendation to get rid of Medina. He
overrode that, and then Medi na ended up back on
canpus.

CHAIR  Go ahead.

DET. BONASORO Al right. So Medina
radi os Tayl or again that the suspicious kid was
headi ng towards the east entrance of Buil ding
12. Wiile walking to Building 12, you can see
this dot here, there's a bicycle rack sonewhere
right in there where that dot is, Medina says
at that point, Cruz is by the bi ke rack, |ooks
at Medina and according to Medina, he goes |
recogni zed himas a forner student. Sheriff.

SHER. JUDD: Before we get too far away
fromit, did the Uber driver know that Cruz had
arifle wwth hinf

DET. BONASORO.  No.

SHER. JUDD: He didn't recognize the case
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as arifle case, or -- where did he pick it up
at?

DET. BONASORO. He thought it was sone,
sone sort of nusical instrunent.

CHAIR  Yeah, she -- she -- it was a
femal e Uber driver, didn't speak English very
well, hard to communicate, and Cruz told her
that he was en route to the school for sone
type of a band practice or sonething, and
i ndicated it was guitar case. So she really
didn't know nmuch, and he told her things that
indicated it was other than what it was.

DET. BONASCRO So it was at this tine
Medi na sees Cruz and recognizes him but at
that point he didn't recall his nane. He said
| recognized himbut | didn't recall his nane.
He says once the two nmade eye contact Cruz
began to pick up his pace, noving towards
Building 12 with a purpose. Medina then stops
his cart, his golf cart at the northeast corner
of the adm nistration building, and watches
Cruz enter Building 12. The northeast corner
of the admn building is going to be -- he was
right in about that area here, right on the tip

of that corner. It's at that --
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MR SCHACHTER: Are we -- |'msorry.

DET. BONASORO. (Go ahead.

MR. SCHACHTER: Are we going to get into
why Cruz did not, why Medina did not call a
code red | ater?

DET. BONASORO Yeah, we'll get into it in

MR. SCHACHTER: Yes, okay.

DET. BONASORO. So Medina is sitting there
in his golf cart. He sits there for
approxi mately seventeen seconds, and then he
decides to again nove towards Building 12 in
his golf cart. At this point, that's when he
hears the first rounds being shot within
Bui I ding 12.

CHAI R Comm ssi oner Dodd.

MR. DODD: Just so that |I'mclear, when
Medi na radi oed that there was a suspicious kid
that radi o was on, on the school radio.

DET. BONASORO  Yes.

MR DODD: That's not recorded.

DET. BONASORO. Correct.

MR. DODD: Do we know if he used any
description? D d he say that he was carrying a

rifle case? Did he radio anything that gave
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nore than a suspicious kid?

SGI. SUESS: No, sir. He referenced there
was a suspicious kid, | believe with a
backpack, but no reference to a rifle bag.

MR. DODD:. Ckay.

CHAIR:  Sheriff Judd.

SHER. JUDD: Wuld Peterson have heard
t hat communi cati on?

DET. BONASORO  Excuse ne?

SHER. JUDD: Wyuld Peterson have heard
t hat conmuni cati on?

DET. BONASORO He coul d have, yes.

CHAIR He had the school radio, right?

DET. BONASCRO He had the school radio.

SHER. JUDD: He should have had the schoo
radi o, and shoul d have heard t hat
conmuni cat i on.

DET. BONASORO  Yes.

CHAIR But another thing we heard conmon,
and you can touch, you want to touch on that,
VWally, just briefly is, is that, and fromthe
i ntervi ews, and of course we haven't
I ntervi ewed Peterson, but it was not unconnpn
for people to turn the radios off.

SHER. JUDD: That's a weakness.
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DET. BONASORO. So after hearing the first
rounds being fired inside of Building 12
Medi na, Medina gets on the school radio again
and advi ses suspi ci ous noi ses were com ng from
i nside Building 12. Again he does not call a
code red at this tine.

CHAIR. Renenber what | said yesterday too
IS, so Medina says, is that he is understandi ng
that in order to call a code red he either had
to see a gun or he had to hear gunshots. So he
sees the gun bag and he doesn't call it, but he
says that he hears gunshots, and so even
heari ng gunshots he still didn't call it. And
that's an inportant point. So even by his own
statenments when he heard the shots then even
what he says was his understandi ng about the
authority to call a code red he nonet hel ess
didn't do it, so just - - Conm ssioner.

COMW STEWART: |I'mnot sure if this is a
guestion or a statenent, but it seens to ne
that if in fact they are just observers and
reporters what was the point in letting Tayl or
know that this suspicious kid was comng in if
all Taylor would then be able to do is to

observe and report. And in addition to that I
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really still cannot understand if he recognized
Cruz why he would not have radioed to Taylor to
say, oh, it's Cruz, because all of the security
nmoni tors woul d have known Cruz.

DET. BONASORO | agree. And observe and
report is not what they do. The reality is
t hey, they encounter kids, and contact kids on
a daily basis. So after hearing the shots
Medi na turns his golf cart back south, and
states that he's going to find other help. He
nmeets up with Deputy Peterson and Security
Speci al i st Greenl eaf outside of the
adm ni stration building, and then transports
Pet erson and Greenl eaf on the golf cart back to
Bui I ding 12.

Medi na stated that when he was wi thin just
feet of the east doors of Building 12, he drops
off Peterson there, and that's when he hears
addi ti onal noises and realizes that the noises
he's hearing is gun, gunfire comng fromwthin
the building. He stated that he believed he
could not call a code red unless he physically
saw the gun or heard gunshots. Despite hearing
t he gunshots he still didn't call the code red.

Medi na admtted that he did not approach Cruz

800-726-7007

Veritext Legal Solutions

305-376-8800



© 00 N o o~ wWw N

N N N N N N P B P PP R R R R
a A W N BB O © 0O N O 0o~ W N+, O

Page 52

because he thought Cruz may have had a handgun
that was readily accessible to him

Yes, sir.

MR. SCHACHTER: But on the BSO vi deo when
they interviewed himhe said | didn't want to
be the guy to call the code red, right?

DET. BONASORO COkay, yes. He then states
that after hearing the gunshots he did not cal
a code red because he was focused on getting
nore help. Medina advised that the first
person he heard call a code red was canpus
monitor Elliot Bonner, and that wasn't, it was
over three mnutes after Cruz had begun
shooting, and after Cruz had al ready shot
and/or killed twenty-four people on the first
floor.

MR. SCHACHTER: Detective, could it have
been, and did you ask if Medina had called
Tayl or on his cell phone?

DET. BONASORO. He did not.

MR. SCHACHTER: He did not. He used the
canmpus radi o.

DET. BONASORO  Yes.

SEN. BOCK: Is there -- is there any type

of protocol around when Medi na nmakes that first
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call saying | see a suspicious kind on canpus
to when he then goes and gets additional help,
I's there any kind of protocol around the tine
| apse in between there, if, if | nmake a call
and |'m Medina, and | say | see a suspicious
kid on canpus, how nuch tinme shoul d el apse
before | get a response, before | get people
comng to ne to assist?

DET. BONASORO. No, there's not. And
again there was no policy witten regarding the
canmpus nonitor, so what they had to go by was
instruction fromtheir boss, the APs, or the
job responsibilities. And again, one of those
job responsibilities was to encounter and
I dentify people on canpus that weren't supposed
to be there. They did that on a daily basis,
so no, there was no protocol.

CHAIR  Secretary Senior.

SEC. SENIOR:  Medi na went and got
Peterson. Did Peterson have access to a schoo
radi o?

DET. BONASORO. He did.

SEC. SENNOR He didn't call a code red.

DET. BONASORO. He did not.

CHAIR  Sheriff Judd.
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SHER. JUDD: (Qbviously there should have
been policies, and practices, and procedures,
but the reality of it is anyone with an I Q of
40 who recogni zes a troubled kid who shows up
on the canpus with a gun bag cdl have called a
code red. He didn't have to have any training
to figure that out. And -- and there is the
Issue. | mean certainly there should have been
protocol s, and training, and procedures, but
what does it take to figure out there's a kid
that | know that's been a problemthat's here
with a gun bag, and nobody calls a code red, no
one. | mean | don't know how you fix that.

CHAIR Well, it's a culture problem

SHER. JUDD:. Absolutely.

CHAIR  You know, | mean even renenber,
again, we need to get through this, but
remenber even, even after Chris MKenna was in
the stairwell and saw Cruz | oadi ng the gun,
Cruz says get out of here because things are
going to go bad, where does he go, he goes and
gets Aaron Feis, who is unlocking a gate up
there by Hol nberg Road, Feis drops himoff at
the 13 Building, and then Feis goes in to

confront the shooter and, you know, but even
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Aaron Feis never called a code red know ng what
McKenna had just told him

VWhat -- renenber it's not until three
m nutes and si xteen seconds that Elliot Bonner
called the code red. So you had Medi na that
didn't call it, you had Taylor that didn't cal
it, you had Feis that didn't call it, and you
had anybody who happened to have the radi o on
that heard any of the communi cations between
Medi na and Tayl or, nobody called it until
Bonner called it at three m nutes and sixteen
seconds into it, which is, you know, well into
t he shooting. Yeah.

MR. SCHACHTER: Since we're tal king about
code red, did you interview forner Secret
Service Oficer Steve Wexler?

CHAIR  Yeah, | think you'll hear --
you' Il hear the results of has interviewin
this, in this presentation, or in Sergeant
Suess' presentation. |It's in Sergeant Suess',
so the answer is yes, and you'll hear the
results of that. Go ahead, Wally.

DET. BONASORO. And lastly, Medina stated
that he did not observe any, any of Deputy

Peterson's actions, or inactions. | just put
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this in here. This is the job description.
Again, there's no policy or procedure for the
security specialists in place at the district

at the tine. This is the job description of
the security specialist. Calvin Geenleaf is a
security specialist at MSD, and prior to that
he was there for ten, ten years.

MR. SCHACHTER: Who was head of security
at the school? Detective, who was head of
security?

DET. BONASORO It would be Calvin
G eenl eaf.

MR. SCHACHTER: It woul d be G eenleaf.

DET. BONASCRO  Yes.

MR SCHACHTER: |Is he still the sane, in
the same position currently?

DET. BONASORO: Yes. So the district does
have an energency code, color coded flip chart,
and we'll just go through the different col or
codes. This -- these charts are in every
single classroom and this is what the chart
| ooks like. This is the chart. It's now
hangi ng on the, on the |anyards of the staff
menbers, and also in the classroons, so --

The first code is, is red. No npvenent,
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| mm nent danger. There's a threat or incident
to the facility, when the best course of action
Is to keep everyone in place, and included the
safe team An exanple would be a drive by
shooti ng, outside disruption, or terrorist

t hreat.

Now, what's witten on these slides is
verbatimfromtheir, their chart fromthe
district.

The yellowis |imted novenent. It's a
threat or an incident to the facility when the
best course of action is to keep everybody in
pl ace, but requires the safe teamor other, or
ot hers depending on the nature of the situation
to react. |E would be, an exanple would be a
nei ghbor hood i ncident, or at the police
di rection.

Code brown is to shelter in place,
evacuate, or |ockdown. It's a threat or
incident to the facility when the best course
of action is to inplenent a shelter in place,
| ock down, or evacuation. Procedures depend on
nature of the school energency, chemcal, toxin
rel ease, or an expl osion.

The blue is a nedical enmergency. That
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states when the best course of actionis to
notify the safe teamof a nedi cal energency.

Bl ack woul d be a bonb threat, which would
require the evacuation of the facility.

Orange woul d be anot her evacuati on when
the situation warrants beyond previ ous codes.
And no exanpl es were provided for that.

And the col or code of green would be the
all clear. And that is the chart.

"Il touch a little bit about the safe
team Each school is required to have a safe
team The teamis conprom sed of the
princi pal, assistant principal, assistant
princi pals, security specialists, canpus
nmonitors, the facility maintenance staff, the
SRO, and teacher representative. The team
usually net after a code drill to debrief and
di scuss school safety concerns. |n previous
years the safe teamnet limtedly. The safe
team now neets at | east once a nonth.

So we're tal king about drills. This slide
i ndi cates the '17/'18 school year. Keep in
mnd that the first day of school was August
21, 2017, and all these dates and tinmes are

firedrills, so a fire drill was conducted
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three days after the first day of school, and
then again every nonth, and on that day, 2/14.

MR. SCHACHTER: Detective, we've heard
that there was an announcenent there was going
to be a drill that norning, or there was one.
Have you heard anything to that affect?

DET. BONASORO. There was a fire drill?

MR. SCHACHTER:  Yeah.

DET. BONASORO.  Yeah, right here, 2/14, it
was early inthe aam Now, this is the
printout fromthe district on the next slide.
It doesn't indicate on here, | guess at the
time we requested the information they hadn't
captured it yet, however there was a drill on
2/14 in the norning, a fire drill.

MR. SCHACHTER: Because they're -- because
staff, at |east what we have heard, and you
tell me if this is correct, that they were
anticipating to have another fire drill later
on in the afternoon, so a | ot of teaches, when
they heard this they thought it was just a
drill and did not react. Have you heard that
in interviews?

DET. BONASORO. No, that's incorrect.

They were not anticipating another fire drill.
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Were the -- where | think that statenent cane
fromwas on the January 11th training with Al
Butl er they tal ked about | ock down procedures,
code red, so at sone point sone of the teachers
I ndi cated that they were anticipating a code
red drill to follow that training, but not on
t hat day.

CHAIR There was a runor floating around
about a code red drill, and you'll hear that in
sonme of the interviews wwth M. Rospierski and
sonme others |l ater, because there was a runor
about that. That's where you're getting that
from

DET. BONASORO Al right, noving forward
wth the drills, there was a tornado dril
conducted on August 19, 2017, eight days after
school started. Code red drills for the
2017/ 2018 school year, zero, none. Interviews
were conducted with nultiple staff, to include
teachers, admi nistrative staff, canpus
nonitors, and mai ntenance. It was the general
consensus that the staff did not have a cl ear
understanding as to who could call a code red
prior to the January 11th training wth Al

Butl er.
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MR. SCHACHTER: Did you ask the
adm ni stration why they didn't have any code
red drills?

DET. BONASORO W asked themif they had
any code red drills, and they said no. And
their response was they were planning to have
one.

UNDER SHER. HARPRI NG  This may cone up
| ater, but in the slide at least it references
that the, that the code red drill, they didn't
have an understanding prior to the January 1l1lth
nmeeting. Was there sone different
under st andi ng - -

CHAIR He's -- he's getting there, Jim

DET. BONASORO. It'll conme up, yeah.

CHAIR He's going to get there.

DET. BONASORO. Then any kind of other
drill they did not have. | just want to add
that during the interviews with the teachers we
did inquire as to when, when was the last tine
you had a code red drill, and a | ot of the
teachers stated that they couldn't renenber the
| ast time that they ahead a code red drill.

CHAIR  Secretary Kapusta, go ahead.

SEC. KAPUSTA: | understand they didn't
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have a code red drill, but | thought I
understood you to say that they had neetings on
a regular basis with the safety tean?

DET. BONASORO Yeah, the safe team They
did not up until this year. Each team-- each
school is required to have a safe team which
was conprised of the nenbers that | tal ked
about, however prior to this year they didn't
meet a | ot.

SEC. KAPUSTA: Did they -- do you know
what they discussed during the course of those
meeti ngs”?

DET. BONASORO Cenerically school safety.
They woul d get together briefly and just
di scuss different topics about school safety.
They said they would debrief on, for exanple,
the fire drill, you know, what went good, what
went bad, what could they do better, stuff |ike
t hat .

SEC. KAPUSTA: Did they have an energency
pr epar edness plan that covered each of these
di fferent codes?

DET. BONASORO We'll get into that in
just a couple of slides, yes.

SEC. KAPUSTA: (Ckay, thank you.
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DET. BONASORO. After the training with Al
Butl er on January 11th teaches were stil
unsure as to the correct procedure required to
call a code red. Sone of the teachers said
that they could use the PA to contact the front
office, but they also said they didn't want to
ri sk roam ng about the classroomtrying to get
to the, to the button on the PA. Sone of the
teachers said that they would, they could use
their cell phone to call the front office or
911 if they, if they needed to call a code red,
and they could al so use the | andline phone to
make call. Again they said they're, they're
roam ng around the classroomto try to get to
the | andl i ne phone.

Al though it was verbally comunicated to
the teachers that anyone could call a code red
the procedure was still unclear.

MR. SCHACHTER: And was there any
corroboration, you know, talk about culture,
Medi na tal ked about it, that he didn't want to
be the guy to call the code red. That's what
he said in the BSO interview. Ws there any
confirmati on anongst the teachers and ot her

adm ni stration that that was the sanme cul ture?
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DET. BONASORO. No, they were just
confused as to how they could, or if they
coul d.

MR. SCHACHTER: It's just -- it's just,
you know -- obviously nobody called a code red,
you know, Medina, Taylor, nobody, so it just
| eads me to believe that there's nore -- it's
not just confusion that MSD staff and admn
told themyou better not call a code red unl ess
you see it or, you know, sonething.

DET. BONASORO Yeah, possibly. So
according to the district it did not, and still
does not, have any witten code red or simlar
| ockdown policies. Specifically there is no
witten policy regardi ng who may direct an
| mredi at e canpus | ockdown. And this is the
ener gency preparedness nmanual --

CHAIR So, Wally, just for context again
because, is that in sone of the recent
I nterviews, and sone of the interviews have
been done in the |ast few weeks, correct?

DET. BONASCRO  Yes.

CHAIR. And even in the | ast few weeks
there's still confusion anong the staff about

the code red, who can call it, what to do, and
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that still exists today, correct?

DET. BONASORO. It does. And that's the
climate. W asked -- they all agreed that they
were told they can call a code red, but when we
followit up and say, well, how do you do that,
they shrug their shoul ders and say we have no
| dea.

CHAIR  Sheriff Ashley.

SHER. ASHLEY: Since there's no witten
policy regarding who may direct an i nmedi ate
canmpus | ockdown who, who -- |'msure they've
had canpus | ockdowns. W calls thenf?

DET. BONASORO It usually canme fromthe
adm ni stration, the assistant principals, or
the principal.

CHAIR  See sonebody woul d have to because
of the limted radios, howit worked there is,
Is that say a teacher picked up the phone, and
saw sonet hi ng, a teacher picked up the phone
because that teacher didn't have a radio, the
t eacher picked up the phone in the classroom
called the office, said code red, then they'd
have to get an AP or the principal, then they'd
have to go to the PA system and announce the

code red, or nmaybe get it over the radio to
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sone people that had radios. And if they had
the radi os on, because again in a nunber of
interviews it was not uncommon if the radios
were turned down, or turned off.

But even if they -- then you get to the
poi nt where even if they announced it over the
PA system is that unless you're in a classroom
you're not going to hear it, so, because
there's no PA systens in the commobn areas or in
the hallway, so you know, again there's a, a
| arge problemwi th the lack of a system and a
notification systemall the way around.

SHER. ASHLEY: Lack of conmuni cation
system or just lack of guidance in --

CHAIR  Lack of guidance, |ack of a
system there's a lack of everything init,
because nobody, nobody knows what they can do,
when they can do it, howto do it. And then
even if sonebody does trigger the process the
process is not going to get the word out to
ever ybody.

MR. SCHACHTER: You know, there's a | ack
of | eadership, that's what there is.

SEC. KAPUSTA: Can | -- do we know --

CHAIR  Secretary Kapusta, go ahead.
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SEC. KAPUSTA: Thank you. Do we know if
this relevant just to MSD, or whether or not
It's across the state?

CHAIR. No. No, they're -- these sane
probl enms exist in other places, and, you know,
in ny discussions with superintendents and
school officials in other places, you know, the
| ack of these type of code red policies, and
effective nmeans of communicating them this is
not unique just to MSD, and it's not unique
just to Broward County.

MR. SCHACHTER: How can they not have
instituted this stuff nine nonths after this,
this disaster; | just don't understand.

CHAIR  And they -- and they have, you
know, and they have, and |I've had this
di scussi ons, you know, the district is well
aware we, you know, ny position on this, the
two big things are the hard corners and an
effective code red policy, so.

MR. SCHACHTER: But they haven't done
ei t her.

CHAIR Wl I, ask Superintendent Runci e,
he'll be there Thursday. That's your

opportunity to ask himthe question.
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MR. SCHACHTER: It's unbelievabl e.

SHER. JUDD: One |ast question, and you
can probably answer it better. |s the coding,
code red, code yellow, brown, blue, all these
codes, is that statewide or just district w de?

CHAIR. Different people call it different
things in different places, so code red is not
a, code red is just what Broward uses. O her
places may do it. Sone people call it |ock
down. Sone people call it -- everybody's got a
name for it. There's no standardization. And
there's -- if you read all the literature, and
you read articles, and you read -- people have
different views of it, about whether it should
be pl ain | anguage, and whether it should even
be called a code red, and so there's no, the
answer to your question is there's no
consistency on it, and there's no mandate as to
what it's call ed.

MR SCHACHTER: | would -- | would
di sagree with that. Most of the school
security experts that | talk to say that they
shoul d not use codes, they should use plain
| anguage, because if you have soneone that is

new to the school, a substitute, you want them
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t o understand what's happening, and | think
it's critical, and that should be one of our
recomendat i ons, Sheriff.

CHAIR. Everybody -- there are a | ot of

opi nions out there on it, so you -- go ahead,
Val |y.

DET. BONASORO | see, you did nention the
ener gency preparedness nanual, and | indicated

that here. The district does have an energency
preparedness manual. It's a hundred fifty-one
page docunent that outlines various protocols
for a wide range of energencies, however in
this hundred fifty-one page docunent nowhere is
there active shooter protocol, active killer
protocol, or code red protocol.

SEC. KAPUSTA: Is the manual revi ewed by
the district, or is it --

DET. BONASORO It's a district manual put
out by the district.

SEC. KAPUSTA: It's a district manual,
t hank you.

MR. SCHACHTER: I n 7028 was there a
mandatory requiring of that, no?

CHAI R No.

MR. SCHACHTER: | think that should be one
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of the recomrendations, to force these
districts, they have to do this. This is --
it's got to be nmandatory by the state. How
could it not?

CHAIR  Go ahead.

DET. BONASORO These next coupl e of
slides -- I'"'msorry?

CHAIR  No, go ahead.

DET. BONASORO. These next coupl e of
slides are the table of contents just show ng
what actually is in the manual, and what's not
in the manual. So if we skip over to the MSDHS
Safety Plan, each school is required to have
their own safety plan, and basically what this
Is is information about this specific school.
It's a nineteen page docunent. We're not -- we
won't go through all nineteen pages however.

It covers generic information, chain of
command, school hours, who, if they need, in
need of CPR who is certified on canpus, basic
information |ike that.

However, if we go to this slide here, |
don't know if you can see it real well, it
I ndicate the list of dates that's required of

staff devel opnent, and they indicate that they
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had a | ock down drill, a required | ock down
drill on January 11, 2018, which is incorrect.
That's -- they did not have a drill on the
11th. That was the training that Al Butler
came and provided to the staff, so.

CHAIR So what -- what did staff say in
your interviews? And so, and Secretary Kapusta
has asked you a couple tines about the safety
pl an, and about the energency preparedness
manual , and what did staff say about their
knowl edge of the manual, and the safety plan,
and whet her they ever even knew it existed,
what did staff tell you?

DET. BONASCRO The admi nistrators knew
that the energency plan, the energency
prepar edness manual was out there, and the
safety plan was out there, however nost if not
all of the staff nenbers had no idea what the
energency plan was or how to access it.

CHAIR  And it was online, correct?

DET. BONASORO It is online, yes.

CHAIR: But nost of themdidn't even know
it was there.

DET. BONASORO.  No.

SEN. BOOK: M. Chair.

800-726-7007

Veritext Legal Solutions

305-376-8800



© 00 N o o~ wWw N

N N N N N N P B P PP R R R R
a A W N BB O © 0O N O 0o~ W N+, O

Page 72

CHAI R Senat or Book.

SEN. BOCOK: If it's okay to ask
Comm ssi oner Petty and Comm ssi oner Schachter,
here it says that parents are notified of
| ockdown procedures.

MR. SCHACHTER: Are what, notified what?

SEN. BOOK: O | ockdown procedures. Wre
you ever notified of | ockdown procedures?

MR. SCHACHTER: | nean | m ght have gotten
a text or an e-mail that there was a | ockdown,
but --

SEN. BOOK: No, this says in the safety
plan that parents are infornmed of | ockdown
procedur es.

MR. SCHACHTER: Maybe when, you know, Al ex
signed up for school it was in the student
manual or sonething like that. | don't
remenber how - -

MR, PETTY: |'mnot sure.

CHAI R  Senator Book, go ahead.

SEN. BOOK: It's hard to read, sorry, but
it does say that you were told, you were told,
that you were apparently notified via
newsl etter and parent neetings. No.

CHAIR That -- that's simlar to what's
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-- renenber, and that's simlar to, you know,
getting into sone of the stuff that's in the,
in the confidential session, but renmenber sone
of, sone of that sane problemexists in what's
in the FSSAT, so it's a simlar problem

DET. BONASORO | went ahead and ski pped
forward a couple of slides. I'mgoing to start
tal king about Al Butler's training
specifically. Enmergency code training was
conducted by Al Butler of the Speci al
| nvestigations Unit. There was, again, the
adm ni strative staff was trained on the 15th of
Decenber 2017, and then he cane back again on
January 11, 2018 and conducted a sim|ar
training for teachers, naintenance staff, and
support staff.

A Power Poi nt of the codes that we just
tal ked about, he went over that, and then a
portion of the training was spent discussing
t he various col or codes, and what to do in each
I nst ance.

MR. SCHACHTER: So, Detective, when the
staff says that they had no idea what the
energency plan was but they did have training

Decenber 5th of 2017, and then January 11th,
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how do you reconcile those two?

DET. BONASORO | think we're tal king
about two different docunents. The energency
prepar edness manual they did not -- they were
wel | aware of the color coded chart that we
t al ked about.

MR. SCHACHTER: Ckay. Ckay.

DET. BONASORO. According to Butler he had
an open di scussi on about code red protocols.
Butl er di scussed keeping doors | ocked at all
times, shutting off the lights, covering the
door w ndows, noving the students to a hard
corner of the classroom and to stay quiet.
Butler states that the, or stated that the
di scussion was very interactive, and nany
teachers did ask a | ot of good questions during
the training. Butler also indicated to ne that
he suggested marking the hard corner of the
room and after the training, and on February
1l4th, only two of the thirty classroons in
Bui l ding 12 were marked denoting the hard
cor ner.

MR. SCHACHTER: How many teachers were
present at these trainings; do we have nunbers?

DET. BONASORO | believe it was a hundred
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percent participation.

MR. SCHACHTER: Ch, really? GCkay. And
but there was no, nobody going around to make
sure that this was conpl eted, obviously, on a
school wi de level, and there was no policy on
Butler, you know, instituting this as policy,
ri ght?

DET. BONASORO. No, sir, it was just a
generic training. In the -- in the follow ng
slides here there is sone follow up with the
adm ni stration on trying to make sure that the
teachers were follow ng direction and | ocking
their door, so we'll get into that in a mnute.
And again, the district has no policy on this,
and it leaves it up to the teacher's
di scretion.

W attenpted to interview a teacher
Mar sha Cunni ngham  She declined the interview,
but did voluntarily nmake the follow ng
statenents. Two years prior to Butler's
training she had been told to renove a piece of
paper that covered her door wi ndow. After the
Al Butler training she imedi ately repl aced the
paper on the door w ndow, and al so placed the

tape on the ground denoting the chard corner.
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UNDER SHER. HARPRI NG  Well, question.

DET. BONASORO  Yes.

UNDER SHER. HARPRI NG  Regardi ng your
interviewwth her, you' re an experienced
detective, do you get that sense that she
either just didn't want to be interviewed, or
she felt that she could be subject to sone
retribution, or that she was concerned about
ram fications of giving a fal se statenent?

DET. BONASORO. Maybe -- naybe both. She
was extrenely enotional, but did want to, did
make these statenents, and she felt |ike she
had to get that off her chest, and she woul dn't
sit down for the interview. She cane in, she
made t hose statenents, and then wal ked out
extrenely enotional.

CHAIR. So just for the Conm ssioner's
benefit, is we had attenpted to interview
virtually every teacher, or every teacher in,
that was in the 1200 Building that day, as well
as sone ot her teachers that were on campus, and
a good nunber of them agreed to be interviewed,
and you see the results of that here. Sone of
the teachers that were in the 1200 Buil di ng

that day that were involved in this declined
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the interview, but a good majority of themdid
agree to be intervi ewed.

The question canme up about subpoenai ng
t hose teachers who didn't want to provide
statenents who were in the building that day,
and I"'mjust telling you | nade the decision
"' mnot going to subject that, subject themto
that, and if the teachers didn't want to
testify | made the decision not to subpoena
them |[If they were not involved, and had no
enotional involvenent, et cetera, that's a
different story, but to ne | wasn't going to do
it.

So if anybody's got any concerns, that's
nmy decision, | nmade that decision, because I
wasn't going to drag those teachers in and
force themto testify when they didn't want to
because of the enotional situation they were
in. So a good nunber of themdid, but we did
have sonme that wouldn't, and in the case of M.
Cunni ngham she provided the statenent and left,
and the issue cane up, and we did not subpoena
her. But that's the reason why.

UNDER SHER. HARPRI NG  And, Sheriff, for
ny part | just, | support that. | believe that
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was the appropriate call. |'msure everyone is
aware of the reasons that question is --

CHAIR  No, | know, I'mjust telling you,
just so you know.

UNDER SHER. HARPRI NG Yeah, sone
articul abl e concern that sone of the teachers
m ght be concerned about, you know, retribution
fromthe admnistration or the district based
on, on what they have to say.

CHAIR And -- and we have sone that --
you know, this is ongoing, and this is not the
end of this by any stretch, and again the
report in January is an interimreport. W
still have sonme people that have refused that
we probably will issue sone subpoenas to who
weren't there that day, or weren't involved
directly, and don't fall into that category
where | think we should give themthe
deference. But the people who were in the
bui |l di ng that day who were affected by this who
enotionally are not ready to do this, then
those are the ones | think that we should give
them t hat deference, and not force themto cone
f orwar d.

MR, SCHACHTER: In -- in -- I'msorry.
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CHAIR  Secretary Carroll, go ahead.

MR. CARROLL: Question. 12 -- Room 1212
| ooks to be one of the roons that have the tape
on the floor. Wre the kids in that -- were
there kids in that roomon the first floor when
this was goi ng on?

DET. BONASORO  Yes.

MR. CARROLL: And how did they fare in
that room were there any casualties in that
roonf

DET. BONASORO Let ne find out for you
exactly.

MR. CARROLL: Because there's a line
there, but you're right, because you' ve nade
conti nuous references that there's a | ot of
furniture there. It looks |ike the teacher's
desk is behind the |ine.

DET. BONASORO. 1212, there was no
Injuries or casualties.

MR SCHACHTER: Sheriff -- Chair --

CHAIR M. Schachter, go ahead.

MR. SCHACHTER: How nmany teachers refused
to be interviewed?

CHAIR Of the top of ny head | don't

know. 1've got that |ist sone place in all of
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this. | can get it to you, but --

MR. SCHACHTER: But | don't want them not
to conme forward with their testinony for fear
of retribution. 1Isn't there sone way that we
could protect them and nake sure that -- it's
vital that we get their testinony. There is a
massi ve culture problemin this school we need
to get the bottom of why --

CHAIR Sone of it -- sone of it's not
that. The information is, froma |ot of them
fromthe discussions, and the discussions | had
with the investigative team it was nore of an
enotional thing for them and, you know, |
don't think that it is appropriate under these
circunstances to force these teachers who don't
want cone forward -- they are -- they're all
adults, they're all professionals, they can
make their own decision, and if they are not
prepared because of what they went through it's
not right for us to drag themthrough the
coals, and to force themto do it.

|'"'mnot going to issue them a subpoena,
and force |l egal process on them and force them
to do sonething they're not confortable wth

unl ess there is sonme conpelling reason, and |
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don't see a conpelling reason.

MR. SCHACHTER: No, of course | agree with
you. I'mtalking about if they're afraid of
retribution, if that's the reason is there sone
way that we can protect them because --

CHAIR. Nothing we can do. And again, |
want to be clear that we don't have, you know,
any specific statenents that were nade in this.
Det ecti ve Bonasoro responded, he was asked a
question as to his opinion and he gave his
opinion, and I"msure it's an accurate one, but
we don't have anybody that | know of that cane
forward and said the only reason why |I'm not
going to provide information is, is |I'm
concerned of sone retribution by sonebody, or
the district.

MR. SCHACHTER: No, of course.

CHAIR There is no expressed statenent
made by sonebody. Are you aware of anybody
that said specifically for that reason only |I'm
not going to testify?

DET. BONASORO No, sir.

MR. SCHACHTER: O course, | nean they're
probably not going to say that to you, but, you

know, that is, that is a fear.
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CHAIR Right. So, M. Petty?

MR, PETTY: Just a question of
clarification, M. Chair. Wen -- when
sonebody presents, or testifies, are they under
oath when they talk to us as a conm ssi on,
under what conditions are they under oath, or
do they -- how does that work?

CHAIR W haven't been -- we haven't been
putting anybody under oath, but all the
I nterviews are recorded, and a good nunber of
them are transcribed, not all are transcribed.
The investigators are there, and as far as the
district personnel are concerned | don't know
of any ones that were done where they weren't
represented by counsel. They all have
representation there, either through the union
or otherwise, soit's a, | wuld say at | east a
guasi -formal setting where, again, they're
represented, the investigators are there,
there's nore than one, usually two, and it's
recorded and nenori al i zed.

MR. PETTY: If you' ve issued a subpoena
are those w tnesses under oath then at that
poi nt ?

CHAIR No. W have made -- we made a
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deci sion for a nunber of reasons not to put
peopl e under oath, and but, but again as a
formal setting, but they are not, it's not

sworn testinony.

DET. BONASORO Al right. These next few
slides are going to depict sone classroom
i mages that we, we took, or that were taken.
This first slide is of Classroom 1212 with the
hard corner taped. You can see on the left
side of the slide a little sliver, or wedge of
the door, so the tape is in the appropriate
| ocati on, however if you | ook beyond the tape
what, what do we see there, it's cluttered with
desks and, and other, other shelving. This is
anot her angle of that classroomjust depicting,
yes, the hard corner is down, but are we going
to fit thirty kids in that corner.

MR. SCHACHTER: Detective, were -- were
the kids in this classroomable to get into
that safe space? | think the answer -- | think
Secretary Carroll asked were there --

DET. BONASORO They -- they were.

MR. SCHACHTER: There were no casualties
in this room

DET. BONASORO. No casualties, no injuries
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I n that classroom

MR. SCHACHTER: And all the students in
this classroomwere able to get behind that
line?

DET. BONASORO We don't know if they were
all behind that Iine. W know there was no
casualties or injuries in that room

MR. CARROLL: Were shots fired into that
roonf

DET. BONASORO. Yes, if we go back, yes,
there were. So this is 1229, the other room --

CHAIR Hang on second. Senator Book, go
ahead.

SEN. BOCOK: | apologize. Just as a point
to, to put it out there so we can readdress it
at sonme point, if these are reqgqular ed
cl assroons when we start thinking about, just
for the recommendations, classroons with, you
know, ESE kid, or a special needs, nedically
vul nerabl e kids that may be in a schoo
setting, | just think that we need to be I|ike
t hought ful about how, hard corners, yes, that
there's lots of space, that there's a way to
access what that is, because, you know, in a

general ed classrooma little bit easier, but
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| i ke when you have sone of those kids who have
to be quiet, and have exceptionalities, it's
nore conpl i cat ed.

CHAIR It is. Wll, and then go -- and
you | ook at the next one, and the next one, you
know, there's a line, and you can see the stuff
in the hard corner is easily novabl e, where,
you know, in 107, but in 106 you can't easily
nove, and sone of that is anchored to the wal
in there, with the bookshel ves, and you've got
t he desks, and you've got other things. So,
you know, it's one thing to have hard corners
where they're not totally free all the tine
because you have to use space, but that you can
easily nove the stuff, and quickly nove it,
where, you know, even there you've got sone
bookshel ves, but you've got a few desks, and
all that stuff could be tossed, but, you know,
in 106 you can't be noving that desk and all
t hat other stuff.

And there are sone that are even worse

than this, | nmean we're just show ng you sone.
And you'll see sone |ater today or tonmorrow in
sone video of where they were full, the hard

corners were full.
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MR. SCHACHTER: Detective, when you go
through this can you tell us, okay, there, you
know, there are casualties, there weren't
casualties, there were shots fired, | think
that would hel p us on each one of these slides
SO we can get an idea.

DET. BONASORO Yeah, no problem

MR. SCHACHTER: Thank you.

DET. BONASORO. 1229, no injuries, no
shots were fired into the classroom

CHAIR That is Slide 107, Cdassroom 1229.
What ' s that?

MR. SCHACHTER: The wi ndow i s out.

CHAIR. Onh, the wi ndow, so, okay, so --

DET. BONASORO. Law enforcenent --

CHAIR  kay, so -- yeah, |aw enforcenent.
So these photos are obviously taken afterward,
and when | aw enforcenent went in and cl eared
even w ndows that were, didn't have shots fired
Is, is that to gain entry to the classroons | aw
enforcenment broke every wi ndow as they were
going in. So that's why you see sone of that,
because again these are actual photos of the
cl assroons on that day, everything is as it

was, but it's after the | aw enforcenent
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response.

MR. SCHACHTER: Can you just answer ne,
the -- when the nmurderer shot through the
wi ndow all the w ndows were shot out, or how
woul d - -

CHAIR  Shot through a w ndow.

MR. SCHACHTER: The glass is conpletely
gone basically, he could have reached in and
opened t he door.

CHAIR  Yeah, and you've asked -- we've
tal ked about that. He -- he could -- yes, and
let's be clear, put this, is, yes, he could
have reached in and opened any door that he
wanted to. He did not. He did not go into one
cl assroom and we know that, so.

MR. SCHACHTER:. Did he put the gun through
t he w ndow?

CHAIR No. Nope, he did not. He shot
fromoutside, and there was no contact wth,
the barrel of the gun with any, the w ndow, or
he didn't get close to sticking it through the
wi ndow, or anything like that. It was |line of
Site.

COM SWEARI NGEN:  Now | ' m conf used.

Could -- Chair, could the -- did the door |ock
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fromthe outside or the inside?

CHAIR No -- all these doors at that tine
could only be |locked fromthe outside, so you
couldn't lock the doors fromthe inside. You
could open it fromthe inside, so you could get
out, but you couldn't lock -- so if the door --
you know, the idea -- you know, the theory was
-- | guess is, or was, that the door should be
| ocked fromthe outside and the door should
al ways be | ocked.

And if -- and if that theory held true
t hen you woul d have a secure cl assroom because
t he door woul d never be propped open, it would
never be left open, it would never be unl ocked.
But that theory only holds true that you don't
need a | ocki ng nechanismon the inside if that
policy is enforced and the door is always
| ocked, and it's never |eft unattended, and
it's never propped open.

And but in this situation once he shot
t hrough the window is that whether there's
| ocki ng mechani sm on the inside or the outside
-- and the point of having a | ocking nechani sm
on the inside is in that situation, if it's not

enforced, or through carel essness, or just
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forgetful ness, or whatever that they didn't
lock it fromthe outside, you could quickly

|l ock it without having to reach out in the
hal | way wi th your key as rounds are buzzi ng by
back and forth.

So that was the idea, that's the prem se
of, of having the ability to lock it from both
sides. (Go ahead.

DET. BONASORO Al right. This next
slide is 1229 again, just show ng different
angles of it, and how the roomwas conpletely
filled with desks. But the good point, a good
poi nt was, you know, putting sonething in the
hard corner that would be able to be nobved
fairly easily.

CHAIR  And one other thing, and you | ook
-- when you -- you know, these, these things --
so the hard corner is, is that, with this
teacher stuff, is it where it should be,
because it should be on the opposite wall. |
nean it's real easy. Go ahead.

DET. BONASORO. This next classroom 1215,
again there were students that were in the
hal | way that were shot, however it shows here,

again the hard corner would be to the right of
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the door, and it's, it's filled with the desks.
And just to the left of the desks, | nentioned
earlier in the presentation that sone, sone
shelving was affixed to the wall. That is a
huge cabinet that is actually nmounted to that
wal | .

MR. SCHACHTER: Detective, were there any
Injuries, or shots fired into this roonf

DET. BONASORO | don't -- | don't
bel i eve --

CHAIR: Yeah, there were. And this is the
one you heard yesterday in the 911 call where
the teacher is on there, she's calling from
this classroom and she says there's rounds
com ng through the door.

MR. SCHACHTER: Any casualties or injuries
in this roonf

CHAIR. That | don't know.

DET. BONASORO. Qut -- outside of the
room

MR. SCHACHTER: Were -- were they trying
to get in?

DET. BONASORO. No, they were anbushed
I mredi at el y.

Agai n anot her classroom 1217 show ng the
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hard corner with the | arge cabinet nounted to
the wall, and several furniture itens in the
hard corner. Nobody injured in this classroom
1234, cane thing.

CHAIR: And | ook at 1234. Look at that
one. That one is -- there's no -- there's no
room for anybody in that hard corner. | nean
sone of the other ones you mght be able to fit
a few people, but there's literally no roomin
there. Co ahead, Sheriff.

SHER. JUDD: Is there any other exit out
of these roons?

DET. BONASORO  Excuse ne?

SHER. JUDD: |Is there any other exits out
of these --

DET. BONASORO.  No.

CHAIR  No.

COMWM SWEARI NGEN: M. Chair, was 1234 the
one that was by Peterson with the w ndow?

DET. BONASORO  Yes.

CHAIR  Yes.

MR. SCHACHTER: \What was the question,
didn't hear? The question was --

CHAIR Go ahead and ask your question

agai n, Conm ssi oner.
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COM SWEARI NGEN: | asked if 1234 was the
classroomthat we saw the boards on that was
directly above where Peterson was standi ng, and
he sai d yes.

DET. BONASCRO Yes, it is.

CHAIR. Now, how the -- how the nunbering
system works there, so it's twelve, and you got
to gotothe third digit. Anything with a zero
or aoneis the first floor, anything with a
two or a three is the second floor, anything
wth a four or a fiveis the third floor. Now,
if you can follow that you' re good. So but if
you're | ooking at it, so you want to know which
floor they're on, et cetera, is that's how the
nunberi ng system works.

SEN. BOOK: | was just wondering on the
first floor could you, were there w ndows t hat
they could Iike junp out of?

CHAIR  There were wi ndows, and -- and |
don't know. | don't know whet her they, whether
t hey coul d have, you know, pushed the w ndows
out, and fled out through there or not, | don't
know t he answer to that. Wally, do you know?

DET. BONASORO. No, | think they're just

fixed wi ndows.
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SEN. BOOK: Got it.
DET. BONASORO. |Is there any nore

questions about the classroom setups before we

nove on?
MR. SCHACHTER. Ckay, I'm-- | have a --
let's see here. I'msorry. | did have a

guestion, as far as going back a little bit.
How many canpus nonitors and security
speci al i sts were on canpus?

DET. BONASORO. All of them seven canpus
nmoni tors and one security specialist.

MR. SCHACHTER: And how many gates were
t her e?

DET. BONASCRO Gates?

MR, SCHACHTER: | nean just -- |'mjust
trying to get at -- the school said, or, you
know, one of the people you interviewed said
they didn't have enough people to nonitor the
gates. If they've got seven security nonitors
and one security specialist it seens |ike they
have plenty of staff to nonitor the gates.

DET. BONASORO. Well, there's three, three
par ki ng | ot entrances.

MR. SCHACHTER: Ckay.

DET. BONASORO There was the entrance to
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the front of the school, the adm nistration
buil di ng. And then you have one, two, three,
four pedestrian gates at the front of the
school , which would be the east side of the
school. So three, three pedestrian, or three
parking | ot gates, four pedestrian gates.

MR. SCHACHTER: That's seven. They have
seven security nonitors. They have five APs.
They have plenty of staff. Security was not a
priority obviously.

DET. BONASORO Multiple teachers advi sed
that Butler's training in January of 2018 was
useful because prior to that they did not have
any code red training at all. Post training
adm ni strators and canpus nonitors found nost
of the teachers lock their classroom doors,
however adm ni strators and canpus nonitors did
continue to find sone doors around the canpus
that were left unlocked, and even propped open.
In the event those doors were found the canpus
noni tors and/ or admi nistrators woul d just poke
their head in and tell the teacher to, rem nd
themto keep their doors | ocked.

These next few slides is Al Butler's

Power Point. Al Butler stated during his
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interview that he did want to keep it sinple,
and this is what he provided to the teachers.
You guys can scroll through it on your own.

CHAIR  Comm ssi oner Dodd.

MR DODD: And the reason that Al Butler
was there in January, was that part of the
district plan to have this course at all the
hi gh schools, or all the schools, or what,
where were we at with that?

DET. BONASORO. The way Al Butler
expl ained it was he had several high schools
that he oversaw, and MSD was just on his |ist
to conduct, he, he was going through the
di fferent schools conducting this training.

MR. DODD: The schools that he had under
his --

DET. BONASORO.  Yeah.

MR. DODD: Ckay. So out of all the other
schools in Broward County do we know if this
training was simlar, or was this offered to
t he ot her school s?

DET. BONASORO. Thi s Power Poi nt was
offered to the schools that A Butler oversaw.

MR. DODD: Were there other individuals

|ike Al Butler doing this in other school s?
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DET. BONASORO. Oh, yes, sir, there was
several others. Yes.

MR. SCHACHTER: And Al Butler is part of
the SIU, the Special Investigative Unit, and so
there are | don't know how many SIU officers.
The Broward County does not have a school s
police departnent, this is their guys that
I nvesti gate wongdoi ng on the teachers.

M am - Dade County, Pal m Beach County, has an
I ndi vi dual school police departnent that, that
does all that.

MR DODD: So it was part of a district
plan then to have this type course taught at
all the schools.

DET. BONASORO  Yes.

MR. DODD:  And was there a deadline on
when that was supposed to have been net by?

DET. BONASORO | don't know. As you can
see the PowerPoint is, is very sinple, it's
very generic, however the teachers did say that
they did learn a lot fromit because they did
not have any prior training.

SEC. KAPUSTA: Can you tell nme who the
school incident commander was at Marjory

St oneman Dougl as?

Veritext Legal Solutions
800-726-7007 305-376-8800



© 00 N o o~ wWw N

N N N N N N P B P PP R R R R
a A W N BB O © 0O N O 0o~ W N+, O

Page 97

DET. BONASORO. It was Deni se Reed that
day. The school incident commander is the
princi pal of the school, and the principal was
absent that day so Deni se Reed, who is one of
t he assistant principals, was in conmand.

SEC. KAPUSTA: Had a walkie-talkie, a
radi 0?

DET. BONASORO  Yes.

SEC. KAPUSTA: And so when Medi na radi oed
the first tinme saying that there was a
suspi ci ous child on canpus she woul d have
theoretically been on that same channel, and
gotten that sane --

DET. BONASORO Theoretically she may have
heard it, she may have not have heard it. And
again, we'll talk about, | do go into a little
bit nore detail about Denise Reed here in just
a mnute. Your wel cone.

CHAIR.  Commi ssi oner Petty.

MR PETTY: | just want to reconcile two
things. So Al Butler was going around training
on code reds, but there was no district policy,
or there was nothing in the manual, the
energency manual, if | understood you

correctly, about a code red or an active
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shoot er situation.

DET. BONASORO. That's correct. | asked
hi m about it, and he said he canme up with this,
this is what they cane up with to present to
t he school s.

MR. PETTY. kay. So, okay, so |lack of
gui dance or | eadership at, at the upper |evels,
he took the initiative, solved the problem
And the outlines in his training here the
i nci dents of, of attacks on school, on schoo
property, Novenber 2002, Septenber -- in
Broward County. Septenber 2005, Decenber 2005,
2007, 2012, 2016, 2017, several incidents of
guns on canpus.

DET. BONASORO  Yes.

MR. PETTY: So he took an initiative and
created this progranf

DET. BONASCORO  Wether he was directed to
come up with the PowerPoint or took the
initiative hinself | don't know, but he did
come up with that.

CHAIR And if others were doing it, we
don't know whet her anybody else within SIU who
may have been doing it, we don't know whet her

theirs was consistent with his. This is
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sonet hi ng he put together hinself, correct?

DET. BONASORO  Yes.

CHAIR So this is sonmething that Butler
did hinself. And again, you know, just you're
correct, there is, there is no policy, there's
nothing in any manual, so anything that he put
toget her is what he put together, it's not
driven fromany witten protocols, or anything
that the district has espoused as to how things
are going to be done. So he -- if you | ook at
it, and you read it, it's nore of a best
practices training than, than anything el se.

MR. SCHACHTER: Have you interviewed the
Chief of SIUto, to verify that this is the
case?

DET. BONASORO: No, we have not.

SEC. KAPUSTA: Can | ask anot her question?
|"msorry. Were the school incident
commanders, were they trained on the incident
command system do you know, because that's a
whol e different protocol, and nost are not
famliar with it.

DET. BONASORO. Yeah, | don't know.

SEC. KAPUSTA: Is ny guess.

DET. BONASORO. Yeah, | don't know if they
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wer e.

CHAIR  You're tal king about NI M5? No, |
can tell you they weren't.

DET. BONASORO This next slide again is,
I's the door | ocks, and we just spoke a little
bit about that. The door |ocks at the tine
could only be | ocked fromthe outside using a
key, so if the door was |eft unlocked
essentially you woul d have to go outside, or
open the door, reach around and insert the key
to lock the door. So fromthe in, fromthe
i nside you could just open the door. There was
no |l ock on the inside so you can -- the door
coul d be | ocked and you could open it fromthe
I nsi de and go out, but once the door closes
again it is, it is |ocked.

There was a couple of different ways to
unl ock that at the tine. |If you -- if you
inserted the key in there and just turned it a
guarter of the way you could feel that the door
woul d open, but then you could take out the key
and the door would remain | ocked. In order for
t he door to be unl ocked conpletely there needed
to be one conplete revolution of that key to

unl ock the door, and essentially another
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revolution to lock it.

CHAIR So, Wally, let's do this. So
we're going to get into sone interviews now,
and several interviews with Wexler, and Deni se
Reed, and others, so let's take a fifteen
m nute break, and then we'll cone back, and
then we'll wap up your presentation.

(Thereupon, the neeting is in recess, and the
proceedi ngs continued as follows:)

CHAIR | just ask everybody for the
benefit of our court reporter, is that everyone
pl ease nmake sure that you're talking into the
m crophones, because it's difficult for her to
capture everything unless we are doing that.
So just a friendly rem nder, and | know she'l
appreciate it. Wally.

MR. SCHACHTER: Chair, can | ask a
guestion before we get started?

CHAIR Go ahead.

MR. SCHACHTER: It's been brought to ny
attention that other SIU detectives have gone
and done these presentations at other schools
in Broward County, so ny question, it's obvious
that this presentation on code red had never

taken place at Marjory Stoneman Douglas, right?
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CHAIR  Right.

MR. SCHACHTER: Do we have any idea why if
It's happened at other schools in prior years,
why ?

DET. BONASORO Do not know why.

MR. SCHACHTER: And there was no policy
that it had to be done every year, you said.

DET. BONASORO  Correct.

SHER. ASHLEY: Probably sheer nunber of
school s.

CHAIR Wll, yeah, they got two hundred
thirty schools, but, you know, but again, you
know, yes, so, you know, we beat that to death.
There -- there is no policy so, you know, when
you have no policy, you know --

MR. SCHACHTER: Thi s happened in other
schools. They do have code red trainings in
ot her schools in other years.

CHAIR Right, but there's no district
wi de policy.

MR, SCHACHTER  Ri ght.

CHAIR. So when you don't have a district
wi de policy, you know, this is what you're
going to end up. You're going to end up with

differences, it's going to be ad hoc, and, and
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iIt's going to be, and it gets back to what |
said yesterday, which is what we all know the
way the schools work, is it's largely
decentralized, and so it's up to the individual
principals, and it's not driven, you know, a
lot of it is not driven at a district |evel.

W see this repeatedly in thenmes in all these
different topics that we cover, you know --

MR. SCHACHTER: But the -- the school
district says safety and security is one of
their top priorities, so how can you not have a
code red policy?

CHAIR well, --

SHER. JUDD: The bottomline is day to day
their primary mssion is to teach students,
and, and so -- and in their world what occurred
at Marjory Stoneman Dougl as, you know, is not
present, you know, it's kind of like a fire
drill. They do a fire drill because it says
you got to do a fire drill. They don't wake up
and think, gosh, there could be a fire today at
t he school and burn up a bunch of kids. And
therein is the probl emwhen you don't have
systens, and processes, and procedures in place

that take that into account, because every day
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t hose teachers, and those adm nistrators, are
going in there trying to bring kids together to
educate them and that's their business. And
all of this is an additional requirenent, and
to some of themthey just see it as a, as a
burden that's never going to occur.

Well, Bingo, it did occur, and, and
horri bl e things happened, so that's why you' ve
got to change as, as the Chairman has tal ked
about you've got to have a system c culture
change, and recogni ze that safety and security
mat ches exactly. Until they're safe and secure
you can't teach them

MR. SCHACHTER: |If they don't conme hone
every say nothing else matters.

SHER. JUDD: Nothing else matters.
Not hi ng el se matters.

CHAIR And -- and | can tell you from
di scussi ons, you know, around the state with
some superintendents, and with others, is that
the needle is noving. The questionis, is it
noving, is it noving far enough, fast enough,
and wll it be sustained. And, you know,
that's part of the challenge |I think that we

all have, is to ensure that it noves, and that
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It noves far enough, and this isn't a one and
done, and this is a sustained, and what that
nmeans is a culture change, and that there has
to be an enphasis on this, and not seen as a
perfunctory function, not seen as a check the
box, not seen as a, ugh, do | really have to do
this, and that they find that it is necessary
and neani ngful, and that's where we need to
hel p themget to that point.

MR. SCHACHTER: Sheriff, how can you
explain to ne that after 911 we nmde the
airports and the cockpits safe, after Okl ahoma
Cty we, we made the federal building safe --
It's been twenty years since Colunbine. This
Is not like this just started. Wy are schools
still not taking school safety and security as
their nunber one priority?

CHAIR Wll, sone have, and you see |,
you know, you can, you know that, you can | ook
at Col orado, you can | ook at Connecticut, you
can |l ook at the places where these tragedies
have happened and, and they have noved the
needl e exponentially. And it gets back to what
Sheriff Judd said, you know, in sone places, it

hasn't affected us, so if it hasn't affected
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us, well, that happens in other places, that
doesn't happen here, and, you know, we got our
chal | enges, we need to teach the kids, we've
got only so many hours in the day, we need to
teach, we got tests, we got standardi zed tests
we need to worry about, you know, all those

ot her things, and so, you know, this did not
rise to the |level of being the nunber one.

MR. SCHACHTER: Even after seventeen
peopl e were kill ed.

CHAIR  Wll, no, and | don't think that's
true. | think it has. | think it has
resonated, and | think that there's an effort
bei ng made, and like | said the questionis, is
that is it w despread enough, is it fast
enough, and is it noving the needle far enough,
and will it be sustained. There are definite
-- it's definitely got the attention of the
district, of the superintendents, of the
adm ni strators, but again is it everybody, and
is it fair enough, you know, and -- and you
al so have to give them sonme opportunity to make
that culture change, and to inplenent this sone
of this in a, in a way.

| don't think it's sonething that you
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shoul d just knee jerk it, and heave ho, let's
just do a lot of things for doing a | ot of
things. It needs to be in -- and | go back to
it, and I said this a thousand tines, so |'|
say it for the thousand and first tinme, is
focus on the basics. There's a lot, a |ot of
roomhere to do things that are the basics
before we get into the nore advanced things, so
t he basics, what are the basics.

And you raised one of them is one of the
basics is, and this isn't hard, is that when
you have | ocked gates, and you open those
gates, those gates shouldn't be open unless
there's sonebody standi ng by the gate, have
staffed gates. Do you have the personnel to do
it? |If there's a wll there's a way, there's
enough bodies there, then you can have a policy
t hat says that when we open up pedestrian gates
they' Il only be open during the narrowest of
periods that are necessary for operational
reasons, and that that gate will never be
unat t ended.

And when we have doors in buildings
they're going to be | ocked, if they're open for

I ngress/egress they're going to be staffed. Do

Veritext Legal Solutions
800-726-7007 305-376-8800



© 00 N o o~ wWw N

N N N N N N P B P PP R R R R
a A W N BB O © 0O N O 0o~ W N+, O

Page 108

you have enough people there that can do that;
| venture that if you wanted to do it you could
do it. Having a policy that says classroom
doors shall be |ocked, period, end of story,
and if sonebody doesn't |ock their classroom
door that nmeans accountability, that neans
consequences, that neans we're serious about
It, and it neans you keep your classroom doors
| ocked, because one of the safest places for

t he ki ds woul d be hunkered down in those

cl assroonms when it is announced.

Anot her thing, it doesn't cost you
anything, are the hard corners that |'ve beaten
to death, but | feel strongly about them so
there's a lot of things along those |ines that
can be inplenented that don't cost a dine that
the districts across the state are not there
on, and that's what the focus needs to be, and
t he enphasis needs to be on, and the imedi acy
needs to be there for.

MR. SCHACHTER: When did you have that
conversation with Superintendent Runcie
reconmmendi ng that he do that, as also wth
i nstituting the code red policy?

CHAIR  You know, | can't tell you. And
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|'ve had a | ot of conversations with him wth
staff down there, you know, they, and we've had
t hese di scussions. You know, | think that they
are, they're trying, and they're doing certain
things, and trying to inplenent certain things,
but there's been a nunber of conversations over
a period of tine about this.

MR SCHACHTER: It takes zero dollars to,
to do that. Now, | know because of ny
I nsi stence Marjory Stoneman Douglas | think has
met with all the teachers. They had | aw
enforcenent cone in and mark out in each
cl assroom where the safe zones are, but it
needs to be done district w de.

CHAIR  There you go. Wlly, go ahead.

DET. BONASORO.  Sheriff, thank you. On
the on -- at the onset of this there was a | ot
of questions brought up about Steven Wexl er,
and who he was, what he did, so these next
couple of slides will hopefully clear that up
for everybody. Steve Wexler is aretired
Secret Service Agent. Over the past five years
Wexl er has served as a guest speaker to severa
of the social studies classes at the high

school. According to Assistant Principa
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Wnifred Porter Wexler devel oped a positive
rapport with students and staff over the years.

On 12/ 15/ 2017 Assistant Principal Porter
arranged a neeting with Wexler to discuss
canmpus security, and solicit feedback from
Wexler. On 12/15/2017 Porter met with Wexler
in the east parking |ot of the school. Porter
entered Wexler's vehicle, who subsequently
drove into the south parking ot of the high
school. The south ot is secured by a
perinmeter fence with two sw ngi ng gates
all ow ng vehicle access into the lot. At the
time the car drove through the, the gates, the
gates were | eft unlocked and unattended.

Wexl er did point out that the gates should be
| ocked at all tinmes. Wexler also pointed out
t hat soneone coul d position thenselves on the
Sawgr ass Expressway and open fire during an
evacuati on.

Wexl er proceeded to nmake his way through
the canmpus on foot. Wexler placed sticky paper
on doors, denoting that each sticky represented
a potential vulnerability. Porter stated to ne
t hat Wexl er nmade the foll ow ng reconmendati ons.

They tal ked about training. Train early, train
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often to ensure personnel and students are
famliar wth the processes. Train substitutes
when appropriate. He wanted the custodians to
attend the safe team neetings, which they do.
Teacher training to identify safe zones in
their classroons, and the students are trained
by teachers of proper protocol.

He al so reconmended, nvake reconmendati ons
about the fire alarm determne if the alarmis
real or if it is was a decoy, check out the
alarmprior to evacuating all buildings at
once. And again, MSD did not have that system
in place at the tine. Porter stated though, it
was determ ned there woul d be no changes to the
evacuati on procedures due to the expectations
of existing district practices. |In short that
nmeans the district says when the fire alarm
goes off everybody is going to exit, so he was
sticking to that.

Wexl er nade a recomendation to place a
monitor in the front of the school. This is
the east | ot depicting the front of the canpus.

CHAIR  And just to be clear, when you're
tal ki ng about a nonitor we're not talking about

| i ke a video nonitor, we're tal ki ng about one
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of the canpus nonitors.

DET. BONASORO. Canpus nonitors, yes.
Yeah. Medina has been noved from his previous
post to the front of the school to nonitor
students com ng and going, as well as to
nonitor visitor traffic. He al so suggested
that the exterior gates remain |ocked. Sone of
the recommendati ons that were inplenented,
training on existing energency codes, who could
call a code red, reiterating it during the
January 11th training with Al Butler. Walking
exterior gates that were not being staffed when
open. Provide substitutes with identification
badges whil e on canpus.

Medi na was in fact assigned to the front
of the school. He wanted the hard corners
identified in the classroons, and again, only
two of the thirty classroons in Building 12 are
mar ked and identified with the hard corner.
According to Porter Wexler did not conplete a
witten report. These suggestions were
articulated verbally during a conversation
bet ween Wexler and Porter. Wexler is not an
active Secret Service Agent, and he was acting

as a civilian.
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MR. SCHACHTER: | have a coupl e of
questi ons.

CHAIR  Go ahead.

MR. SCHACHTER: Wexler also tal ked about
command and control that day; is that true?
Are you aware of that?

DET. BONASORO No, |I'mnot. Actually
Speci al Agent Mdsquera was the one who
I nterviewed, and interviewed, he was the one
who interviewed Wexler. | interviewed Porter.

MR. SCHACHTER: Did -- did you -- did you
request Thank you Thonpson's cal endar?

DET. BONASORO.  No.

MR. SCHACHTER: Did he notify people that
he was not going to be there that day?

DET. BONASORO. Yes, Denise Reed was in
charge that day.

MR. SCHACHTER: Is there -- is there
policy that, as far as conmand and control, if
the principal is not there Denise Reed needs to
understand that she is to nove up in that
position, and everybody is also to nove up one
| evel , because, you know, that's extrenely
I nportant in these, in these mass casualty

events? Are there policies and procedures, and
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I's adm ni stration understandi ng of those, what
to do?

DET. BONASORO They are. | don't know
about policy and procedure, however that is in
the safety plan, that if Ty Thonpson is out who
the next in charge is, and if that person is
out who the next in charge is. So they were
all aware of that.

MR. SCHACHTER: And where to go in each,

I n each circunstance?

DET. BONASORO  Yes.

MR. SCHACHTER  Ckay. Ckay.

DET. BONASORO So now we're going to get
into some of the highlights of the teacher
Interviews. There were nultiple teachers from
Buil ding 12 that were interviewed, along with a
sanpling of several teachers whose cl assroons
were not in Building 12. Belowis just a
summary of, and highlights of their statenents.
Most of the teachers, not all of the teachers,
knew t hat Assistant Principal Porter was the
assi stant principal in charge of school safety.
Al of the teachers stated that the col or coded
energency flip charts were placed in their

room Al of the teachers advised that they
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had not drilled for any of the col or codes
prior to 2/14 except for the nonthly fire
drills. That includes no code red drills.

Al'l teachers advised they did not know of
a specific policy regarding code red or | ock
down procedures. All the teachers stated that
they attended the training conducted by Al
Butl er on January 11, 2018, and found the
I nformati on was hel pful during the tine of the
i ncident. None of the teachers said that the
security staff or SRO Peterson conducted any
additional follow up training, or any training
what soever to the staff during a normal school
year. Oher than Al Butler's training no other
trai ni ng was conduct ed.

Teachers were not advised on how to set up
their classroons. The adm nistrative staff did
not inspect the roonms. Al of the teachers
i nterviewed stated that they knew to keep their
doors |l ocked. Al of the teachers said that
their doors |ocked were, or that their doors
were | ocked on the day of the incident.

MR. SCHACHTER: Not -- |I'msorry, but can
| -- can | just go back? | just want to

understand this. So when Wexler was there he
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had a conversation on code red, and he
reiterated that everyone on canpus has to have
the ability, and the culture needs to
understand that everybody needs to be able to
call a code red, and have that, that

confidence. And then they had the neeting by
Al Butler, and did he, did he reiterate that as
wel | ?

DET. BONASORO He did.

MR. SCHACHTER: He did.

DET. BONASORO.  Yeah.

MR. SCHACHTER: But still we had all of
t hese security nonitors that did not do this.

DET. BONASORO. Correct.

MR. SCHACHTER: And I'mjust trying to
under st and, because Medina said, and |'m sorry
to be repetitive, but | don't want to be the
guy to call the code red, so do we have any
opinions as to why these people did not call a
code red? And this could have saved a | ot of
people's lives.

CHAIR M. Schachter, if you' re | ooking
for sonmebody here to say, and one of these
I nvestigators to say that we have information

that we know that they were directed not to
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call a code red, we don't have that
i nformation. Everything that we have indicates
that they were m sinforned, not inforned,
confused, et cetera. It was a |lack of a
policy, the lack of training, the | ack of
effective inplenentation. But I'll say it
again, and we're going to |l eave it here because
we're beating this thing up, is, is that we
don't have any information that anybody
directed any staff in the Broward County School
District, and specifically at Marjory Stonenman
Dougl as Hi gh School, we don't have any
i nformati on that sonebody told anybody that
they could not call a code red. Let's just put
that to rest. W don't have that.

DET. BONASORO During the January 11th
training --

CHAIR  Secretary Senior.

SEC. SENIOR:  Just quickly, and just to
get an idea of whether we think this is a
coi nci dence, we have, we have two incidents at
this school in the sixty days prior to the
attack where they appear to be taking sone
steps associated with dealing with an attacker.

s that just coincidence? |s that normal, and

800-726-7007

Veritext Legal Solutions

305-376-8800



© 00 N o o~ wWw N

N N N N N N P B P PP R R R R
a A W N BB O © 0O N O 0o~ W N+, O

Page 118

did other schools in the state have two, or was
t here sonet hi ng nmaki ng them nervous that had
themtraining on this?

CHAIR: No, it was coincidence. Renenber
the one in Decenber was for the adm nistrators
i n Decenber 15th, and the one on January 11th,
and January 11th | believe, | think it's an in-
service day, a pro ed day, or sonething.

DET. BONASORO. Yeah, it was.

CHAIR And so it was just a training.

And so it was purely coincidence to the
February 14th event. And really thankfully it
happened, because the teachers had not hing,
zero before that, and it hel ped themto, hel ped
sone of themto sone degree, as they said. So
It was purely coincidence.

DET. BONASORO. Ckay. Al the teachers
did indicate that, again, that the Al Butler
training taught themto nove the students to a
hard corner of the roomwhere they couldn't be
seen fromthe window. Again, only two of the
t eachers i nterviewed denoted the hard corner,
hard corner by placing a Iine of tape on the
floor. Although the hard corner was marked in

two of the classroons nultiple |arge objects
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still limted he student's access. The other
teachers that didn't mark the hard corner
advi sed that the, they did advise their
students of the hard corner procedures, and
again, did not mark it.

CHAI R Senator Book, go ahead.

SEN. BOCOK: Thank you. Wen | was
teaching | renenber when the fire marshal was
comng to the school, and I'm gl ad Conm ssi oner
Stewart is not here, like | knew that we had to
| i ke take the hangi ng things down because it
woul d |i ke obstruct |ike the water that would
come down, or |ike the, you know, |ike cause
you can't have things hanging. Do we know, or
-- well, obviously it did not, so let ne just
say it didn't happen, but one of the things
perhaps is that we could require that there be
no things in hard corners, and that be part of,
you know, what people | ook for when they do
those things, so that those corners won't be
obstructed, and that just again becones part of
the culture. And | think we'll get there, but
| remenber that being, you know, just a part of
what you coul dn't do, and what you knew you had

to do, so just --
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CHAIR  Well, the question is, is that,
you know, is, you know, are the school
districts across the state willing to
self-inplenment that, and do they agree, and are
they going to do it in a tinmely way that
sustain, or does the legislature need to act
and conpel it, you know, and that's really the
question. | think it's a no-brainer, and it's
very easy, and it's probably one of the safest
one of the inplenentations that coul d be nade
that would create a safe environnment, but
there's still, obviously there's sone
resi st ance.

SEN. BOOK: Well, and it -- and it just
woul d seem and this is wthout any disrespect,
that unless individuals are told to do
sonething it's not necessarily done, because
l"mnot told | have to do it, it's suggested
but it's not on paper.

CHAIR Right. Yeah. And | think that
we're at a juncture, and | think the
| egislature is going to be at a juncture, is
the legislature considers 7026 and, and what
needs to be expanded, are one of those things

that just, we just need to say do it, and that
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you just need to say do it, and just to ensure
that it is going to be done. And there is
probably a list of those things that need to be
consi dered, they're going to be, and again
simlarly to the FSSAT that we have extensive
di scussi on about, is that left to their own
devi ces since 2014 sone districts deci ded, even
though it's required by you, and required by
the legislature, sonme just said we're just not
going to do it. So, you know, there need to be
a list of things that says we've had enough,
times up, and this is what you' re going to do.

And -- and for a |lot of these things that
we' re tal king about, at |east these things,
there can't be a conplaint that it's an
unfunded mandate because a | ot of these things
don't cost anything. This is just to inplenent
good policy and nake it sustai ned.

SHER. JUDD: And, M. Chairman, to back
you up on that, keep in mnd that | just
recently, as | repeat yesterday, had an event
where a nunber two guy of a thirteen thousand
person organi zation was not going to mark the
roons for safe zones, so there's your, there's

your sign that we're going to have to nmandate
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this through | egislation, because, you know,
when, when the nunber two guy in a schoo
district doesn't get it that neans a | ot of
fol ks haven't got it.

CHAIR  Sheriff Ashl ey.

SHER. ASHLEY: Just a counter point; the
Chai r has brought up before that, you know,
uni nt ended consequences, if these heard corners
are sheetrock walls then we're piling, we're
piling folks up into a corner, and renenber
that the people we're, that we're training,
coul d possibly be the next shooter.

CHAIR That's right.

SHER. ASHLEY: And so again those
uni nt ended consequence, we nmake that a
mandatory requirenent, if it's a sheetrock
corner, a hard corner, then why not just shoot
t hrough the wall and kill everybody. And so
it's -- it's one of those dammed if you do
damed i f you don't.

CHAIR Well, point well taken, and but
remenber is that what we're trai ned, and
there's -- there's all kinds of, you know,
we're kind of, you know, down in the weeds with

it, but there's all kinds of nuances with this.
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Renmenber is, is that everybody, students, and
teachers, and staff, need options, and what we
ask themto do in considering the nodel,

what ever the nodel you want to call it, run,
hi de, fight, et cetera, is, is that we're not
saying do this one or that one, what we're
saying is, is that we're going to hopefully
provi de you enough training, enough educati on,
that when it happens you're going to have to
pick the option that fits best, and it may not
be to hide.

It may not be to get into the hard corner,
dependi ng upon what the circunstance is, or the
hard corner may be the best option, and get as
| ow as you can, et cetera, and so, you know,
even when you get into what do you call these
t hi ngs, and sone people call them you want to
say, well, use plain | anguage and call them
| ockdown drills, there can be a problemwth
that, because if you're calling thema | ockdown
drill and you're using a run, hide, fight,
| ockdown, what is sonebody going to think,
| ockdown neans | ockdown, hunker down, when the
best response is, is to run.

So, you know, they're -- all of this has
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to be considered, and there's no single thing
in any of this, it's a conbination of things,
and best options. But, Sheriff Ashley, I
couldn't agree with you nore is, is that you
could by putting sonebody to hard corner, you
could be creating a vulnerable situation, it

j ust depends, but, you know, certainly in this
case, and in others, it is a viable option,
and, and there is -- there is no hundred
percents, and we know that, and you know t hat,
so but, but what, but if we don't provide
options then we can't get even close to the
goal line. W have to provide options.

MR. SCHACHTER: And as a comment to the
Sheriff's -- in relation to that, you know, |
tal ked about, several nonths ago about the
safest school in the country in Indiana, and
t hey, every classroom has to have a protected
space. | think the Chair is absolutely correct
that the kid needs to understand that they're
safe in that classroom To conbat exactly the
poi nt you nade is that we need to have, you
know, sections of that classroomthat are
protected. In -- in Marjory Stoneman Dougl as

we had a conpany cone in that was going to
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donate a ballistic wall section to make sure

t hat each individual classroomhad a protected
space. So we were going to solve that problem
the district decided not to do that, but that's
the way you solve that.

SHER. ASHLEY: O her opportunities are
creating enmergency exists. There's so nany of
our classroons across the state that, one way
In, one way out, so |I've nade that
recommendation to our school district multiple
tinmes. It's a very expensive recommendati on,
but any new school construction should be
required to create energency exits.

CHAIR Willy, go ahead.

DET. BONASORO. Ckay. Again now we're
still tal king about sone of the teachers'
comments during the interviews. The classroom
teachers are not assigned portable radios.

They have to conmunicate with the front office
via the PA systemor by the | andline tel ephone,
or by their own cell phone. Sone teachers were
nore vocal than others during these interviews.
According to one teacher, Ernest Rospierski,
sonme teachers did not take code red drills

seriously. He said they were notified in
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advance that the drill would be conducted, and
didn't want to | ose out on instructional tine.

This next comment unfortunately was stated
by al nost every single teacher. They said it's
Par kl and, we didn't think anything like this
coul d happen here. That was the response of
al nost every single teacher and staff nenber
that | interviewed.

MR. SCHACHTER: And -- and if | nmay,
Sheriff, | think that is the problem That's
what we have to overconme, is that it's been
twenty years since Col unbine, and you hit the
nail on the head, that they never thought it
was goi ng to happen in Sandy Hook, and we never
t hought it was going to happen in Parkl and.

Two days prior to this tragedy it was reported
I n a newspaper that Parkland was the safest
place to live in this country, so until people
start realizing that it can happen in their

nei ghbor hood, that they nust make their schools
safe, nothing will change, in ny opinion.

DET. BONASORO  Rospierski further advised
that the first thing that he heard was the fire
al arm and subsequently began evacuating his

classroom Once in the hallway, Rospiersk
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said it was at that point where he heard the
first gunshots, or he heard the gunshots. He
al so said that the hallways are not equi pped

wi th PA speakers, and while in the hallway he
was unable to hear what was being said over the
PA. He said sonething was being said but he
was unabl e to hear

Al'l the teachers that commented said that
they, they sheltered in place, and did so --

SHER. ASHLEY: Excuse ne.

DET. BONASORO. Yes, sir.

SHER. ASHLEY: Do we know now what was
bei ng said over the PA?

DET. BONASORO  Yes.

CHAIR  Wsat's the question, Sheriff,
could you --

SHER. ASHLEY: Do -- do we -- excuse ne.
Do we know now what was being said over the PA
t hat he couldn't hear?

DET. BONASORO There were -- there were
two things being said over the PA. The first
was evacuate because of -- and I'll go into
that here in just a second.

SHER. ASHLEY: (Ckay.

DET. BONASORO. All the teachers in
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Bui I ding that sheltered in place, that hunkered
down, did so because the, they said the first
thing that they heard was the gunfire so they,
they stayed sheltered in place. Al the
teachers in Building 12 that evacuated their

cl assroons, they said they did so because the
first thing they heard was the fire alarm Not
one teacher advised that they heard the code
red being called over the PA. The teachers
reacted to the sound of gunfire or the fire

al arm

Al'l the teachers, every one of themsaid
that they were unclear if they were allowed to
call a code red, and howto do it. The staff
at, at the high school, the adm nistrative
staff said anyone can call a code red, however
with that said the teachers still stated that
they had no idea how to.

MR. SCHACHTER: Can | -- can | ask you
about that? So MSD staff stated anyone can
call a code red, but Wexler, Porter told Wexler
that only the admn was allowed to call a code
red. So that's -- that's what |'m wonderi ng,
If that's the reason nobody el se called a code

red.
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DET. BONASORO. A lot of things fromthat
Al Butler training changed the way they thought
about the code red stuff, so that, during that
January 11th neeting it was confirnmed that, and
by Ty Thonpson, and every admi nistrator said
that at that January 11 neeting it was well
known that anybody could call a code red.

CHAIR  There's a di sconnect between the
adm ni strators and the teachers, and that's
where it is. The adm nistrators say, oh, yeah,
anybody can do it, but when to the teachers and
the staff that's, there's a, there's a
di sconnect .

DET. BONASCRO And nost of the teachers
that we interviewed, and the students
I ntervi ewed, perceived the event as though it
was just a drill.

CHAIR  Comm ssi oner Dodd.

MR. DODD: Did the teachers give any
I ndi cation of the school resource officer's
abilities, or anything on canpus, was there
anyt hi ng asked to them or anything about --

DET. BONASORO. W did ask that question,
and it was mxed. Sone said that he shoul d

have, he shoul d have been out and about nore,
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that he was in his office alot. Ohers said
that he was out and about the appropriate
amount of tine.

MR. DODD: Was he at the January 11th
training? W Peterson at that training when --

DET. BONASORO. | don't know.

MR. DODD: Did Peterson -- but it said
clearly that Peterson did not do training with
faculty nmenbers, correct, or he had not done --

DET. BONASORO. Not any kind of nandated
training. And | only said that because
Peterson, he was a train the trainer type of
guy, so he was the one training people to train
people. He had all this information about
active shooter, he was an SRO forever, so |
just wanted to point out with all that
knowl edge that he had he never took the
initiative and got with his adm nistrative
staff to conduct any type of additional
training, or any training whatsoever to help
out .

CHAIR Right. So you weren't here
yesterday, so just renenber is that what we saw
in the training yesterday that Special Agent

Massucci did that shows the training that
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Peterson went to to train the trainer, he never
put that on at NSD.

DET. BONASCRO  No.

MR. SCHACHTER: And can | ask you a
guestion? Was -- was the security staff and
the canmpus nonitors at Al Butler's training?

DET. BONASCRO  Yes.

MR. SCHACHTER: Ckay.

DET. BONASORO  Sone of the
recomendati ons, we asked the teachers what,
what woul d you recommend, and this was just a
list of whatever they said. To arm arm
willing staff, nore real |ife scenario
training. They wanted electrical outlets noved
that were placed in the hard corners so that
they could nove their furniture that required
el ectrical outlets elsewhere in the room
Equip all teachers with a panic button on a
| anyard. Make sure the PA system can be heard
in the hallways and outside common areas. They
want ed probl em students should not be placed in
regul ar classes, and a better canmera system

These are sone of the highlights of the
adm ni strative staff interviews. They all said

that all the ingress and egress gates were open
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in the norning and in the afternoon to all ow
foot traffic and vehicle traffic in and out.
They all admtted that the gates were not
staffed appropriately while the gates were
opened. Al the adm nistrators advise that
they did not know of a specific school board
policy regardi ng canpus nonitors.

When | asked them what the canpus nonitors
did they too stated that their job is to
observe and report, however upon further
guestioning and clarifications they admtted
that the canpus nonitors did a | ot nore than
just observe and report. They stated that the
canpus nonitors were each assigned a specific
post to nonitor during the course of the day.
All of the admnistrators stated that they did
not instruct their teachers to set up their
classroons in a specific way that woul d keep
t he hard corner open.

Al'l the adm nistrators advised that the
teachers were instructed to keep their door
| ocks, and did not have the option to keep
their door | ocks post the January 1lth training
with Al Butler. Al the AP said that they

woul d occasionally wal k the school to ensure
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that the doors were | ocked.

Prior to the January training there was no
definitive answer given by the APs about who
could call a code red. They all kind of had
their own way to answer that, and none of it
was clear. Al the APs stated that fire alarm
drills were conducted nonthly, however a code
red drill has not been conducted prior to 2/14.
They were all aware of the web based schoo
safety plan, as well as the energency flip
chart. Al the teachers were provided with the
energency flip chart, and the teachers, nost of
the teachers were not aware of the safety plan
general ly.

Al'l of the adm nistrative staff knew the
proper protocol to be followed once a code red
was initiated, |E doors |ocked, go to the safe
or hard corner, turn your lights out, keep
quiet. Principal Ty Thonpson did state that
it was stated that in the January training,

t hat anyone could call a code red. He said the
teachers w thout radios, they would have to
either call the front office via the PA or the
phone, and relay that information to the

office, nevertheless they were still unclear
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about when or howto call the code red.

Four of the five APs stated that they had
no conpl ai nts about Deputy Scot Peterson,
however AP Reed did advise that he should have
been out of his office patrolling the canmpus
nore. | just want to talk about, a little bit
what Reed following up with that. She said on
that, on the 2/14 all the APs, AP Reed, Porter,
and Morford, all advised that they did call the
code red via their portable radios. None of
that is confirmed. The first confirmation of
anybody hearing the code red was from El | i ot
Bonner. Porter said that he also called the
code red via the school intercom system

AP Reed advi sed that she received
I nformation fromPorter about a gas |eak al arm
comng fromBuilding 12. She said that she
responded to the area of Building 12 and
encount ered Peterson standing in the breezeway
between Building 7 and 8. W all know where
that is, right? She stated that she clearly
heard a | ot of gunshots coming fromwthin
Bui l ding 12, and told Peterson, hey, that's
gunfire in there. She said that Peterson had

his gun out, and was tal king on his police
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radio. She told ne that she left the area to
hel p get kids back inside, and thought that

Pet erson was going into Building to address the
shooter. Now, it was at this point during the
incident that all the adm nistrators were doing
their thing, and then at sone point they all
remai ned | ocked down until rescued by | aw
enforcenent. Yes?

SEC. KAPUSTA: |'mnot sure | recalled
this correctly, but | thought at the begi nning
of you presentation Medina was the one who got
Pet erson and took himover to Building 12.

DET. BONASORO  Yes.

SEC. KAPUSTA: So this seens inconsistent
w th that.

DET. BONASORO I n what way?

CHAIR | don't think everybody can hear
the question. Can you speak into the
m crophone a little bit nore?

SEC. KAPUSTA: Yes, I'msorry. GCkay, |I'm
sorry, never mnd, | take the question back. |
t hought that at the beginning of his
presentation he said that Medina was the one
t hat went and got Peterson and took himover to

Bui | di ng 12.
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CHAIR  He did.

SEC. KAPUSTA: | m sunderstood this, and
t hought that Reed had taken Peterson with her.
kay, | amwth you now Sorry for that.

DET. BONASCRO Yeah. And that concl udes
ny presentation on topics three and four. And
again, you'll hear a lot nore detail from
Sergeant Suess' presentation.

CHAIR Al right, does anybody el se have
any questions? M. Schachter.

MR. SCHACHTER: So when was the first code
red called out?

DET. BONASORO Confirmed, by Bonner.

CHAIR It was at 2:24.54, which is three
m nut es and si xteen seconds into, after the
first shot.

SHER. ASHLEY: That's what was on the PA,
bei ng announced on the PA?

DET. BONASORO.  No.

CHAIR  Radi o.

MR SCHACHTER: It was on the schoo
radi o.

CHAIR  Right.

MR. SCHACHTER: And so when did it

actual ly get announced on the PA, or did it?
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CHAIR | don't know that. John, do you
know?

DET. BONASORO After that. It was after.

CHAIR Vally, do you know?

SGI. SUESS: Correct, it was after.

CHAIR It was after that at some point.

DET. BONASORO Yeah, but nobody heard it.

CHAIR So the first, the first tine was
on the radio, is what | told you, is 2:24.54,
three m nutes and si xteen seconds into it, and,
and beyond that, you know, it kind of becane,
it becanme a non-issue for us because at that
point is, is that the people on the third fl oor
were already out in the hallways, everybody is
nmovi ng, nobody could hear it anyway, and they
couldn't hear it over the fire alarm so it
becane a -- you know, once we found that it
hadn't been announced at all until three
m nutes and si xteen seconds into it, and at
three m nutes and sixteen seconds he's al ready
shooting on the third floor, it was, you know,
the thing was about over before the first code
red was called, so we didn't, you know --

MR. SCHACHTER: So where was Reed during

this event?

Veritext Legal Solutions
800-726-7007 305-376-8800



© 00 N o o~ wWw N

N N N N N N P B P PP R R R R
a A W N BB O © 0O N O 0o~ W N+, O

Page 138

DET. BONASORO. She start -- when the --
she was in the adm nistration building. Wen
the alarm the fire al arm sounded, she grabbed
her radio to head out to address the fire
alarm As she was | eaving the adm nistration
bui | di ng she hears Porter yelling, hey, there's
a gas leak at Building 12, which pronpted her
to redirect fromher normal post that she goes
to during a fire alarmto head over to Building
12 to see what was goi ng on.

MR SCHACHTER: Because she was the
princi pal that day.

DET. BONASORO She was in charge that

day, yes.

MR. SCHACHTER: So she shoul d have been
the one to call -- well, anybody shoul d' ve, but
so nobody, nobody called the code red. |I'm

j ust wondering why it took so long, why it took
three mnutes, and why it was all over by that
tinme, you know.

DET. BONASCRO | think we all are.

CHAIR  Senat or Book.

SEN. BOOK: Thank you. So why did she
think that it was a gas |eak?

DET. BONASORO. She was noving off of
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information fromPorter. Porter went to the,
the fire alarm--

SEN. BOOK:  Panel .

DET. BONASORO. Panel there in the SRO
of fice, and the panel was readi ng gas | eak.

SEN. BOOK: Ckay, so if there was a gas
| eak, and we're followi ng the chart or
what ever, that would be a code brown, right?

DET. BONASORO. Code brown, so right, so
Porter did get on the PA and try to evacuate
because of the gas |eak. Then he hears Bonner
code red, code red, so he reverses the
evacuation and calls the | ockdown. Now again,
this is happening over the PA there's a ton of
chaos, nobody hears anything. Not one person
said that they clearly heard anything going on
on the PA system

SEN. BOOK: Okay. GCkay. And -- |I'm
sorry. And so typically, and again | know that
ri ght now MSD has a systemwhere if a fire
al arm goes of f everybody evacuates, you hear
the fire alarmin every building so you would
assume it's there.

DET. BONASORO. That's correct.

SEN. BOOK: Ina -- and if it was a gas
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| eak, and if the panel was readi ng gas | eak,
woul d that trigger the fire alarn?

DET. BONASORO It did.

SEN. BOOK: Got it. | -- 1 wasn't sure if
t hat was because of what was happening in the
bui |l di ng or because it was a gas |eak trigger.

CHAIR  Sheriff Ashley, did you have
sonet hi ng? kay, anybody el se?

MR. SCHACHTER: What time was the fire
alarmtriggered, or the gas |eak, do we know,
t he evacuation?

DET. BONASORO  Shortly after the first
shots were fired, whatever tine that was.

MR. SCHACHTER: Really?

DET. BONASORO. That's what caused the
alarmto go off.

MR. SCHACHTER: And then Porter -- what
time did Porter call the evacuation?

DET. BONASORO. Well, Porter calls the
evacuation shortly after that. Then the kids
are noving around to, to evacuate, he hears the
code red being called by Bonner, and then he
orders the | ockdown after that.

MR. SCHACHTER: After, when everybody is

dead al r eady.
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DET. BONASORO  Yeah.

MR. SCHACHTER: Cot it.

CHAIR  Comm ssioner Bartlett, you had a
guesti on?

ASA BARTLETT: Wen Reed goes to Peterson
out between 7 and 8 and tells himit's gunfire,
has Bonner already called in the code red?

DET. BONASORO  No.

ASA BARTLETT: So she acknow edges all the
shots are taking place, and she infornmed him of
that, and he was just on his radio.

DET. BONASCRO Yeah, she assuned that --
she said she | ooked out at one side and she saw
a bunch of students out, outside in the open,
she hears the gunfire on the other side, so she
said she immedi ately ran to get those students
safe, and thought that Peterson was going to go
in to address the shooter.

CHAIR  And so, just for context too, is
that woul d have been after -- if he was already
by the 7-8 buil ding when she confronted him or
saw him and said, hey, that's gunfire, he had
his gun out, he's by the 7-8 building, that's
after Medi na had dropped himoff at the east
door of the 1200 building, after he had gotten
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on the radio and said there's shots fired in
the 1200 buil di ng, which the shots he heard
were Feis and Hi xon being shot. So he had

al ready been on the radio, said there's shots
fired, he had already fled fromthe east door
to his hiding place over there by the 7-8
bui |l di ng, and that's when Reed canme up to him
and said there's shots fired in there, he had
his gun out, and he's talking on the radio
agai n, which we heard those transm ssions
yesterday, correct?

DET. BONASORO. Yes, sir. Yes.

CHAIR Al right. Secretary Carroll, go
ahead.

MR. CARROLL: | was just going to ask a
simlar question, and ny point was what you
just made of it, was that this is the second
person, or actually the third person now t hat
has shown up by that building and clearly heard
gunshots comng fromw thin that building, and
was not unclear as to where the gunshots were
com ng from

| just was wondering, |I know we've seen a
| ot of the surveillance tape that kind of put

these tinmestanps with folks, is there -- is --
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IS Reed -- does she show up on any of the
surveill ance tapes, so that you get the timng
for when she interacted --

SGI. SUESS: No. No, sir, | don't believe
she does.

MR. CARROLL: kay.

CHAIR. Secretary Senior, go ahead.

SEC. SENNOR: Do we have an idea of how
many students evacuated, and how many shel tered
In place? Was it clear outside of Building 12,
because we're saying, oh, this was over in
three mnutes, but it wasn't over, he was in
the top roomon the third floor trying to shoot
at peopl e who had evacuated out of the
bui | di ng, and how -- so do we have an idea of
how many had evacuated, or how many clearly
under st ood?

CHAIR So -- so he was -- fromthe tine
that he entered the building, which was
2:21.38, and he left at 2:27.54, so he -- from
the tine he entered until the tinme he wal ked
out that door, you saw on the video yesterday,
IS siXx mnutes and si xteen seconds, so the --
but he was in a teacher's |ounge for roughly

about two mnutes of that, and he was trying to
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sni pe out, he had the bi-pad, and he was
shooti ng out those wi ndows, and as you heard

t he rounds fragnmented, but how nmany students,
you know, | think you heard there's about nine
hundred roughly in the 1200 buil ding, so around
nine hundred that were in play just in the 1200
bui | di ng, and a whol e bunch of them when he was
trying to shoot out that third floor teacher's
| ounge were in that courtyard, and if he had
been able to effectively shoot out there would
have been, you know, hundreds, nmass, mass
casual ties, because he was trying to -- that
was his plan, that's why he had the bi-pod, he
was setting that rifle up so that he could get
an advantage point and use it as a sni per

posi tion.

SEC. SENFOR: |If he had taken his gun with
him he ran out with, with students that were
I n essence inappropriately evacuating, he could
have shot themthere.

CHAIR. Correct. Correct. And but, you
know, again, obviously he had his plan, and he
wanted to blend in, and he dropped his gun and
the tactical vest, and a hundred ei ghty rounds

of ammunition he left on that third fl oor
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| andi ng when he fled. M. Petty.

MR PETTY: | just want to get a
clarification on a couple of things. So the
gas | eak detection, is that a function of the
fire alarmsystem it can detect a gas |eak?

DET. BONASORO. It nust.

MR. PETTY. kay. And so would that,

woul d that then be a code brown, not a code

red?

DET. BONASORO. That's correct, yes.

MR. PETTY. The -- |I'mjust going back and
re-readi ng what code brown says. |t says

threat incident to the facility when the best
course of action is to inplenment a shelter in
pl ace, | ockdown, or, or evacuation. Those seem
to conflict.

DET. BONASORO. Right. | agree.

MR PETTY. So --

CHAIR | think it's a bridge too far.
They don't even know what a code red is, and
how -- much | ess code brown.

MR. PETTY: No, | understand. |
understand, but the point is if thereis, if
there is sone other type of energency, like a

bonmb, it would require the admnistration to
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communi cate to the students and staff in the,

in the facility. |If there's a fire alarm going
off, we've already learned that it's difficult
to hear the PA system or you can't hear the PA
system so | nmean we've got another big problem
here. And | don't knowif thisis, if thisis
just Broward, or if thisis simlar in all the
ot her school districts.

SEN. BOOK: Well, and just -- and we're
going to get to this, but when | was reading to
prepare for today in the |aw enforcenent
response presentation you have a photo of the
SRO s office, and it has the fire panel.

CHAIR Right. Correct, you're going to
see that here in a few m nutes.

SEN. BOOK: Okay. So but that's in
Building 1, right?

CHAIR  Correct.

SEN. BOOK: So let's say there was, and |
know we're going on a bridge too far so thank
you for indulging ne, but let's say it was a
chem cal | eak, how would that, how woul d t hat
I ndi vi dual who sees that on that panel
communi cate that, via the radi o maybe?

CHAIR. The only -- the only ways he had
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on there to conmunicate were via the intercom
systemthat were in the classroons, the PA in
t he classroons, or the radio. That was the
only way to communi cate, except for -- they did
have, you know, they had | andline phones, as
you heard about, but in order for mass
comruni cation the only way is the PAs that were
in the classroons, or the radio that sone
peopl e had, and not everybody had radi os. And
again not all, and with the radios, they
weren't always on either.

SEN. BOOK: Is there a chem like a chem
| ab in that buil ding?

CHAIR: | don't know the answer to that
one. John, do you --

SGT. SUESS: Yes, ma'am in Building 13.

SEN. BOOK: Sorry?

SGI. SUESS: In Building 13.

SEN. BOOK: Okay, so not in the 1200
bui | di ng necessarily, okay.

CHAIR Al right, thanks, Wally.
Appreciate it. Good job. Thank you.

DET. BONASORO  Thank you.

CHAIR Al right, so the next

presentation we're going to get through before
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| unch is from Sergeant Suess, and it's a
presentation on the content of Ni kolas Cruz's
cell phone and his internet searches. H's
phone was seized at the tine of this arrest,
and the contents of the phone had been
downl oaded, and that's the nature of this
present ati on.

PRESENTATI ON CRUZ CELL PHONE CONTENT AND | NTERNET

SEARCHES
SGT. SUESS: Thank you, Sheriff. One
thing I would Iike to point out before | get
started, while the four of us are here
presenting to you Special Agent Randy Canp has
worked diligently with us. He wasn't able to
attend this neeting. Special Agent Dan
Mosquera and Mark Hadod from FDLE M am have
al so assisted us. And there is in addition to
that a small arny of analysts in Tallahassee
who have been assisting us as well. So they
likely will not be seen, but have provided a
great deal of assistance to us throughout this
i nvestigation.
As the Sheriff nmentioned we're going to go

over sone of the contents that were one N kol as

Cruz's phone prior. There's sone data that
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does not have a tinme stanp, sone that is in the
weeks | eading up to the shooting on February
14t h, sone communi cations that he had on the
day of the 14th, and show ng sone of his
travels as well. |'malso going to cover sone
of the firearns which N kolas Cruz had, and
some brief excerpts of the interviews fromthe
Snead famly.

So the data that you're going to see right
now is prior to February 1, 2018 where it does
not have a tine stanp. On Novenber 14, 2017
Ni kol as Cruz searched the phrase shooting
peopl e massacre. The next day he searched rape
caught on video, and armed robber gets shot by
every custoner. It is inportant to notice that
what we're going to see here will largely
substantiate the information that Detective
Lyons presented that had been told to us by
ot her people. The advantage here, of course
this is N kolas Cruz's phone, who presumably
he's the only person that has access to.

So in the notes section of his phone on
Decenber 30th he had this note; control your
breathing and trigger pull, you're the one who

sites inthe rifle for yourself, adjust the

Veritext Legal Solutions
800-726-7007 305-376-8800



© 00 N o o~ wWw N

N N N N N N P B P PP R R R R
a A W N BB O © 0O N O 0o~ W N+, O

Page 150

scope, your shooting ability, keep that

adj ust nent every tine, you have to shoot to
yourself, only to oneself, ny trigger squeeze
is ny one's ability, sane thing every tine.

On January 20, 2018 there was a note;
basket ball court full of targets, stil
t hi nki ng of ways to kill people.

The next day; ny life is a ness, | don't
know what to do anynore, every day | get nore
agi tated at everyone because ny life is unfair,
everything and everyone is happy except for ne,
| want to kill people but | don't know how I
can do it, walk to a part, get sonmeone to pick
me up, | just don't know anynore, but it wll
happen soon.

This is a screenshot that was within his
phone, and so it's a screenshot of a Wkipedia
article on the 2012 Aurora novie theater
shooting, speaking to | believe Sheriff Ashl ey,
| believe he nentioned these school shooters,
it has been docunented in other instances, they
do their honework, they do research prior to
mass shooting i nstances.

MR. SCHACHTER: Do you know -- do you have

a date of when that screenshot entered into his
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phone?

SGT. SUESS: No, sir. So | have a little
bit of experience with cell phone anal ysis,
probably enough to nmake nysel f dangerous, but
there are people that have expl ai ned
essentially sone data does not have a tine
stanp, but | did look into that matter.

These are sone i nmages that were on his
phone. The only one with the date tine stanp
was the one on the left, Novenber 26, 2017.
You'll see sone inmages here, that it's really
just a sanpling of a consistent thene
t hroughout his phone. This is not everything
that was in there, but if you haven't already
you'll continue to see the thene.

MR. SCHACHTER: Do we -- do we have any,
you know, we heard w tness testinony of him
bringi ng dead aninmals to school, do we have any
-- and | guess none of that was reported to
adm ni stration, we have, did any investigation,
so admi nistration never knew that, right, none
of that was --

CHAIR Wat you heard yesterday in
Detective Lyons presentation, there were a

coupl e things that were reported, and, you
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know, 1'd just refer you back to the
presentation yesterday. The second half of it
shows what was reported, and then not taken
further. The first part of it, which contains
nost of it, people knew about and did not
report to anybody.

MR. SCHACHTER: Just it happened so nmany

times, and bringing all these animals, | nean
the snell in your backpack, | can't -- it's
just seens, | can't imagine that nore people

didn't know, you know, it's just crazy.

CHAIR  You can't imagi ne nore people
didn't know, over thirty people --

MR. SCHACHTER: No, | nean the
adm ni stration, teachers, | don't understand
why nobody said anything, it's just --

SGI. SUESS. To that point, there are
several photographs of dead aninmals, and you'l]l
see a video shortly. These are just various
| mages, again, this is just a sanpling, but
there are, to say there were dozens if not
hundreds or thousands of photographs or inages
of guns. Mlitary intrigue would be an
under st at enent .

These are sonme screenshots that he had
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from YouTube vi deos about different types of
firearns. The one on the right, a post on

| nst agr am about, you know, basically where to
position your finger on a gun to be a nore
accurate shot. There were several inmages wth
racial, racially hatred, racially charged

t henes.

So this individual, who | don't know, he
has this song that Cruz had accessed on YouTube
call ed the knife gane song, and, you know,
we've all seen this at different points in
novies or TVs, but people stabbing the knife
between their fingers. This -- this was
referenced several tines on his phone.

And image from I nstagram which is nore,
It is a cartoon on howto effectively slit your
Wi st.

These are sone i mages from Marshal County
H gh School and Col unbi ne H gh School, where
t here had been prior mass shooting instances.

Sonme images of Cruz on the left wearing
ballistic vests and a hel net, and sone
additional mlitary themed regali a.

So this is the inmage that Detective Lyons

referenced in one of the interview, where one
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of Nikolas Cruz's friends had coment ed about
how his nother was very liberal mnded, he knew
this angered her, so after her passing took his
MAGA hat and inserted it in the mausol eum took
a picture, and then also you'll see on the left
| mage taped over her nane.

So these images have a tinme stanp, and
this is going to cover a wi ndow from February
1st to the 14th of 2018. On February 2, 2018
he took a screenshot of the MSD school
schedul e. Between February 1st and February
5th -- so you'll start seeing slides with this
| ayout. So on the left is a sunmary of
different types of sites that he visited, on
the right is a specific search phrase that he
woul d have used. There's not necessarily a
direct correlation between those two col umms,

so just please understand that format.

The song Punped up Kicks, I'Il explain
that a little nore, and you'll see an excer pt
here shortly. It was a song that he accessed

frequently, and there's a video that glorifies
school shootings set to that song, and you'll
see an excerpt here shortly.

A phot ograph taken by Cruz on February 8,
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2018. Wthin his notes section dated February
5th is this note, nore or less a | ove note, and
the portions that are highlighted in red we
have added. There are phrases there really
conveys the thene that this is nore or less a
sui ci de note, where he does not expect to be
living much | onger. The black boxes we put in
there just to protect the identity of the
femal e to whom he i s speaking.

Just to -- I'lIl read those red parts, so
if | don't die please see ne, please be with ne
in the afterlife, I wish for you to be in ny
wll with ever, ny will with everything |I |eave
behind, it belongs to you and ny brother, the
hal f of the cash goes to you and ny brother.

Bet ween February 6th and 8th, again on the
|l eft you'll see these are the types of websites
that he's accessing, and then on the right
speci fic phrases that he woul d have entered
into his phone, such as is killing peopl e easy,
a pest control job, and | ooking for crinme scene
cl eaner.

So there's going to be several videos here
that were released to the nedia several nonths

ago | believe, and |I believe they've all been
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rel eased, absent one. |'mgoing to play these
briefly for you.
(Thereupon, the following video is played in the
open neeting.)

CRUZ: Al right, so here's the plan. |I'm
going to go take a Uber in the afternoon before
2:40. Fromthere I'Il go into the, onto schoo
canpus, walk up the stairs, unload ny bags, and
get ny AR and shoot people down at the nmain,
what is it, the main courtyard, await, and
people wll die.

(Ther eupon, the video concludes, and the proceedings
continue as follows:)

SGT. SUESS: Later in that day there's an
| mge here of a bird, possibly, you know, shot
with a BB gun in its head. A photograph that
Cruz took later that evening. So the follow ng
day again sone types of websites that he is
accessing. You'll see sone additional
screenshots, but on psychcentral.com he's
visited a site about hom cidal thoughts and
urges. Again the gun thene is presenting
itself consistently. Sonme of the search
phrases that he's used, therapists for

hom ci dal .
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So this screenshot of that specific
article about hom cidal thoughts, this
screenshot was within his phone.

CHAIR Hang on a second, John.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir.

CHAI R Senator Book, go ahead.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, ma' am

SEN. BOCOK: Uper, was he just | ooking up

Uber, like the process to order an Uber,

guess | was just trying to wonder |ike what --

SGT. SUESS: No, ma'am it was | ust

he went to, and | think it's fairly innocuous,

that particular aspect. [It's ny understanding,

correct me if I'"'mwong, Detective, that

to this point did not drive. He didn't have a
car, he didn't know how to drive, so | inmagine

Uber was probably one of the nore, his nore

common nodes of transportation.

CHAIR  Quick question, Conm ssioner
Larkin Skinner, | got a question for you.
you -- | mean here -- this is February 9t
Qobvi ously this happens on February 14th.

you have any thoughts at all about here,

on his cell phone, and he's searching hom ci da

t houghts and urges, and then he's al so putting
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l'i ke |

a site
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In a search phrase, a therapist for homcidal.
Is he -- what's he doing at this point? | know
it may be an unanswer abl e question, but |I'm

you know, it seens like he's, he's, and he does
the video a coupl e days before where he's

pl anned out what he's going to do, and we just
saw that, and now it seens |like he's struggling
with whether he's actually going to do this.

Do you have any thoughts on it? |[If not that's
okay, | just --

M5. LARKIN SKINNER: | think you're right.
| think the, the telling thing here is he's
obsessing constantly. | nean it's like a | oop
playing in his head, and, you know, it's
Interesting -- | know of people that have been
arrested because they search certain things on
the internet, like twenty years ago a guy at ny
wor k got arrested because he was searching
chem cals, and he hit a third chem cal which
I mredi ately | aw enforcenent becane aware of
somehow, | don't know if they were tracking
that, but they arrested hi m because he was
goi ng to nmake neth.

And then | know sonebody who was hitting

porn sites where there were teens, underage
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girls, and got arrested, and so |I'mreally
curious if there's anything like that, if
peopl e are searching terns |i ke hom cide, which
I's weird because on the one hand you woul d
search it because you mght want to read an
article to do sone research, or just to see
what happened in a situation.

But the only thing | can say is that this
Is scary, and that the only thing | can really
get fromit is that he was obsessed with it,
and it was playing over and over in his head.
And maybe sone part of himwanted help --

CHAIR That's what -- and that's why |
was just asking for your input, your
prof essi onal opinion on it, because it, it
strikes out that he is westling wwth this
because, you know, therapists for hom cidal,
you know, five days before he goes and
massacres these people, so just curious in your
opinion. Sheriff Ashley.

SHER. ASHLEY: Just since we're tal king on
this subject | would just say since this
i ncident we've just literally had dozens and
dozens of kids make threats towards schools and

i ndi viduals, and this is not unusual, to find
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this type of material on their phones. It's --
it's a lot nore common that we woul d believe,
and Conm ssioners, | just want you to be aware
of that.

CHAIR  Senat or Book.

SEN. BOOK: Sorry, M. Chair. Do we know
how | ong he spent |ike on these different
sites, |ike anmounts of tinme?

SGI. SUESS: The only way to know t hat
really would be -- so the way this is laid out
in the report is it shows the tine you access
that site, and then the tinme you access anot her
site. So but then you also, you're left with
the opportunity, well, did he access the site
and then set the phone and lock it, go do
sonet hi ng el se.

SEN. BOOK: And are these in order of his
sear ches?

SGI. SUESS: Yes, ma'am So | nean
obvi ously these are all on February 9th.

SEN. BOOK: Like, | nean like it's just
sort of interesting, like you start with
t herapi sts for hom cidal thoughts, best AR-15
sites, howto get into a relationship, howto

get a girlfriend, like it's just, see |ike,
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it's kind of like all over, you know.

SGI. SUESS: He -- he was all over, m'am
it's, it is very cyclical, |ike Comm ssioner
Larkin Skinner referenced. | nean every day
really it was, it was pornography, Japanese
anime, which are essentially cartoons, and then
guns.

SEN. BOOK: Was he watching, |like the
am ne, was it, was he watching anine or was he

wat ching |i ke sexual anine?

SGI. SUESS: | accessed a few of them on
YouTube, and it was nostly, | don't know nuch
about it, I know that's sort of a cult
following. There are sone sexual | believe,

not specific to CGuz. H's were nore nmarti al
arts fights, those types of things. None of
t he pornography sites that he had visited were
I ndi cative of child pornography, it was all
adult. Frequently various races. So | don't
know i f that gives you any insight to his
raci al feelings, thoughts.

This is a video from February 8, 2018.
This is a dead iguana, and you'll see, he
points it out, but the intestines of this

| guana have been renoved.
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MR. SCHACHTER: Ch, ny Cod.

(Thereupon, the following video is played in the
open neeting.)

CRUZ: Killed an iguana, 2018, fucker, |
ripped out his organs. | think it's dead.

(Thereupon, the video concludes, and the proceedi ngs
continue as follows:)

SGI. SUESS. Between February 10th and
11th the thene of the internet searches |argely
transition to school shooting related naterial,
speci fic shootings such as Marshal County
again, Red Lake Senior H gh School, a Rolling
Stones article on the AR 15 becom ng the nass
shoot ers weapon of choice, and then again, you
know, pornography, school shooters. He
searched Dol | ar Tree Parkl and where he worked,
the Virginia Tech Massacre, the Col unbine
Diary, the Virginia Tech shooting, again
Col unbi ne, several on Col unbi ne.

This is a video from February 11, 2018 at
1:47 in the afternoon.

(Thereupon, the follow ng video
is played in the open neeting.)

CRUZ: Today is the day, the day that it

all begins, the day of ny massacre shall begin.
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All the kids in the school will run, and fear,
and hide. Fromthe wath of ny power they wll
know who | am | amnothing. | amno one. M
life is nothing and neaningl ess. Everything
that | hold dear |I |et go beyond your hath,
every day | see the world endi ng anot her day.
| live alone life, life in seclusion and
solitude. | hate everyone and everything.
Wth the power of ny AR you will all know who |
am | had enough of being told what to do and
when to do. | had enough of being, tell ne
that 1'man idiot and a dunbass. \Wen in real
life you' re all the dunbass, you're all stupid
and brai nwashed by these fucking political
governnent prograns. You wll all see. You
will all know who ny nane is. M love for you,
Angie, wll never go away. | hope to see you
in the afterlife. Fromone day or another you
will end, and we will all die.

(Thereupon, the video concludes, and the proceedi ngs

continue as follows:)
SGI. SUESS: A few minutes |ater --
MR. SCHACHTER: Can | -- can | ask a

questi on?

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir.
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MR. SCHACHTER: Who -- was Angie his ex-
girlfriend?

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir.

MR. SCHACHTER: Has she been interviewed?

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir.

MR. SCHACHTER: Do we have testinony from
her? Do we have testinony fromher? Has the
conmm ssi on seen that?

SGI. SUESS: The conmm ssion as a whole |
don't believe has. The interview has been
revi ewed by Detective Lyons, and there were
some excerpts fromthat included yesterday I
bel i eve.

MR. SCHACHTER: Did -- did he nake any
calls? Ddw -- did we look at his call |o0gs?

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir.

MR. SCHACHTER: And can you refresh ny
menory?

SGT. SUESS: That's going to be covered
here shortly.

MR. SCHACHTER: Ckay. GCkay, thank you.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir.

(Thereupon, the following video is played in the
open neeting.)

CRUZ: M nane is Nk, and I'"'mgoing to be
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next school shooter of 2018. M goal is at
| east twenty people with an AR-15 and a coupl e
tracer rounds. | think I can do a, get done.
The | ocation is Stoneman Dougl as in Parkl and,
Florida. It's going to be a big event, and
when you see ne on the news we'll all know who
| am You're all going to die, pew, pew, pew,
pew, pew. Ah, yeah, | can't wait.
(Thereupon, the video concludes, and the proceedi ngs
continue as follows:)

SEN. BOOK: Did these just live on his
phone?

SGI. SUESS: Yes, ma'am There is no
i ndi cation they were transmtted to anybody
el se. Then the foll ow ng days, February 12th
and 13th, again that video |I referenced which
glorifies school shootings he's accessed. The
school shooting thene continues, Col unbi ne.
There is actually an active shooter training
vi deo by the Col unbus Police Departnent in
CGeorgia that he accessed. The video -- it was
a pretty long video. W have no way to know
whet her he watched the whole thing or not.

There was quite an interest in Eastern

Eur opean and Russian mlitary. | don't know
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where that stenms from A video that is titled
| Put SpongeBob Miusic Over a School Shooting,
and then you can again just see sone of these
search phrases, specifically how |l ong does it
take for a cop to show up at a school shooti ng.
He identified a school shooting in Finland, and
t hen searched the phrase | want to die.

Continuing wwth his internet history,
agai n that Punped Up Ki cks song, additional
videos just really consistent with the sane
t henes that you' ve seen throughout.

MR. SCHACHTER: |'m sorry, can you j ust
ask, answer ne, so the Punped Up Kicks, that's
related to Col unbi ne?

SGI. SUESS: It is. In a mnute, and
you'll see an excerpt of it. And so
essentially what sonebody did is they have
taken a made for TV novie and dubbed over the
audio, if I'"'musing the correct phrase, M.
Ellis, about, taking the song and dubbed it
over this made for TV novie. You'll see an
excerpt here in a second. It may help
understand - -

MR. SCHACHTER: It's a -- it's a -- oh,

okay, it's a novie about Col unbi ne?
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SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir. But it's -- but
not a docunentary, it's a reenactnent, a
dramati zati on.

Airsoft guns were a pretty common history.
There were sone videos about, you know, sort of
stand your ground type cases, |aw enforcenent
of ficers having to shoot assailants, and then a
song titled Kill Everybody by Skrill ex.

A screenshot from his phone on
shoot ersnetwor k. com Just an excerpt fromthat
song Kill Everybody.

Here are sonme of the phrases fromthat
song Punped Up Kicks, and in a second you'll
see, it's a very brief segnent of that video.

(Thereupon, the follow ng video is played in the
open neeting.)

SONG All the other kids with the punped
up kicks better run, better run, 1'Il grab ny
gun, "Il --

(Thereupon, the video concludes, and the proceedi ngs
continue as follows:)

SGT. SUESS: So February 13th, the night
before the shooting at 10: 06 p.m he searched
Marj ory Stoneman Douglas H gh School. A few

m nutes | ater he accessed on YouTube a nusic
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video by an artist naned Token. The nane of
the video is Exception. And so after reading
the lyrics and watching the video it
essentially explains the story of a kid who's
bullied at school repeatedly naned Andy. It
shows that after several instances of being
bullied, or beat up, Andy returns to the school
and shoots the two bullies.

MR. SCHACHTER: And do we have evi dence
that he was bullied? | nmean it sounds |ike he
was the bully.

SGT. SUESS: | think it depends on who you
ask honestly. W -- we've -- we've had people
sort of give us both sides of that coin.

SEN. BOOK: When -- when we tal ked
earlier, and we've | ooked at a lot of this
stuff, it was sort of like indiscrimnate. He
wasn't targeting a particular person, it was
really just, you know, and even he says |, ny
goal is twenty, twenty people, not this
i ndi vidual, this individual who hurt nme. And
no witings, |like the journals that he kept, or
anything that targeted any particul ar
I ndi vi dual or a group of students, correct?

SGI. SUESS: Yes, ma'am the thenes were
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made t hroughout, and we worked closely with
BSO s hom ci de detectives, and there's, there's
no i ndication he was targeting any i ndividual .
Qovi ously he has sone thoughts on different
races, but there's no indication he was
targeting any specific race or individual.

CHAIR No, and there were --
unfortunately it seens |ike everybody who was
shot was just in the wong place at the wong
time, because there was, there were sone
boyfriends, or forner boyfriends of
girlfriends, or current ex- girlfriends, et
cetera, so there was a | ot of discussion about
that, but there's absolutely no indication that
anybody who was shot was targeted by him

SEN. BOOK: Well, and | think he -- | know
that this is com ng up, but, you know, TJ, he
asks himlike where, what classroomare you in,
you know, where are you, so --

CHAIR Right, that's comng up. That's
comng up. And that's -- and that -- and
that's TJ Snead who he was living with, and it
seens |ike nore than likely --

SEN. BOOK: He wanted to nake sure he
didn't --
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CHAIR -- is that he didn't want to shoot
Snead.

SEN. BOOK: Ri ght.

CHAIR Is probably what that was. So
we'll, yeah, we're -- John is going to get into
that. Go ahead.

SGI. SUESS: So about the Sneads, their
interview wwth BSO we took sone of the
excerpts fromthat, and |'mnot going to go
t hrough these point by point, it's laid out
pretty, pretty clearly. But it sounds to be a
fairly normal setup in that residence, in the
sense that they realized that Cruz was down and
out on his luck, trying to give hima place
where he could lay his head essentially.

They -- Kinberly Snead, the nother, had
seen himthe night before. |In that interview
she didn't really coment on his deneanor,
whet her he seened angry, indifferent, happy,
anyt hing along those lines. She -- JT did
descri be that Cruz had been depressed for
nont hs, which he attributed to the death of his
not her. They referenced again the fact that
Cruz didn't drive, cook, or do laundry, largely

dependent on ot her people, and indicated they
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had no reason to believe that Cruz was a threat
to anybody, and no indication that he would do
sonmething like this.

So we're going to focus on February 14th
based on N kolas Cruz's internet activity, and
then identifying his travels through the Uber
records, and then also through his cell phone
| ocation. So beginning that norning at 6:59
this is just sone of the different types of
sites that he visited, references to the KKK
and Nazi rel ated thenes, the anine,
por nogr aphy, the knife gane again. He googl ed
Par kl and, Florida and the Dol lar Tree, as well
as school shooter, and again accessed the
Punped up Kicks song by Foster the People.

9:17.11 he attenpted a call to JT Snead,
but there's no indication that that phone cal
was successful, and then that call was serviced
by a tower just west of the Snead residence, so
you see on the nmap the approxi mate | ocation of
t he Snead residence, the approxinate | ocation
of the tower, that red, or, I'msorry, black
angl ed graphic, and then its relation to
St oneman Dougl as on the bottom | eft corner.

Shortly thereafter he engaged in a text
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conversation with JT Snead. There were again,
up until really just mnutes before all of his
cell phone activity is fromthe Snead
residence. There's no indication that he left
t he house that norning, an innocuous
conversation about letting the dog out. Cruz
told JT that is boss called himand said he did
not have to work that day.

Shortly thereafter Cruz made a call to the
Dol | ar Tree, seventeen seconds. Between 12: 00
and 1: 00 p.m Cruz engaged in text
conversations with JT and an ex-girlfriend.
The ex-girlfriend was saved in Cruz's phone as,
guote, warning love of your life, end quote.
There was no nane attributed to that. W know
who he was addressing, but again in an interest
to try and protect her identity we are not
using her nane. He nmade a single call to her
t hat was not answered. Cruz and JT engaged in
a conversation about whether or not sonme fenale
friends are going to be com ng over |ater that
night for a bonfire. Again, it's Valentine's
Day.

Bet ween 1: 00 and 2: 00 the text

conversations continued with JT and the
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ex-girlfriend.
resi dence.
ends, which class JT is in,

of JT's teacher.

to his ex-girlfriend, but she did not

during that tine.

Bet ween 2: 00 and 2: 08 Cruz exchanged si x

text nmessages with his ex-girlfriend.

still

got on his case for texting himtoo nuch,

not respecting her, and then

| oves her, and al ways know I
bet ween 2: 08.44 and 2:10. 02,
or |l ess the wi ndow when Cruz

resi dence,

exchanged with JT and his ex-

cell
Snead resi dence.
eat well, sleep well,
continue in conversations,
that she had a boyfriend.
SHER. ASHLEY:
SGI. SUESS:

Yes, sir.

SHER. ASHLEY: |Is JT at

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir,

Cruz is still
Cruz asked Snead what tine schoo
and about the name

There were very brief texts

at the Snead residence.

there is twelve text nessages
activity changes to a tower east of the
He tells his ex-girlfriend
and behave wel | .

asking i f he knows

Excuse ne.

he was at school .
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at the Snead

reply

He is
She nore or |ess
and
he says that he

| ove you. So

and this is nore
starts | eaving the

girlfriend. The

They

school ?
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SHER. ASHLEY: WAs he in Building 12?

SGI. SUESS: No, sir. Oher -- other side
of canpus.

SHER. ASHLEY: Was anybody that Cruz knew
in Building 12 that we know of at this point?

SGI. SUESS: | think we've identified --

SHER. ASHLEY: It was the freshman
bui I ding, | was just wondering why he picked
Bui | di ng 12.

MR. SCHACHTER: No, there were seniors
there as well.

SGI. SUESS: The speculation on nmy part is
just the location. | nmean it's easy to access,
it's in that far northeast corner near the
gates. There's no indication he's targeting
any single individual.

So you can see this |ocation, the tower
that his cell phone is now picking up the
signal of, has noved to the east. Between
2:10.09 and 2:14.05 Cruz exchanged twenty-three
text messages with JT and his girlfriend.

These all transitioned to a tower south of the
Snead residence, so Cruz is continuing his path
of travel south getting closer to the camnpus.

Cruz told JT that he was going to go see a
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novi e, which angers JT because he had convi nced
these girls that they were going to cone over

| ater that night. And then Cruz continues with
just the admring and flattering texts which
he's sending to his ex-girlfriend. You see the
tower now a little further south of the Snead
resi dence.

CHAIR Before you -- and |I don't know,
just on a -- he says in there it's too late
now, it's the second tine he's said that.

SGT. SUESS: Right.

CHAIR And so it seens like at this
poi nt, you know, where he's waffling, going to
t hese sites about hom cidal therapists, et
cetera, by the tine he | eaves the house he's
made up his mnd what he's doing. Keep going,
John.

SGI. SUESS: So as a rem nder, Cruz was
dropped of f at approximtely 2:19 by the Uber,
so between the, just a couple m nutes | eading
up to that, and then on to 3:45.52, there were
twenty- three text nmessages and then m ssed
calls, so calls comng into Cruz's phone. Al
this data was serviced off of a tower southeast

of Stoneman Douglas. North Community Park was
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just south of the Sawgrass Expressway.

He sent two text nessages to the ex-
girlfriend saying that he | oves here. The |ast
outgoing text to JT were 2:18.46 where he says
you, and then seconds later, tell. W don't
know what that neans. Don't know if he was
interrupted. It doesn't nmake sense, and
there's no clear explanation for what he was
trying to say at that point.

Al'l remaining activity were incomng texts
and phone calls. And again just a rem nder,
2:21 was the tine in which Cruz entered
Building 12, and at 3:36 is the tinme in which
he was detai ned by | aw enforcenent,
approximately. That's the tower which all of
that activity took place on.

SEC. KAPUSTA: Sheriff.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir. M am

SEC. KAPUSTA: May | ask?

CHAIR  Yes, Comm ssioner, go ahead.

SEC. KAPUSTA: Did the ex-girlfriend
i ndi cate that as soon as she heard what was
happeni ng on canpus that she suspected
anyt hi ng?

SGI. SUESS: No, ma'am | don't believe

800-726-7007
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so. |I'mnot sure. GCentlenmen, correct nme if
["mwong. |'mnot sure we cane across anyone
that in any way expected this, to the point
where they actually thought he would do it.
There were people who said they weren't
terribly surprised, but, you know, they're not
surprised in hindsight, but having the
forethought, | don't think anybody did.

CHAIR Wll, there's one person in Chris'
presentati on yesterday who was fleeing the
canmpus who did nake reference to him who said
that | thought he would be the shooter, when
she saw himexiting. So there was -- there was
at | east one who nade that reference. That was
I n the presentation yesterday.

SEC. SENNFOR:  To Cruz hinself, right,
saying --

MR. SCHACHTER: Yeah.

SEC. SENNOR: To Cruz hinsel f.

CHAIR Wiat's that?

SEC. SENIOR  She said that to Cruz
hi msel f, right?

CHAIR  Yeah, said that to Cruz, because
she was in the pack as they were | eaving the

canmpus, and she thought that if there was a
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shooting, | thought it'd be you. And that was
i n Detective Lyons' presentation yesterday. o
ahead.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir. So to reiterate,
there was one firearmthat was used during the
shooting that AR-15 style rifle, and he only
had one firearmon him a Smth & Wesson Model
MP15. It's a sem-automatic firearm There
were a sling and bi-pod attached to the rifle.
It was purchased on February 11, 2017 at
Sunrise Tactical Supply in Coral Springs. This
is the firearmwhich he used, and sone of the
magazi nes that were recovered you see have
swasti kas etched onto the side of them

The additional six firearnms which Cruz
owned are, are listed here. The -- one of the
shot guns that he had al so had swasti kas etched
on the buttstock. These firearns were stored
at the Snead residence, and then sone ot her
ones at a friend s house, Hunter MCutchen.

So Janes Snead in his interview said that
he had guns hidden at the residence, but he was
under the inpression that Cruz did not know
where they were. Sone of them were hidden in

the closet where Cruz was staying. They knew
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that Cruz had nultiple guns. They were kept in
a safe. Janes had a key, and it's not
perfectly clear | would say whether Cruz had a
key or not. The sal esman who sold the safe to
Cruz recalled the transaction, and believed
that there were two guns, or I'msorry, two
keys that came with this safe.

Janes Snead, the father, was under the
| npression that the guns and ammo were all kept
safe fromone another. JT, Cruz's friend knew
that Cruz had his own ammo stash that he could
have accessed at any point. Cruz kept his guns
and ammo in a safe inside of his room and
Janmes Snead descri bed Cruz as having an
I nterest and appreciate for guns.

That concludes this presentation. [|'m
happy to answer any questi ons.

CHAIR. M. Schachter, go ahead.

MR. SCHACHTER: \When was the nurderer
removed from school, or when was his |ast day,
do we, withdrawn from MSD, do we know that?

SGT. SUESS: It was in February of '18.

CHAIR ' 17.

SGI. SUESS: |'msorry, '17.

MR. SCHACHTER: It was '"17. H's -- his

800-726-7007

Veritext Legal Solutions

305-376-8800



© 00 N o o~ wWw N

N N N N N N P B P PP R R R R
a A W N BB O © 0O N O 0o~ W N+, O

Page 180

trip wwth Uber, was this his first Uber trinp,
or had he made many others, do we have any --

SGI. SUESS: | don't know for certain. |
don't have a specific answer for that, sir.

MR. SCHACHTER: And that was using his,
his nmother's, his nother had al ready passed
away, whose credit card was that Uber attached
to?

SGI. SUESS: So he had sone access to his
not her's account. | don't know the
subscription informati on on that specific Uber
account .

MR. SCHACHTER: He -- he obviously, did he
- - in his wallet did he have multiple credit
cards, or --

SGI. SUESS: | don't recall

MR. SCHACHTER: And the noney, the noney
that he got to buy all these weapons, was that
-- | remenber $7,000 was taken out of his
not her's account, but was that used to buy
t hese weapons? Do we have any idea where he
got the nmoney to buy these weapons?

CHAIR | don't know, but he was -- we do
know t hat he was working at Dollar Tree, and I

think his wages as Dollar Tree during the tine
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he worked there -- and they considered himto
be a fine enployee, they had no issues with
him or what he did. | think he nmade about
$6, 500 at Dol lar Tree, so he was buyi ng weapons
during the time he worked at Dol lar Tree as
wel | .

MR SCHACHTER: Does that account for the
cost of these weapons?

CHAIR Hard to tell. Sen. Book.

SEN. BOOK: Thank you, M. Chair. | have
a qui ck question. This presentation, it says
t hat he purchased this weapon on February 11th,
and then | renmenber because | took note, that
in Detective Lyons' presentation that the
mur der weapon was purchased on February 18t h,
which is significant because that was al so the
date that Lynda Cruz adopted himofficially.
So | was just |ike wondering like are, like
when |i ke you | ook at the psychopathy of this
I ndi vidual, or the, you know, |ike, sort of
like the history, so | was just wondering is
that just an, an error, or was it different
dates, like different weapons, or --

SGT. SUESS: I'Il verify it over our |unch

br eak.
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SEN. BOOK: kay.

CHAIR  Comm ssi oner Nel son, go ahead.

CH EF NELSON: On Page 61, or Slide 61,
you said that he had twenty-three text nessages
and ten mssed calls. Ws there anything
significant to the ten m ssed calls?

SGI. SUESS: Sone of them as best | recall
were the Sneads trying to |ocate himnuch
| onger after the shooting. | nean there was --
there were sone where the radio traffic, people
had accessed, for instance there was a
gentl eman on the west coast who was |i stening
to BSO s radio traffic, heard that BSO
broadcasted Cruz's phone nunber, and a
gentl eman texted Cruz basically saying, you're
goi ng to get caught, | hope you have a good
time in prison. So it's -- | nean there's
peopl e around the country that had done that.

CH EF NELSON: Thank you.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir.

CHAIR  And -- and M. Snead had been
contacted, you'll see this later too, he had
been contacted by Broward Sheriff's Ofice. He
was working with the Sheriff's Ofice to try

and find Cruz, and so there were calls. Sone
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of those calls were | aw enforcenent generated
calls to try and find himbefore he was taken
i nto custody. Go ahead, one nore.

MR. SCHACHTER: Yes. You know we've seen
in alot of these nurders their obsession wth
Col unmbine. W -- we saw recently that this,
anot her murderer who had an obsession wth
Dyl an Kl ebold and Eric Harris killed seventeen
peopl e in Chechnya. | see a |ot of, you know,
a lot of, he |ooked at a | ot of different
school shootings. Do you think that he was
obsessed with, with Colunbine in particul ar,
and those nmurderers just in general?

SGI. SUESS: | don't think I'min a
position to make that conclusion. Wat | can
tell you is he | ooked at Col unbine a | ot,
probably nore so than the other ones.

CHAIR Al right, thanks, John. So we're
going to break for lunch. W'I| start again at
1:15. So we'll be in recess until 1:15.

(Thereupon, the neeting is in recess, and the
proceedi ngs continue as follows:)

CHAIR. Al right, we'll go ahead and get
started. W' re now going to begin hearing

about the | aw enforcenent response. This
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presentation will take us through the rest of
the day today, and into tonmorrow. We'Ill use
the same format. | just ask that you hold your

guestions unless they're clarifying questions,
and we'll spend a lot of tine on this, it's a
very inportant topic, and sonething that we've
been waiting to get to. So I'lIl turn it back
over to Sergeant Suess, and he'll begin. John.
PRESENTATI ON LAW ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE TO MSDHS
SHOOTI NG
SGT. SUESS:. Thank you, Sheriff. Senator
Book, to clarify, so the firearm it was
pur chased on February 11th. It was not
rel eased to himuntil February 18th, so that
explains the disparity in dates. So to explain
a couple of things quickly, each of you were
given essentially a presentation guide. You'l
see that there's an animation here. It
i dentifies what color dots represent certain
peopl e, or which organization they're from
There are sonme, what |'ve identified as
significant tines on there. Arguably every
time is significant in the way this played out.
These are sone of the nore inportant ones.

You al so have the sane map the sanme nmap
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that is depicted on this board, so if you want
to reference that it's directly in front of

you, as well as the three story map of Buil ding
12 which is on the board behi nd Comm ssi oner
Bartlett. And lastly, there's a blueprint of
Building 1 which is quite relevant, and we'l|
address that in a little nore detail |ater.

So as a review this presentation is going
to largely provide the comm ssion with the
answers specific to Topics 5 and 6, the | aw
enforcenent response. Those were the topics
t hat the conm ssion agreed upon early on,
several nmonths ago. W're going to cover the
on- canmpus response by Deputy Scot Peterson, and
t he of f-canpus response by the Broward
Sheriff's Ofice, Coral Springs Police
Departnent, as well as sone additional
agenci es.

These are the investigative sources that
we have made use of throughout the
i nvestigation. W have not interviewed every
person related to this event. Sone interviews
that were conducted by BSO, for exanple, we've
had those transcripts, and we've nade use of

those. If one individual required a follow up
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then we | ocated them and asked those clarifying
guestions. | would like to point out that both
the Broward Sheriff's Ofice and Coral Springs
Pol i ce Departnent have cooperated with us
fully, and seem ngly w thout any hesitation,
and given us everything that we've asked for.

Sheriff GQualtieri referenced yesterday the
challenge in the tinme analysis. W were
wor ki ng of f of many systens that have different
tinme stanps, and so in sone ways that was
probl ematic, but all these tinmes have been
reconciled to an extrenely small margin of
error, a few seconds at nost. It is inportant
to notice that the body caneras that the
Broward County Sheriff's Ofice deputies wear,
they sync each tine the user docks their
specific canera. So for exanple, if Detective
A docks it weekly and Detective B docks it
monthly there could be sonme tine creep there
where their times could be off by a substantia
amount. W have accounted for that as best we
can t hough.

MR. SCHACHTER: Coral Springs does not
wear a body canera, right?

SGI. SUESS: Correct. Yes, sir. Br owar d
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Sheriff's Ofice issues sone of their deputy's
body cans, and we'll get to the specifics on
that in a nonent. You may hear us refer to
t hem as body cans, body worn cans, BWCs.
They're work in the center of the chest
typically, and you can see an exanple there on
the vest of one of the sergeants. At tines
their hands, or if their rifle is slung in
front of them it obstructs the view, so keep
that in mnd if, if it goes black for a nonent.
It requires the user to activate the
canmera prior to it beginning the recording
process. There are very few caneras that ran
for the duration of the response. There are
sone that were turned off intentionally later
on the process after the | aw enforcenent
function, nore or |less the active response has
come to an end. Sone were accidentally turned
off by rifle slings, deputies address that in
their reports, but then you would see that they
woul d turn them back on shortly thereafter. W
have no indication that anything significant
was |l eft out, or that this was intentional on
anyone's part.

So the imense challenge in this
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presentation in this investigation is due to
the size of the canpus, the nunber of students,
t he nunber of |aw enforcenent personnel for
mul ti ple agencies, as well as fire rescue

per sonnel and school admi nistrators. There are
a lot of things happening at the exact sane
time at different |ocations on canpus, SO in
putting that together, obviously that has

hel ped us piece together a |lot of the

i nformation that we needed.

Conveying that to you is difficult, so as
we go through this keep in mnd there are
al ways ot her things happening at other tines.
This presentation may nake this seemlike this
t ook hours upon hours to fold out. It was a
very brief incident in the grand schene of
t hi ngs.

In the top left of nearly every side
you'll see two tinme, two tinestanps basically,
so the one in black will be your actual tine,
and the one in parenthesis will be a running
clock that's respective to the first shots. It
wll beinredif it is prior to the first
shots, and will transition back to black when

it 1s after Cruz has fired the first shots.
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As | referenced earlier there's a |l ot of
t hi ngs happening at the sane tine, so please
keep that in mnd. For exanple, fromthe first
shots until Cruz goes to the second floor is
just over, or just under two mnutes. The --
until Cruz begins firing on the third floor
it's just under three mnutes, and | aw
enforcenent enters Building 12 just after
el even mnutes. So please keep in mnd that
this is all happening very quickly.

Al maps that you see are oriented north.
There's going to be dots that represent certain
i ndi vidual s. These are approximations. You'l
see in particular there's an ani mati on where
there are noving dots. W have no way to
necessarily within reason cal cul ate how fast
any given person is noving. W may not know
where that person originated but we know when
they arrived, so they may be, it's an
estimation basically fromwhere they woul d have
started until they arrived at any given point.

As pointed out, so the yellow dots
represent students, the red dots represent MSD
staff, the green dots represent the Sheriff's

O fice, and Coral Springs PDis represented by

Veritext Legal Solutions
800-726-7007 305-376-8800



© 00 N o o~ wWw N

N N N N N N P B P PP R R R R
a A W N BB O © 0O N O 0o~ W N+, O

Page 190

bl ue. For those of you that are not famli ar,
so the Sheriff referenced this very early on in
the conmm ssion's neetings, |aw enforcenent is
anong the worst organi zations in using jargon
specific to our profession, so if we say

sonmet hing that needs clarification please |et
us know. To that end, green is typically
associated with the Sheriff's O fice, and bl ue
with | aw enforcenent, so that may hel p you,
give a little, help provide you a little

I nsi ght as we nove al ong.

It has not been lost on the investigators
that this was a very rapidly unfol ding event,
utter chaos. There's never going to be a
perfect | aw enforcenent response to any
I nci dent whatsoever. It doesn't matter which
organi zation i s approachi ng that incident.
There is a trenendous nunber of personnel and
novi ng parts happening in a very short period
of time, so please consider that as we are
i dentifying some of the issues that we've seen.
That being said, as mandated in those |last two
lines in the statute we've been given a job to
do, and we have done that.

To provide you with sone background, so
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j ust you understand how sone of these agencies
view their response to this incident, Broward
Sheriff's Ofice obviously had the Fort
Lauderdal e Airport shooting that occurred not

| ong ago at all. They experienced the sane
radi o probl em whi ch you' ve heard about at great
| ength. They also identified, and we heard
about it through the course of several

I nterviews, the part of the problemthey had
was the overwhel m ng response to the scene
itself resulted in congestion.

Cars parking really anywhere they could
find a spot was eventual ly problematic, that
energency vehicles couldn't nove about freely.
It's not specific to BSO, in the tine that
we' ve eval uated the MSD i ncident we've al so
| ooked at ot her mass casualty incidents, that's
a consistent theme, and sonething that |aw
enf orcenent agencies continue to work on.

So you're aware, Coral Springs Police
Department on February 14th, the chief at the
time was Tony Pustizzi. He announced his
retirenment the preceding Novenber. His fina
day was March 2nd. The current police chief is

Clyde Parry. He was one of two deputy chiefs
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on February 14th, so just so you understand
that was a ball that already had been set in
nmot i on.

It's inportant al so that you understand
that you do not equate the command post with
t he command bus. The | ocation of the command
post is sonething that was a source of
confusion in the | aw enforcenent response, so
just please don't see the command bus and
assune that nust be where the incident
commander is, where all the decisions are being
made.

Speci al Agent Massucci referenced
yesterday the rule of plus one, so just to give
you sone background on | aw enforcenent,
basically you al ways have to consider there's
an additional threat. So an exanple, if an
of ficer responds to a bank robbery and they
find a bad guy with a gun in the | obby you have
to assune there's one nore, or plus one, so
there's anot her bad guy behind the counter. |If
you find that second guy assune there's a third
one hiding in the bathroom So even when | aw
enforcenent | earns over the radio that Cruz has

fled they can't then just, you know, hol ster
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their guns, and assune everything is fine, they
still have to proceed as if there are

addi tional threats, whether it's another
shooter, |EDs, sonething to that affect.

Det ecti ve Bonasoro covered the MSD
background pretty thoroughly. Just to
reiterate, Broward SO provi des | aw enforcenent
services, and Coral Springs Fire provides fire
services for the Gty of Parkland. The
surveill ance caneras for Building 12 are notion
activated. As a result there are sonme tines
where there are gaps in footage. It's not a
result of it being edited or redacted in any
way, it's just if sonebody runs across the
screen but they're so far away the canera may
not pick it up, so you m ght not see that
person. At other tinmes, as sone of you saw on
t he video yesterday wthin Building 12, the
cloud of debris that fell fromthe ceiling
resulted in obscuring Cruz's novenent inside
t he buil di ng.

Bui | di ng 12 and buil ding, the 1200
Bui |l di ng, you'll hear those phrases used
I nt erchangeabl y, and code red and | ockdown,

again those often get used interchangeably.
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Det ecti ve Bonasoro covered at |ength the school
personnel adm ni strators.

That's the approxi mate | ocati on of
St onenman Douglas as it relates to Broward
County. The mmpjority of the comm ssion nenbers
have been up there. [It's, you know, just off
t he Sawgrass Expressway, which is a major
t horoughfare down here. To the left, or the
west, are the Everglades. And then to the
north is Pal m Beach County.

So on this canmpus nmap you see West gl ades
M ddl e borders Marjory Stoneman Dougl as Hi gh
School directly to the west. To the north is
Hol nberg Road. To the right, or the east, is
Pine |sland Road, or Coral Springs Drive.

Those phrases are often used in interviews, and

you' Il hear on body canms them used
I nterchangeably. If you're north of the
Sawgrass it's Pine Island. |If you're south

it's Coral Springs Drive. And then to the
south, again the Sawgrass Expressway.

There's two gates to the student parking
|l ot on the north end of canpus. |'mgoing to
refer to those as the west gate and east gate,

so if you hear ne say that, and | say west
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gate, please don't assune |I'mtalking about a
gate on the west side of canpus, it's just
those two gates on the north side.

Again to orient you, so you have the
tactical operations conmand, or the TOC
You'll hear that acronym used several tines.
It ended up being established north of Building
13, and eventually noved into Building 13. The
fire rescue command post was established at the
I ntersection of Pine Island Road and Hol nberg
Road. The nobil e conmand buses eventually join
up together near the southeast corner of canpus
on Pine Island Road near the bus |oop, and then
just south of that beneath the Sawgrass
Expressway you'll see there's the staging area.
And we'll go into nore detail about the role of
t hat staging area.

An overvi ew of sone of the significant
| ocations, so the MSD canpus is encircled with
the white dotted line. To the left, or west,
is the WValmart to which Cruz later fled, along
with a significant nunber of students. South
of that is a MDonal ds, where several students
fled there as well. Cruz went there, which we

wi |l cover, and | aw enforcenent pursued him
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there, just honestly mssing himby a few
m nut es.

And then further south, approximately two
mles fromthe MSD canpus, is the |ocation
where Cruz was arrested.

SEC. KAPUSTA: May | ask a question rea
gui ck?

SGI. SUESS: Yes, ma' am

SEC. KAPUSTA: Between the m ddl e schoo
and the high school, is there actually a road
or driveway there, or there is not, it's just
i ke a | and border?

SGI. SUESS: So -- yes, ma'am SO you see
just -- so there's two baseball, well, a
baseball field and a softball field, so the
one, the one further north, or the one closer
to the top, you'll see there's that roadway
t hat stops about halfway down. That's the
entrance to Westgl ades M ddl e School, and so
that stops, you nmake a right turn, or a
west bound turn, and then you can get closer to
canmpus, pick up your kids, what have you.

SEC. KAPUSTA: Thank you.

SGT. SUESS: Yes, ma'am So just backing

out further, this is the greater Broward County
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area. You wll see BSO headquarters in the
bottomright in the Gty of Fort Lauderdale.
They have nunerous satellite offices, or
district offices, and you'll see sone of those
in a mnute. Coral Springs PD, their
headquarters is much closer to MSD. And then
of course the MSD canpus very near the northern
border of Broward County.

Mar kham Park is a |arge park that seens to
serve many roles. It's inportant that you know
on February 14th the BSO SWAT team was there
training, so they were on duty, sonme of them
actually on the range practicing firing, so the
vast mpjority of BSO SWAT team responded from
Mar kham Park. 1t's about a nineteen mle
drive. Qbviously if you're going |lights and
sirens it's not going to take nearly as |l ong as
It would the rest of us.

On February 14th, these are the caneras
that were at Marjory Stoneman Dougl as Hi gh
School. This is not every single camera, but
these are the ones that were nost significant,
and pertinent to our investigation. Since
February 14th this system has been changed.

There are additional caneras, a great deal
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nunber of caneras that have been added, and
Within, with Building 12. Actually I'll cover
that here in a mnute.

So Senator Book, you referenced earlier
about Buil ding 12 being added, and Buil ding 13,
and obstructing certain views. So these are
the three caneras that were nost rel evant
around Building 12, and the approximate range
whi ch each of them covers. And we're going to
go through each of those to hel p you understand
alittle better about each canera.

So Building 13 you can see is on the
nort hwest corner, I'msorry, this Canera 28 is
on the northwest corner of Building 13 and
points to the northeast. |[It's a great angl e,
and in theory should cover a |ot of things, but
you can see that it is so far away fromcertain
val uabl e angels which we need it's hard to tel
when things are happening. W know there's a
great deal that happened in the di stance on
this canera, but it just, the sensitivity was
not great enough to pick up novenent. Those
two red dots that you see on there, or the red
oval s, those are people, and for all intents

and purposes they look like ants, so we really
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couldn't tell, certainly can't identify the
I ndi vidual , and you can hardly tell which
uni form which color uniformthey are weari ng.

Canmera 30 is in between Buildings 12 and
13. You can see it covers a very val uable
area, but it's also a very small area. It's a
smal | wi ndow whi ch that covers, but it does
provi de a great deal of insight about the
novenent of certain individuals.

On the southeast corner of Building 13 is
t he camera which has |argely been, |argely been
circul ated throughout the nedia. So that's on
t he sout heast corner of Building 13 facing to
the east. It picks up Deputy Peterson's
novenent, as well as other students and staff,
whi ch you'll see. Those -- the red circle in
t he distance are two | aw enforcenent officers.
Again, by and large we can't identify, you
know, what color uniformthey're wearing, or
whi ch agency they're affiliated wth.

Wthin Building 12 there are these
caneras, three on each floor, and then four
between the two stairwells. The caneras in the
stairwells cover, they overlap, so within

Bui l ding 12, absent in the classroons, so the
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hal | ways and the stairs we have very good
footage that gave us very clear information
about what happened inside that building.

So neither the Broward Sheriff's Ofice
nor the Coral Springs Police Departnent have
dash nmounted caneras within their vehicles, so
that's not a record we were able to access.
Deputies assigned to the Cty of Parkland did
not wear body caneras. That's an agreenent
reached between BSO and the Cty of Parkl and,
and sonet hing that potentially one of them may
be able to answer the why of that issue.
Deputies on the County budget in sonme contract
cities are issued body canms. Sone of the
Broward Sheriff's Ofice vehicles had GPS
records, and Coral Springs Departnent, Coral
Springs Police Departnent had GPS records.

CHAIR: It does seem-- on that issue,
just so, is that it seens to be, with the
contract cities it seens to be financially
driven, fromwhat we are hearing, and that my
be sonething, if anybody has the interest, but
It seens to be with equi pnent, that if the
contract city pays for it then the deputies

have it. So you do have inconsistent equi pnent
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anong the deputies in Broward County dependi ng
upon whet her, what contract city they're in, so
t hat woul d expl ain why sone of them had body
caneras and sone did not.

Yes, Sheriff, go ahead.

SHER. ASHLEY: And | think we know this,
or | think we've heard it before, the caneras,
were they, in the school, did they have a tine
del ay, or --

SGI. SUESS: No, sir. Those are
synchroni zed through the National Tine
St andard, sonething to that affect. And that
was really used as our baseline. W corrected
all other tines to match the school canera
system

CHAIR They weren't -- they weren't tine
del ayed, but they are, but they're notion
activated, so then there's a difference, but,
but they're not real tinme so they're not
continuously running. So when you go there you
may have it where it's, you know, 2:56, then
the next thing you see is 3:56 because there's
no noti on.

SHER. ASHLEY: There's no notion,

novenent .
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SHER. JUDD: And the assunption is that
t hese canmeras are not nonitored.

SGI. SUESS:. Correct. And just to
clarify, Sheriff Ashley, so the tinme delay has
obvi ously al ready been brought in the nedia
about, are they watching live footage or not.
We'll get to that part, and, and what led to
that confusion, but it's ny understandi ng that
there's no reason that any individual who knew
how to work the system couldn't go and watch
live feed, and then they could rewind if need
be.

SHER. ASHLEY: Thank you.

SGT. SUESS. Yes, sir. So this sane nap
again show ng the MsSD | ocation, and the
approxi mate | ocation of BSO s Parkland Di strict
Ofice. So Parkland for all intents and
purposes is essentially an island with Broward
County. It's surrounded by the Everglades to
t he west, Pal m Beach County to the north, and
then municipalities to the south and the east.
So those three municipalities, Coconut Creek,
Coral Springs, and then Margate, each have
their own police departnents. This is largely

the main reason Coral Springs was the initia
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responder in such great quantity, is sheer
proximty. The other nearest BSO deputies are
in these other districts, which are cities
contracted with Broward County.

So the school resource officer, or school
resource deputy was Deputy Peterson on February
14th. Deputy India was the SRO on the 14th at
West gl ades M ddle. He was at BSO s
headquarters in Fort Lauderdal e on that day
attending training. There was not a deputy
there in his place. SROs carry an agency radio
and a school radio. The school radios are not
recorded. Surveillance video shows that Deputy
Pet erson had both radios on himat the tinme of
the shooting. You wll hear in sone of the
body camtransm ssions, if a deputy with his
body camon is standing next to sonebody that
has a school radio we're able to pick up sone
of the school radio transm ssions, so that has
given us a little bit of insight, but that's,
that's very sporadic, and there's, we certainly
don't have a full accounting of what was
transmtted on the school radio.

So in amnute we're going to play an

animation, which | would |ike to thank M.
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Ellis and M. Sotullo, who worked diligently on
this, it far exceeds ny abilities wwth a
conmputer, but again despite having this
animation, which | think will clarify a |ot of
things, there's so nuch happeni ng at any given
time on this animation that it's stil
difficult to digest, so the plan is to play
this animation. |I'mgoing to stop it as
I nfrequently as necessary to point out key
noments to try and give you a concept of how
qui ckly this unfol ded. Tonorrow when this ends
we're going to play the aninmation again start
to finish with no interruptions. You should
have nore of a framework for how to
conceptual i ze this.

| want to point out a few things. So that
first yellow arrow, you see those soundwaves,
again green for the Sheriff's Ofice, blue for
| aw enforcenent, so if you hear radio traffic,
or a 911 call, associate that color with the
agency to which that is being attributed. The
time in the top left, again that's just a
runni ng clock of the actual tinme. The tinme at
the center is pretty self-explanatory, the tine

fromwhich the first shots were fired by Cruz.
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There's three bars there that indicate
where Cruz is within Building 12, and where he
is in ternms of which |evel he is | ocated on.
It doesn't identify east to west where he is,
but if you see on Building 12 the black dot
that says Cruz, that will give you a general
i dea of where he is east to west inside that
bui | di ng.

At the top right you wll see when the
fire alarns conme on, and then that wll
di sappear when the fire alarns have shut off.
It's a pretty brief period of tinme. And then
you see that orange canmera, so that orange
camera correlates to the surveillance video
that you see on the left side of the screen.
That orange canera will nove around dependi ng
on whi ch screen you are currently view ng.

(Thereupon, the video is played and narrated in the
open neeting.)

SGT. SUESS:. There is no audio currently,
it will conme on shortly, but this is the
approxi mate | ocation in which Mdina was
| ocated as Cruz arrives.

MR. SCHACHTER: |s he running?

SGT. SUESS:. It depends. He was noving
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quickly at least. | don't know if he was
exactly running at that point. So this is a
poi nt, approxi mately the point just before Cruz
enters the east side of Building 12. You'll
see Medina is directly next to that bike rack.
And you can see Medina on the screen in the
golf cart. So at approximtely this point
student Chris MKenna | eaves Building 12, runs
out the east doors north, and al ong the west
side. He's the yellow dot, and you'll see him
nmove here shortly. This is approximately the
sanme tinme that canpus nonitor Andrew Medi na
begins to drive north in his golf cart in the
general direction of the east side of Building
12. And we'll expand on that shortly.

So you see the white SUV? Just in front
of that is Chris MKenna. He's continuing to
run west, and you'll see him he neets up with
canmpus nonitor Aaron Feis within seconds.

(Thereupon, the audi o begins on the video.)

OPERATOR 911: 911, what's your energency?

CALLER. Hello, we're at Stoneman Dougl as
H gh School, and | think there's a shooter --
Hel | 0?

OPERATOR 911: Are you still there? Talk
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to ne pl ease.
(Thereupon, a dial tone is heard.)

OPERATOR 911: 911, what is your
emer gency?

CALLER: Yes, | just got a call from
Dougl as Hi gh School, a female --

(Thereupon, the video is paused and the narration
conti nues:)

SGT. SUESS: So you see at this point the
fire alarns are on. This is also the sane
poi nt that which canpus nonitor Chris Hi xon
enters the west end of Building 12.

(Thereupon, the video continues playing and the
followi ng audio is heard.)

-- on line, they believe there is a
shooter at the school.

Ckay, at Douglas H gh School in what city?
Yes, in Parkland. 5901 Pine Island. Ckay,
5901 Pine Island? Yes. Ckay, let ne see if
they're working anything there. And it's
second hand information froma student?

A female -- a female called in. It
sounded |i ke possible shots in the background.
| think | heard five or six in two different

bur st s.
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17Juliet3, 17Bravo3, 17Bravo4 --

(Thereupon, the video is paused and the narration

conti nues:)

SGT. SUESS: So you see on the sout hwest
edge of Building 6 there's a red dot for canpus
monitor Elliot Bonner. One of the
conm ssioners asked earlier, | don't recall
about other canpus nonitors responding to
hearing the radio traffic, so we presune this
woul d have been canpus nonitor Bonner hearing
the radio traffic deciding | need to get to
Bui | di ng 12.

CHAIR And this is at that point that we
t al ked about where, because you hear Peterson,
this is the transm ssion we played yesterday
when Peterson says there's shots fired, and you
can see Peterson has been dropped off by Medina
and G eenleaf, and this is where Peterson is at
t he east door, and those shots he's talking
about, as you'll see Hi xon had been shot in the
| eg, as you saw yesterday, and he had noved
over to the wall, and then Cruz is noving down
t here.

So this is -- so this is where Peterson is

when he hears those shots, he's right at the
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east door.
(Ther eupon, the video continues playing and the
following audio is heard.)

We have possible -- it could be
firecrackers. | think we got shots fired.
Possi bl e shots fired, 1200 Buil di ng.

Attention all units in District 15,

possi bl e shots fired at 5901 Pine |sland Road

at St oneman Dougl as Hi gh School, possible shots

fired at Stoneman Dougl as.
(Thereupon, the video is paused and the narration
conti nues:)

CHAIR Stop it right there. See right
there where you see, that's Peterson
hightailing it away fromthe door, fromthose
shots. Those images you see right there,
that's, that's Peterson.

SGI. SUESS: And next to himis Kelvin,
excuse nme, Kelvin Greenleaf, the security
speci al i st.

(Thereupon, the video continues playing and the
followi ng audio is heard.)

En route -- 1584 en route. 17Juli et 3,
make sure we got different units over here.

need to shut down Stonenman Dougl as, the
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I ntersection.

10-4. 1729 is en route -- 10-4. --
what's the address? 5901 Pine Island.
17Juliet3, we're tal king about the 1200
building. |It's going to be the building off of
Hol nber g Road.

| need descriptions, |I'mcomng up on
West gl ades M ddl e.

We don't have any description yet, we just
hear shots, but it appears to be shots fired.

' mover on the south side over by the 700
bui | di ng.

Tango -- shutting down eastbound Hol nmberg
at the divide of Wstglades and the high
school .

17Bravol, I'Il get the west side of
St oneman on Hol nber g.

(Thereupon, the video is paused and the narration
conti nues:)

SGT. SUESS: So at this point canpus
noni t or Bonner is approaching the sout hwest
corner of Building 12. Being a veteran he
recogni zes what he hears to be gunshots, sees
Coach Feis lying on the ground, and within

seconds, and it will be identified here, is
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when he calls the first code red, three m nutes

and si xteen seconds after Cruz began firing.

following audio is heard.)

7Juliet4 responding. Julia -- Tango2, |
hear shots fired by the football field. Shots
fired by the football field. Shots fired by
the football field heard. 17Juliet3, we're
| ooki ng at the 1200 building. It's going to be
the 300 building. It's going to be right off
of Hol nberg Road by the senior |ot.

Get the school |ocked down, gentl enen.
Attention all units now working this Signal 33,
go to Bravo channel for regular traffic. Some
students say they thought it was firecrackers,

but we're not sure, by the football field.

conti nues:)
SGI. SUESS: So in the northwest corner of
t he student parking |lot you see the yellow dot.
That's Kyl e Laman, who suffered not fatal
injuries. That's an approximation of his
| ocation. He know sonewhere in that parking
| ot Sergeant Heinrich from Coral Springs, the

of f- duty sergeant net up with him and would
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eventually help himwest fromthat | ocation,
and | ater neet up with sone BSO deputi es.

MR. SCHACHTER: So Kratz just stays there?

CHAIR M. Schachter, you have to speak
into the m crophone.

MR. SCHACHTER: Ckay. So O ficer Kratz,
he just stays there?

SGI. SUESS:. Deputy Kratz, in that genera
area, but we are going to very thoroughly vet
that issue. W're going to talk about it at

| engt h.

(Thereupon, the video continues playing and the

followi ng audio is heard.)
W al so heard it was over by inside the
1200 building. W're |ocking down the schoo
right now Make sure there's no pedestrian
traffic anywhere on Hol nberg Road.
-- 51 Unit advising 51 --

(Thereupon, the video is paused and the narration

conti nues:)

SGT. SUESS: So at this point, you'll hear
the radio transm ssion in a second, is when
Sergeant Reid by pure happenstance cones across
a Coral Springs Fire Deputy Chief running down

the hall of the shared adm nistration buil ding,
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and that's what pronpts Coral Springs to then
respond. Realize that at this point N kol as
Cruz is inthe third floor teacher's | ounge.
Everyone has al ready been shot.
(Thereupon, the video continues playing and the
following audio is heard.)

| just had one of the fire adm n go by ne
and make reference to an active shooter at
Dougl as. Anything to that?

10-4 Taylor23, we are, there is an active
shoot er working at Douglas, multiple gunshots

are being fired.

(Thereupon, the video is paused and the narration

conti nues:)

SGI. SUESS. So at this point this body
camis from Deputy Stanbaugh, so he's already
exited his vehicle, and you'll see this video
again in particular. So he's at the rear of
hi s agency vehicle getting his ballistic vest.
You'll see he puts it on over the canmera, then
noves it and then puts it on the front of his
vest. This canmera actually records Cruz, the
| ast gunshots which Cruz fired, the audio,
whi ch sort of hel ps you understand, again

Conmmi ssi oner, as you pointed out, the proximty
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(Thereupon, the video continues playing and the

(Thereupon, the video is paused and the narration
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I n which Peterson had to Building 12. Deputy
St anbaugh is nmuch further away, so it calls
I nto question Deputy Peterson's statenent about

how much he heard and when he heard it.

following audio is heard.)
We can hear themin the background. Qur
911 lines are blowng up. W have nmultiple
units on the phone. Sone are giving EMD, and
It 1s confirmed. (unintelligible) -- shot being

fired. Al units --

continues:)

SGI. SUESS: So when Cruz fired that final
shot, starting on the left, Deputy Eason was at
West gl ades M ddl e, Deputy Kratz was on Hol nberg
al ong with Deputy Stanbaugh, Sergeant Ml er,
Deputy Seward. Deputies Gool sby and Perry were
at a gate in the process of com ng south
towards Buildings 12 and 13.

MR. SCHACHTER: Can | -- can | ask you a
guesti on?

SGI. SUESS: Yes.

MR. SCHACHTER: It seens |like --

CHAIR Into the m crophone, M.
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Schacht er.

MR. SCHACHTER: It seens -- it seens |ike
there's a lot of BSO just at the top of the
screen, and it seens like it's taking a | ong
time for themto get inside, but is that just
because we've stopped the canera?

SGT. SUESS: W're going to go through it
again, really on a second by second basis, and
| imagine it wll answer all your questions.

(Ther eupon, the video continues playing and the
following audio is heard.)

-- make sure nobody cones inside -- | need
aunit to -- Bravo3, we need sonebody to shut
down Hol mberg at Pine Island. Units to shut
down Hol nberg, advise. Holnberg' s shut down.
Bui l di ng 13 and the 900 building, we have shots
fired, I"'mtrying to get the fence open.

Bui | ding 13 and 900 building. No, do not
approach the 12 or 1300 buil di ng.

Stay at |east 500' away at this point.
Stay away from 12 and 1300 building. Units go
to the north side. Units go to the North side
of the school.

(Thereupon, the video is paused and the narration

conti nues:)
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SGI. SUESS. So Oficer Burton, as you see
there on the east side of Building 1, he's the
first on-duty Coral Springs officer to respond.
It's inportant to renenber he has heard nothing
t hat has been transmtted over BSO s radio, and
BSO had no indication that he is there, at
| east based off radio traffic.

(Ther eupon, the video continues playing and the
following audio is heard.)

-- 21 got avictimwth a gunshot to the
right leg. He's got a gunshot to the right
| eg, conme to the west end of the high school by

the football field.

(Thereupon, the video is paused and the narration

conti nues:)

SGI. SUESS. At this point you see, SO
north of the football/soccer field,
approxi mately at this point Deputy Marchese has
joined up with Sergeant Heinrich and Kyl e Laman
as they're on the south side of the fence and
he's on the north side of the fence. On Pine
| sl and Road you see Captain Jordan and
Li eutenant DeVita. They are riding in the sane
vehicle, and they ultimately pull into the

adm ni stration parking lot. And you'll see
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themlater on canmera. Actually as they pull in
you see Burton and Medi na continui ng north.
(Ther eupon, the video continues playing and the
following audio is heard.)

GSWright |l eg west end by the football
field.

Juliet39 Wiite male ROTC uniform \hite
mal e ROTC uniform  Burgundy shirt. Burgundy
shirt. Juliet39, last seen in the three story
bui |l di ng north parking | ot.

(Thereupon, the video is paused and the narration
conti nues:)

SGI. SUESS: So that information also
Burton got from Andrew Medi na. That
transm ssion by Oficer Burton, it cannot be
enphasi zed enough how nuch that inproved Coral
Springs' response. They got a very clear
direction, three story building, north side of
campus. It's the only three story building, so
even if you've never been there you know
exactly which building you need to go to.

(Thereupon, the video continues playing and the
followi ng audio is heard.)

The building in the north parking I ot.

Julia39, is he still shooting?
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Jacob saying it's a nmale in a hoodie. He
could not describe, wth at |east an AR-15,
it's not an AK-47.

-- 54 I"'mw th Douglas' SRO getting info.

(Thereupon, the video is paused and the narration
continues:)

SGT. SUESS: So at this point Oficer
Burton has taken up a position next to a tree
in the north parking lot, and you'll see
phot ographs of it shortly. He and Deputy
Peterson are able to communi cate at that point
just by yelling back and forth with one
anot her .

(Thereupon, the video continues playing and the
follow ng audio is heard.)

Sierra2 call out SWAT for them 10-4
Sierra2. -- north side of -- by Building 13 --
-- if you can hook up with Coral Springs
Di spatch, | was advised by one of their
of ficers possibly three additional victins in
the three story building, possible suspect with
an ROTC uniform hook up with them and verify.

(Thereupon, the video is paused and the narration
continues:)

MR SCHACHTER:  Sergeant.
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SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir.

MR. SCHACHTER: Can you tell ne why al
the officers were staging outside? I|s that
because he told everybody to wait 500 yards
away ?

SGT. SUESS: W spoke with each deputy, or
officer in sort of this what we'll call a first
wave, and they all gave their reasons, and
we're going to go through each of them shortly.

MR. SCHACHTER: Ckay.

CHAIR  Yeah, M. Schachter, just give
him just give himtinme on that. It's a
significant part of the presentation. This is
just the animation, so we're not even into the

presentation, so just give it tine.

(Ther eupon, the video continues playing and the

followi ng audio is heard.)
17Sierral -- 17Sierral -- | know there's
| ots going on. Do we have a perineter set up
ri ght now, and, and everybody's clearing out of
t he school ?

That's negati ve.

(Thereupon, the video is paused and the narration

continues:)

SGI. SUESS: So again that's the group of
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| aw enforcenent officers, the first wave
really, noving towards Building 12, but again
you can't really tell who is who. So you'l
noti ce throughout the presentation sort of

t hese groups of |aw enforcenent, both Cora
Springs and BSO joint together into different
groups. W refer to them by the nanme of the
person who really had taken charge of that
group. So this is the Mazzei group. You'll
see there's a Mock group, and a Garcia group.
The Mock and Mazzei groups are both blue, just
because at that point it was primarily Coral
Springs PD. There were BSO deputies within

t hese groups as wel|.

following audio is heard.)

17Sierral. 17Sierral -- -- nultiple gulf
units en route. @l f units are en route.
17Sierral go ahead. 17Sierral, | want to nake
sure that the perineter is set up, and it's
full -- all the kids are getting out, so we
need, we need to shut down around these
schools. -- have a place where we're setting
up for all the units comng into the area.

10-4. They advising that the school is on
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| ock --

We don't have a command post set up, we
have a perineter around it. W have two unit,
two teans going in checking right now.

10-4, which way are they going into the
school ?

Ending -- entering fromthe north side
t hrough the parking | ot, the students parking.

(Thereupon, the video is paused and the narration
conti nues:)

SGI. SUESS: So you see this group in the
sout heast corner of canmpus next to Building 1
forms, it's the Greetham group. He's a Broward
Deputy who has a body cam and anot her deputy,
Sergeant Rossman, show up at this | ocation.
They eventually are joined by Andrew Medi na and
Assi stant Principal Wnfred Porter. Those
caneras in that location is pivotal. This is
where the confusion over the delay in
survei |l l ance video originated, and we're going
to go through that thoroughly. But if you hear
us refer to the Greetham group, they're on the
east side of Building 1.

(Ther eupon, the video continues playing.)

SGI. SUESS. And you'll see there are
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tinmes where the animation is sped up just so it
doesn't drag on quite as |ong.
(Thereupon, the video concludes, and the proceedi ngs
continue as follows:)

SGI. SUESS: So that's where the aninmation
ends. You wll see that we wll cover, we'll
pick up at that point where Captain Jordan
joins up with Deputy Perry.

SHER. ASHLEY: Chair?

CHAIR  Yeah, Sheriff Ashley, go ahead.

SHER. ASHLEY: | don't know how difficult
it would be, but is there any way to take it
back to where Cruz | eaves Building 127

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir.

SHER. ASHLEY: I'mjust trying to see
where, if Peterson can see himfromhis
position | eaving the building.

SGI. SUESS: He had the opportunity.

Whet her he was | ooking that way or not | don't
know.
(Thereupon, the animation is replayed at the
speci fic portion.)

SHER. ASHLEY: |s Peterson -- Cruz --

after he cones out of the buil ding?

SGI. SUESS: No, sir. He nakes a left
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turn, and basically turns south between
Buil di ngs 12 and 13, and then nmakes a right
turn, so he's traveling west between Buil di ngs
13 and 6. So he would have had the vantage
point if he was |ooking that way.

CHAIR: So there's a sidewal k fromwhere
Cruz, where Peterson was by the 7-8 buil ding,
It's on the south side of the 12 building, so
it's like a, if you wll a sidewal k, an
al l eyway, but it's -- and so Cruz cones out of
the west end of the 13 building. Peterson
coul d have seen hi m because he zi gzagged, so he
conmes out like this and then goes this way, and
it's a straight line of site down there, so he
could have seen it if he was watching. Right
there, see, and Peterson -- and that's the --
that's the sidewal k, or that wal kway that
Peterson has a straight line, line of sight of
unobstructed if he's | ooking, and he wasn't
hunkered down behind the wall.

SHER. ASHLEY: Thank you.

SGT. SUESS. Yes, sir. So we're going to
go through Deputy Peterson's interview wth the
Broward Sheriff's Ofice. This took place on

Friday February 16th. Detective John Curci o,
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the lead investigator, interviewed Deputy
Peterson. It is vital to know the deputy, |I'm
sorry, Detective Curcio nor anyone else in the
Broward Sheriff's O fice had the chance to
review the school video. It had been turned
over to the FBI for themto do the forensic
extraction, so they would not have had the

I nformation to confront himabout inaccuracies
In his statenent.

CHAIR So just to bring that full circle,
because it's inportant, is, is that, and this
has cone up, is, and | know sonebody is going
to ask it, is, is that why didn't Broward act
sooner, is, is that all this video that you
just saw on the outside, all of it is, is that
t he server had been taken, and it had been
given to the FBI and sent to Quantico, and it
wasn't until the follow ng Tuesday after this
interview that the Broward Sheriff's Ofice
first put eyes on any of this video.

So when they were interview ng, and
Detective Curcio is interview ng Peterson, they
had nothing to inquire of Peterson about,
not hi ng to ask why are you saying this when the

video is inconsistent, nothing to base their
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gquestions on of Peterson, or to evaluate or
anal yze his answers agai nst, other than
Peterson said it, and they accepted it at face
val ue because they did not have this video.

It wasn't until they got access to the
video -- this is on a Friday. The shooting is
on a Wednesday. They interviewed himon
Friday. It wasn't until the follow ng Tuesday
that they actually got this video, so -- and
then after that Peterson refused to answer any
guestions, so the only statenents that we have
fromPeterson are the initial Friday 16th
statenents, and he has never been asked about
t hese contradictions that are in the video.
And so Broward had none of this when they
I nterviewed him

SGI. SUESS: So Deputy Peterson's
statenent was that he was waiting in or near
Building 1 for the father of a student to
arrive for an unrelated matter. He heard
Medi na on the school radio say that he thought
he heard firecrackers in Building 12. He says
that he ran out of his door and nmet up with
G eenl eaf, Kelvin Geenleaf, again, the

security specialist. He said that while he was
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running north the fire alarmactivated, he and
G eenleaf ran the entire way to Building 12.
Based on video we know that this is not true,
and he got on the golf cart wth Andrew Medi na.

He says that upon getting within
approxi mately ten feet of Building 12 he heard
gunfire, and said the gunfire was, quote, clear
and loud, at the point | knew it was close to
this building, but I wasn't even sure if it was
in the building, was it outside the building,
but I knew it was close. He did not see nuzzle
fl ashes or anything comng fromthe w ndows.

He was asked how many rounds do you think you
heard, and he said, quote, it wasn't many, two,
t hree.

He said --

MR. SCHACHTER: How many -- how nmany were
actually --

SGI. SUESS: In the tine that he was in
earshot of Building 12 a trenmendous nunber,
dozens.

He says that he broadcasted shots fired
over his radio, and directed all other deputies
to shut down Pine |Island Road and Hol nberg. He

told Kelvin Geenleaf to get away since he's
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unarnmed. That obviously cuts against the
possibility of it being fireworks. There's no
reason to tell sonebody to get away from
fireworks if you don't have a gun.

Deputy Peterson clained that he was on the
school radio yelling | ockdown, | ockdown, code
red, code red. It's unlikely this took place,
as other wtnesses said the canpus nonitor
Bonner was the first person to call a code red.
During ASAC Wiite's presentation you heard the
radio traffic about Peterson says let's
| ockdown the school, gentlenen, or sonething to
that affect. |It's speculation, ny persona
belief is potentially Peterson neant to
transmt that over his school radio, telling
everyone to | ock down, but transmtted over his
agency radi o instead.

He described taking a tactical position on
t he northeast corner of Building 7, and said,
guote, ny concern was because | didn't know if
the shots were comi ng out of the building or
were they com ng sonmewhere out on this west
si de sonmewhere, because it sounded like it
m ght have even been out si de.

He said |I'm keeping cover on the east side
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of the building to keep, to give them cover,
wth ny firearmdirect towards the doors if the
shooter was going to cone out of this door. He
described O ficer Burton's arrival, and the
arrival of additional |aw enforcenent. Deputy
Peterson said that he heard radio traffic about
heari ng shots near the football field, and
specul ated that the shooter may have fled in
that direction. Deputy Peterson said after

Li eutenant DeVito's arrival he ran up to that
bui | di ng.

CHAIR. Now go -- before you go back just,
because you went over it kind of quickly, just
go, this is inmportant, go back to Slide 35 for
a mnute.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir.

CHAIR And -- and in there just --
because all this video you just watched is, is
that, you know, Peterson said that he and
Greenleaf, and again this is untested when it
was asked of him and when he nmade this
statenent, he stated that he and G eenl eaf ran
the entire way to Building 12, but based on
video we know that's not the case. W know

based on the video they're using the golf cart,
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so it begs the question, is that why would he
make a statenment |ike that, you know?

And all -- and one of the conclusions that
you could draw fromthat is, is that he was
trying to explain, and buy hinself tine,
because he didn't know it was captured on
video, he didn't know he'd be tested, so that
when he didn't act, he's trying to create nore
di stance, and nore tine, and nore space for
hi msel f, nmeaning it took |onger for himto get
to Building than it did. But now the video
shows he took a golf cart, he got there, and he
got dropped off at the east door, so that's a
very, very significant inconsistency.

SGI. SUESS. Deputy Peterson said after
Li eutenant DeVito arrived he ran up to the
bui | di ng and handed his keys off to soneone on
the east side of Building 12. W have sone
other interviews that contradict the way that
that played out. And he described having
Assi stant Principal Mdrford review surveillance
video. W do know from sone body cam f oot age
t hat picked up the school radio that Deputy
Peterson was in communication w th Assistant

Principal Morford, who was in the canera room
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So on June 5th and 6th the Today Show
aired an interview with Deputy Peterson, so
beyond the statenent to BSO the Today Show,
and the Washington Post | believe it was, those
are the only three statenents that have been
given in any fashion. 1'mgoing to just point
out a few snippets of that interview

He says as we approached near the buil ding
| heard two to three |oud shots. | imediately
stopped, and I'mthinking to nyself, oh ny God,
| hear shots outside. | thought they were
gunshots, and | thought they were outside
i mredi ately, and the first thing |I thought was
shooti ng at us.

CHAIR How many tines did you hear in the
video, in the audio the |ast couple of days,
how many tines did you hear himsay that the
shots are comng frominside the 1200 buil di ng?
Go ahead.

SGI. SUESS: Deputy Peterson went on to
say | remenber it in nmy mnd, thinking Iike the
Las Vegas shooting, | thought to nyself is
sonmeone shooting out fromthe w ndows. And he
responded to the reporter Savannah, because

it's so difficult to be out when you're outside
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there, and that building, it's a three story,
it's a Hurricane proof building, you can, it's
even hard to hear.

It's not lost on us either in the, between
all of us investigating this, the decades of
experi ence, sone scenes it is very difficult to
hear where gunshots are coming from if you're
at an apartnent conplex or, or schools. Due to
overwhel m ng evidence it's perfectly clear he
knew t hey were comng fromw thin Building 12,
so pl ease don't view that as we've just
di sm ssed that. W' ve considered that, and
rule it out.

SEC. SENNOR. If -- if you thought there
was a sniper would you say, was there sonething
you' d specifically say there too? He didn't
say anyt hi ng about that.

SGI. SUESS: | would hope if | was
respondi ng the deputy there would say there's a
sniper. That's good information you woul d want
to know.

He comment ed about the thickness of the
gl ass being difficult to, or interfering with
his ability to hear. After it was pointed out

by the interviewed that Peterson referred to
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the 1200 building three tinmes on the radi o he
sai d because | believed there was a sniper, so
inny mnd I"mthinking to nyself there's
probably maybe, or possibly naybe sonebody up
there shooting out, but | didn't think that
they were shooting at the kids, | thought they
were shooting out at the buil di ng outside.

CHAIR  Senat or Book, go ahead.

SEN. BOCOK: But | nean when you tal k about
iIt's a very thick, when he says it's a very,
it's a very thick glass, hard to hear, we know
at | east when Coach Feis opened the door, then
he was right here, that back door is right
there --

CHAIR So -- so Feis opened the building
-- Peterson is on the east side of 12. Feis
opened the door on the west side of 12.

SEN. BOOK: The west side. But it's not
-- but ny point isit's not that fair.

CHAIR: No. But also renenber what
Ser geant Suess just pointed out to you as well,
and renenber the gunshots, and you're going to
hear nore about this, and you're going to see
this nore extensively, is, is that renenber

Deputy Stanbaugh's body canera, and the
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gunshots you can hear on Stanbaugh's body
canera, which are way up on Hol nberg Road, so
I f that body canera way up on Hol nberg Road is
capturing those gunshots as it was, and that's
a considerabl e distance, and Peterson is
literally feet away, so of the body canera up
on Hol nberg Road is capturing the gunshots
there's no doubt that Peterson was hearing the
gunshots, especially those gunshots that were
com ng out those w ndows.

SEN. BOOK: O the wi ndows on the second
floor.

CHAIR Right. Right. So.

SGI. SUESS: And Comm ssioner Senior, to
your point, I'msorry, Secretary Senior, if
there was a sniper in there then where he was
dropped off at the doors is a perfect position
to be, because then presunmably the sniper is
| ooki ng out the wi ndow, then you can go in and
confront the sniper frombehind. So it -- it's
a -- it's a lousy excuse at best.

CHAI R Commi ssi oner Schachter, go ahead.

MR. SCHACHTER: Wl |, he arrived at the
golf cart wth Geenleaf and Medi na, and Medi na
testified in that BSO video that when they got
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to the front of the building they heard the
per cussi on of these rounds going into our |oved
ones, so he heard it as soon as he arrived at
the front of the building, right, Sheriff?
CHAIR Right. And -- and he gets on the
radio right there, and he says gunshots inside
the 1200 building. You heard that now a few
times, so, you know, by his own statenents he
was at the east door, he says he hears
gunshots, and then he nmakes the decision to
retreat. | nmean it's pretty clear. 1It's not

pretty clear, it is clear.

SEN. BOOK: |I'msorry to -- he doesn't
have any -- like he -- like I'"'m-- 1'm not
asking this because -- | nean |like we've --

we' ve asked, does he have any hearing issues,
| i ke none, right, like soit's |like not even --
I -- 1 --
CHAIR He ran. He didn't want to go in.
SEN. BOOK: And -- and for forty-five
m nut es.
CHAIR Right.
SEN. BOOK: And didn't nove.
CHAIR Right.
SEN. BOOK: At all.
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CHAIR Right. Even after all the entry
teans went in, and all the Coral Springs
officers and Broward deputies went in, he stil
sat there and wat ched.

MR. SCHACHTER: Do any officers say to him
come on, let's go?

SEN. BOOK: \What are you doi ng?

CHAIR No, they were focused on their
j ob, and what they needed to do.

SHER. ASHLEY: But -- but didn't the
assistant principal that went to Medi na, or
went to Peterson, say there's shots being
fired?

CHAI R Yeah, that was Deni se Reed. She
went to him-- and then renenber she went to
hi m and said that's gunshots, that's gunshots,
he had his gun out, and then she left to go
deal with sonething thinking that he was
headi ng in as she was | eavi ng.

SHER. ASHLEY: So a civilian knows where
t he gunshots are conmng from tells him and he
still doesn't react.

CHAIR  Right.

MR. SCHACHTER: He's a coward.

CHAIR  Yeah, Conm ssioner Bartlett.
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ASA BARTLETT: It's inportant to know t oo
that Medina in his statenent said that the told
G eenl eaf and Peterson in the golf cart the
description of Cruz going in, and said he
recogni zed the guy going in as a student
carrying the case, so no nention anywhere in
any of his transm ssions at all are anything
about a description, or anything about that
Medi na mai ntai ns he told Peterson about that.
So Peterson woul d have known one person went
in, and that woul d have given himnore of an
incentive to follow in and go see, and not have
to, you know, sit out there and wait around.

MR CARROLL: Wo drove? Was it Medina
who picked himup in the golf cart?

CHAIR  Yes.

MR. CARROLL: So he -- so Medina saw the
guy go in, heard the gunshots, and then he
wants us to believe that he rode wth Medina
back to the building, dropped himoff at the
front of the building, and that whol e way
Medi na never said | just saw this kid go in
wtharifle --

CHAIR: No, that's what Conm ssi oner
Bartlett is saying, he did --

800-726-7007

Veritext Legal Solutions

305-376-8800



© 00 N o o~ wWw N

N N N N N N P B P PP R R R R
a A W N BB O © 0O N O 0o~ W N+, O

Page 237

MR. CARROLL: No, well, I'msaying that he
wants us to believe --

CHAIR  No, oh, he wants us to believe --
oh, right. Right.

MR. CARROLL: -- a heck of -- and he
wants us to believe this, and the rest of the
stuff that I'mreading here with this interview
I s absolutely -- gosh.

CHAIR Well, renenber the interview that
BSO did, they didn't have the benefit of any of
this, and then he did this totally scripted
self- serving un-tested quote interview wth
t he Today Show, and, and that so he crafted his
narrative that he wants everybody to accept,
which is full of falsities.

SEN. BOCOK: To even say it never dawned on
me in those first few mnutes that there was an
active shooter inside, |ike what --

CHAIR So he's not telling the truth. |
mean this is -- you can't nake sense -- you
can't make sense of that which doesn't make
sense, and it doesn't, so you can't -- you're
not going to be able to figure this out because
it's all a bunch of lies to cover it up. So

you can't neke sense of it because it's
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fictitious. Conmm ssioner Dodd.

MR. DODD: One of the radio transm ssions
t hrough did say early on, he nentioned the
football field though, right, shots, didn't he
say shots were comng fromthe football field?
WAs that ever any radi o transm ssion on the
school radio? Did he pick that up from soneone
el se that may have said that, or, because
that's even further away?

DET. BONASORO. Deputy Kratz, when he
arrived on Hol mberg Road is the first person to
transmt that he, anything about the football
fields, and that's well after Deputy Peterson
has al ready taken up his position on the north
side of Building 7.

MR. DODD: Ckay, so Peterson was not the
one that had nentioned anything about shots
comng fromthe football field.

SGI. SUESS: The only thing he says is, he
acknow edges the deputy that says that, but he
doesn't --

MR DODD: | got it.

CHAIR And the reason why Kratz is saying
that is because at that juncture Cruz is firing

west out of a third floor teachers' |ounge, and
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so that's why Kratz is saying that. But, you
know, Peterson certainly could have
count ermanded that and said that --

SEC. SENNOR He ran into a student that
was hit.

CHAIR -- that they were not comng from
the football field, they're coming fromwthin
the buil ding, as Denise Reed noticed, as
Peterson noticed hinself, and -- so but the
reason why Kratz said that is because renenber
t hose fragnmented rounds are going through that
Hurricane glass, and that's what he's hearing,
that's what Kratz is hearing. Go ahead.

SEC. SENNOR: | was just saying there,
there was an injured student out there too, so
they're hearing shots fired, and they're seeing
soneone who was shot there, right, one of the
ki ds was out there.

CHAIR: Correct.

MR. CARROLL: And | agree, but that was
toward the tail end of this incident, and it
was on the opposite side of the building.
Being there, and as close to where he was
standi ng, and, and fromthat take that you

pl ayed where the officer was way out in the
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parking |lot, because |I've al so been out there,
it's a pretty clear sound, and he's ten tines
cl oser.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir.

MR CARROLL: Wat -- what this sinulation
poi nts you though, and I'm and |I'm glad you
did this because it reiterates to ne that, you
know, froma preventive standpoi nt Medina, and
the stuff leading up to it, if there was
sonet hi ng done that they could have got him it
shoul d have been done, quite frankly, before he
even got in the building. Once he was in the
bui l di ng the only person, and even Peterson
when he got there a |ot of the carnage was
al ready done on the first floor, he could have
prevented himfromgoing up to the second fl oor
or the third floor, and based on the sinulation
he was the only one who had a gun who could
have prevented that, and he el ected not to do
It, because the other officers that were
respondi ng weren't in a position to do
anyt hing, they weren't even there yet so, and
that sinmulation | think is pretty striking, and
poi nts that out.

So there were many failures. He has to be
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the biggest failure in this I think, the
bi ggest di sappointnent. It's -- it's --

CHAIR  Sheriff Judd.

SHER. JUDD: And enter to back up what you
said, let's nmake no m stake about it, he was a
| aw enforcenent officer what, thirty-one,
thirty- two years, and had been a school
resource officer for twenty-eight years, he was
cop in nane only. He wasn't a true |aw
enforcenent officer, a police officer, or a
cop. I'mnot making excuses for him he was in
that position, he had that title, because if
he'd been a real cop he'd have run in there
with that gun. So let's don't |ive under the
i1lusion that he's a real cop, because he's
not .

MR. SCHACHTER: | do want to rem nd
everybody he won SRO of the year in 2014.

CHAI R Conmi ssioner Stewart.

COW STEWART: Yeah, | agree wth what
you' re saying, Sheriff, however one of the
t hi ngs that has come up several tinmes in this,
and | think you even support, is the guardian
program woul d i ndicate that even a civilian who

has been trained to shoot a gun would stop
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forty-three out of forty-si«x.

SHER. JUDD: The reality of it is had he
been appropriately trai ned, and responded,
everyone is trained, and he was trained --

COMW STEWART: Responded is the issue.

SHER. JUDD: -- to go in and deal wth
that, but he wasn't a real cop. He -- he --
and | say a real cop, he wasn't, he wasn't
wlling to take the fight to the guy. He's --
he was what, fifty-four, fifty-five years old,
and he goes | ain't running in there. |If he
had been a real cop, if he had been a real
guardi an, as the way, the way guardi ans are
trained, he would have run in there.

So | nean as we go through this process,
and we go, well, why didn't the deputy go in
there, because he's a deputy in nanme only.

CHAIR  You got to have the right m ndset,
you know, and, you know, as we know fromthose
forty-six active K-12 shooting events in the
| ast twenty years the majority of them the
majority of them are not stopped by | aw
enforcenent officers, so it goes to the point,
Is, is that the absolute majority of cops do

have the right m ndset, but you don't have to
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be a cop to have the right mndset. And this

I s where those of us that are using the

guardi ans, and they are properly trained, and
properly equipped, is, is that they are equally
capabl e of neutralizing that threat and killing
the person that's trying to kill everybody

el se, so what's nost inportant is, is you have
the right mndset, and you have the wllingness
to act when you're called to act.

SHER. JUDD: And we had teachers with the
right m ndset that were running in with no guns
totry to act, so it's just whether or not
you're wlling --

CHAIR  You didn't -- you know, you didn't
see, and I'll say it again, Ernie Rospierski is
an unsung hero. You didn't see himon the
third fl oor when he sees Cruz, which he's
corralling kids, he's not hightailing, or going
cowering in a corner, he's doing, unarnmed, so
it's all about having that right m ndset. And
there were several teachers, as | said earlier
there are several teachers and school personnel
that saved lives that day, you know, and
unfortunately Peterson did what he did, and

didn't do what he shoul d have done.
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And it's extrenely clear, and, and yes,
Is, is that, renmenber, when he first heard the
shots where was Cruz. Cruz was at the west end
of the first floor getting ready to execute
Coach Hi xon, and getting ready to, and he had
just shot, and shooting Coach Feis, and if
Pet erson had gone into that building and chased
after Cruz, and just laid down rounds, and
started shooting, then he could have prevented
Cruz fromnoving to the second floor, and
certainly could have prevented himfrom goi ng
to the third floor. Those are just the facts.
Go ahead.

MR. SCHACHTER: Si x people lost their
lives on the third floor, and it's evident that
he coul d have saved their lives. But back to
what Sheriff Grady nentions as far as the
trai ning goes, saying that Deputy Peterson was
not properly trained, we heard testinony
yesterday that said that he was trained. So,
nunber one, do you agree with that, and nunber
two, how do we nake sure noving forward to try
to, you know, and | know m ndset is obviously
extrenely inportant, but |I'mnot |aw

enforcenent so |I'm asking because of this, how
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do we nmake sure that our deputies, if they're
not trained are trained, and have the proper
m ndset .

SHER. JUDD: He was exposed to the
training, but he did not have the will or the
determ nation to go in. He had spent
twenty-ei ght years on a school canpus. He had
not spent twenty-eight years in the street in a
detective position facing bad guys every day,
and when it cones tine, when go tine was there
he didn't have the intestinal fortitude to run
in, or protect those children, like sone of the
teachers. It's -- as -- as Sheriff saidit's a
m ndset, it's a determnation. He didn't have
It. And you can be exposed to a | ot of
training, but if you're not willing to act on
it when the tine cones, and he wasn't, and
that's, that's the bottomline. And he didn't
react as a cop because he wasn't --

CHAIR  Secretary Kapusta, go ahead.

SEC. KAPUSTA: So if | could ask a
guestion on that note, is it a product of being
a school resource officer for twenty-eight
years, or is it a product of just who he, how

he i s made up?
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SHER. JUDD: | think the nunber one thing
I s the product of how he made, is made up.

That woul d create an environnment for himto
want to be a school resource officer for
twenty-ei ght years, because it's traditionally
a day shift job, lots of tine off, you dea

wi th students and problens, you' re a hel per,
you're a supporter, but you don't anticipate a,
awar. And -- and it came war tine, and he
wasn't a warrior.

SEC. KAPUSTA: So should they be rotated
out of that position fromtinme --

SHER. JUDD: W -- you have to nonitor the
peopl e, the individual, because if you rotate
too often you don't have the experience you
need, because there's a vast responsibility to
bei ng an SRO ot her than being a warrior, but
you have to be aware of that. And sonetines,
quite frankly, you don't know if the person
really can charge in until the day cones that
they really need to charge in, and --

CHAIR Think about -- I'msorry, go
ahead. Keep going.

SHER. JUDD: Go ahead.

CHAIR  Renenber, go back to too, and you
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get to that point, is that is it a product, and
| don't know that we know the answer to it, but
the fact is, is that Broward had at the tine a
decentralized SRO structure. Renmenber he
didn't report to a sergeant and have
supervision within a school resource officer
unit, it was decentralized, and his supervisor
was an adm ni strative sergeant in Parkland who
had collateral responsibilities who had
I nfrequent contact with him

Remenber we heard all about that, and
maybe once a week talked to himon the phone,
and, you know, that's, you know, part of it,
where you're | earning your people, you know t he
peopl e, and, you know, there -- sonetines --
you're only going to know so nuch, and you're
really not going to know for sure how
sonmebody's going to react until they're faced
with it, but does all that contribute to it?
It certainly is probative in a discussion. o
ahead.

SEN. BOCOK: Thank you, M. Chair. And to
Conmmi ssi oner Judd's point, if you were a real
cop, if you were a real human being | think you

woul d have gone in, but --
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SHER. JUDD: Exactly.

SEN. BOCOK: Did he have a bull et proof vest
on? Did he have --

CHAIR:  No.

SEN. BOOK: He did not. Ckay.

SHER. JUDD: And -- and it's inportant, we
gi ve psychol ogi cal testing and eval uati ons
before we hire people, and quite frankly that's
one of the issues that we screen out, because
there are sone people that legitimtely just
don't have the personality to, to fight.

They' || actually stand there and all ow

t hensel ves to be shot, or stabbed, or beat, and
not respond, they just don't have the
personality. So we are | ooking back to
presuppose that he went through all of that

eval uation before they hired him he may have
never had the personality to, to fight, and it
just was never tested because he spent so many
years as an SRO

MR. SCHACHTER: How ol d was he?

CHAIR He was in his fifties.

SHER. JUDD: Fifties. Fifty-four was it?

CHAI R Yeah.

MR. SCHACHTER.  Fifty-four.
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CHAIR  Sheriff Ashley, go ahead.

SHER. ASHLEY: Comm ssioners, | just want
us to understand that Peterson is not an
anomaly. We've had cowards throughout the
ranks of mlitary and | aw enforcenment well
before this, soit's not, it's not normal, it's
not an everyday occurrence, but they exist, and
have existed since man.

SHER. JUDD: And part of it is not that
they want to turn and run, but it's that fight
or flight, and nobody screened out the fact
that they can't fight.

CHAIR  Go ahead, John.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir. So the interview
w th Savannah Guthrie confronted Deputy
Peterson to an extent, asking himbasically if
you don't know where the shots are com ng from
why not go investigate it, and he responds what
| was trained is you contain the area. |It's
i nportant to point out this is inconsistent
with BSO s active shooter policy, and the
training that was provided to Deputy Peterson.
Agai n they ask why not run up there and see if
he, see if there is a shooter shooting out from

Buil ding 12. His response, it just never
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dawned on ne those initial first few m nutes
because | never believed there was even an
active shooter inside.

He's confronted about why did that not
occur to himdue to the frequency of schoo
shooti ngs, and he said when | heard these shots
outside | didn't even think that soneone was
I nside the building, and it just didn't even,
those first several m nutes, because ny m nd
was raci ng.

MR. SCHACHTER: Since -- since we're
tal ki ng about, we're tal king about Peterson,
what were his evaluations by his supervisor?

SGT. SUESS:. Positive. | nean as you
referenced it was not |ong before he was
reconmended as deputy of the year for the
Par kl and District.

MR. SCHACHTER: So | nean | certainly, we
have to recommend a ratios to schools, and a
nunber of SROs as per our statute, but, you
know, I would | ove to have some ki nd of
consensus from fromyou guys that are the
experts to try to help prevent this problem
know there's got to be sonething that we can

put in the statute to try to, try to elimnate
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this from happening, or if it's his age that
you think did it, or his twenty-eight years
there, I'd certainly love to have sone, give
the state sone direction, because this could
happen again if these situations mrror --

CHAIR. There's -- there's no magi ¢ wand
for that, M. Schachter, you know, is that you
can certainly make the case that he was in
pl ace too |l ong, he was soft, that he was in a
cush position, and that's why he was there, he
really didn't want to do police work, but | can
tell you that |'ve seen people that have been
in the sane position for fifteen, twenty,
twenty-five years, that no question have acted
and reacted appropriately even though they've
been in positions for a long tine, so you can't
pi geonhol e this, you can't stereotype, you
can't categorize everybody in one nold, and it
really needs to be eval uated on an i ndivi dual
basi s.

There is nothing to put in the statute
about that, that's really got to be sonething
t hat each individual agency, and through their
supervision, try and know their people the best

they can, and naeke the best decisions that they
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can based upon that evaluation. Sonetines just
bad t hi ngs happen, and sonetines you'll never
know how sonebody is going to react unti
they're called to react no matter what you do.
And that's just the reality.

MR. SCHACHTER: Cbvi ously they thought
that he was qualified enough, he was the
trainer of the trainers, | nean it just --

CHAIR Well, he was the trainer of the
trainers, but he never trained on it either.
But, you know, again, he was never tested, so
he has never tested, and because he is never
tested there was no way for themto know t hat
he was going to react this way.

SHER. JUDD: The best you can hope for,
M. Schachter, is to nmandate that in the
process of hiring that there's a conplete and
t horough personality profile that goes into the
hiring process, which there is wth nost
agenci es, because sonme people just can't fight.
They, no matter, they'll stand there and take a
beat down before they have the personality to
fight back. Qhers, that we don't want in the
busi ness, will fight you when they ought to be

talking to you, so, so we screen on both sides
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of that equati on.

This guy was twenty-eight years in that
position, the question that remains to ne is
what did they have when they hired himin the
first place, and what interested in himstaying
that long. But that day he was not going to
fight, certainly by hinself he was not going to
fight, and that's abundantly evi dence.

CHAIR Al right, go ahead, John.

SGI. SUESS: So that's the |ocation of
Deputy Peterson's office, on the northwest
corner of Building 1. The inmage of his office,
you see there's two fire panels there. There's
the one for the preexisting structures, the
second added for the additional buildings.
There's a single door on the west side of his
office, so that's facing directly west, sone
wi ndows on the north side, and then another
door that leads into the main area off of
Bui | di ng 1.

So we're going to begin the tineline here,
at the point in which Nikolas Cruz arrived on
Pine Island Road. W don't knowif it was, to
the second, we don't know if he was dropped off

at 2:19.01 or 2:19.59, or anywhere therein.
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The distance fromPine Island to the east doors
of Building 12 is approximtely 120 yards. One
of the investigators tinmed that walking it.
It's approximately a mnute forty-three
seconds, and at a jog approxinmately a mnute
and four seconds.

This is the sane i mage you' ve seen
previously pointing out the SRO office. This
-- so this inmage, you're essentially above Pine
| sl and and Hol nberg | ooki ng sout hwest. You see
Buil ding 12, and the approxi mate path of travel
by Cruz fromPine Island Road. This is the
gate which Cruz traveled through. It was
obvi ously open at that tinme, had just been
opened by canpus nonitor Medina, and you can
see Building 12 in the distance.

This is the east side of Building 12. The
dark doubl e doors that lead into the main
hal | way, and then the |ighter col ored door that
| eads into the, directly into the east
stairwell. That's the sane door that student
Chris McKenna fled out. | point out those
wat er pipes, as that's a | andmark that canpus
noni tor Medina used in his interview.

So Medi na deni ed having any history with
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guns, hunting, or the mlitary. W ask that
just to try and identify how nuch exposure he
has wi th gunshots, or hearing them \When it
comes to Cruz, he was unaware of him bringing
kni ves or amp to school, threatening to shoot
up the school. He had heard runors of Cruz
hurting animls. He conmented that the
previ ous year the canpus nonitors had a
di scussion that if anyone woul d shoot up the
school it would be Ni kolas Cruz. He referred
to Cruz as, quote, that crazy kid, and
described really the nost significant issue
with Cruz is himwearing a canoufl age nmask
j unpi ng out and scaring other students.

Medi na stated that he was on the, off of
Pine |Island Road, and if you | ook at the map
there he identified, you'll see it, and I'm
sure there are slides, but sonewhere between
this bus | oop and the southeast corner of the
adm ni stration parking lot. He saw the Uber
car stopped on Pine |Island Road, saw Cruz wal k

t hrough the pedestrian gate, then Cruz began

j ogging west. He raised -- yes, nma'am
SEC. KAPUSTA: I'msorry. So if he
entered --
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SGI. SUESS:. Cruz entered approximately
right there.

SEC. KAPUSTA: And Peterson was in his
office at that tinme?

SGI. SUESS: So as best | recall -- it's

not exactly clear fromthe Peterson's

statenment. | think he does say he's in his
office. It looks Ilike fromthe video he's
probably on the north side of Building 1. I'm

not sure how consequential that is though.

SEC. KAPUSTA: You said it takes about a
m nute and four seconds to get to Building 12?

SGI. SUESS: No, ma'am Well, for Cruz,
yes, ma' am

SEC. KAPUSTA: For Cruz.

SGI. SUESS: From Pine Island to the east
side of Building 12.

SEC. KAPUSTA: And do you know how long it
woul d take Peterson to get fromBuilding 1 to
where the bike racks are | ocated?

SGT. SUESS: Not by wal king or running, we
didn't tine that. W know he was on a golf
cart. W don't -- we can't give you an exact
time, we don't have that. Yes, ma'am So

Medi na said that he radi oed to canpus nonitor
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David Taylor. Again, he's on the second fl oor
west end of Building 12, that there was a,
quote, suspicious kid on canpus. Medina said
he was suspi ci ous because he kept his head

| owered down, and Medina identified he was
still on, you know, near that south end of the
canpus.

Medi na said he drove his golf cart north
to approach Cruz, and then |ater again radioed
Taylor telling himthat this person, this
I ntruder was approaching Building 12. So on
this map you see that's the approximate
| ocation of Medina and Cruz at the tine that
Medi na saw Cruz.

It's inportant to note also, so on --
really all these parking lots are full with
cars, so just keep that in mnd. Later that
presents a tactical problemfor these first
responders, just you have no idea who's hiding
in cars, or are there IEDs in the cars. Those
-- those are things that you have to consi der
in this situation.

So Medina said that after Cruz passed by
that bi ke rack Medina's cart went up a curb.

That noise pronpted Cruz to turn and | ook back
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at Medina. Medina said he recognized Cruz's
face, but he couldn't recall his name. But

i nstantly recognized himfromhis prior

cont act s.

SHER. ASHLEY: Before you go --

CHAIR: Sheriff Ashley, go ahead.

SHER. ASHLEY: Before you go further,

Medi na drove north in his golf cart to approach
Cruz, radioed David Tayl or that soneone was
approaching Building 12, and the door was

unl ocked?

SGI. SUESS: To Building 12, yes, sir.

SHER. ASHLEY: Did David Tayl or say why he
didn't lock the door once he said that he had a
suspi ci ous student?

SGI. SUESS: | don't know -- even if he
sprinted I don't know if David Taylor could
have made it to the first floor east door at
t hat point.

SHER. ASHLEY: So no nonitor was on the
first, or --

SGI. SUESS: Correct.

CHAIR: They had -- because the first
fl oor bathroons, they had the bat hroons that

were | ocked, so Taylor was in there guarding
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the bathroom So he was the only one in there.
And renenber they kept the east and the west
door unl ocked. There was the di scussion
previously from Medi na requesting that they

| ock the west door, and that they only use the
east door, and then that it be staffed, and
that's where he was told, no, we don't have the
staffing to do that. Renenber you heard t hat
all earlier. That's what they're talking
about, because the east and the west door were
| eft open all the tine.

SHER. ASHLEY: But Tayl or never nmade an
effort, or didn't, decided not to go try to
confront whomever this was that --

CHAIR  You can see it on the video, and |
think you're going to showit, John, you'll see
it, Taylor, Taylor actually sees Cruz and
hightails it the other way, so you'll see that.
He -- once he sees Cruz cone through the door
he does a, an abrupt U-turn, and hightails it
up the stairs. You'll -- you'll see that. He
runs.

MR. SCHACHTER: My -- ny -- sorry. M
guestion is back two slides. The previous year

t he canpus nonitors had a discussion that if
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anybody woul d shoot up the school it would be
Cruz. Do you know who he had that conversation
with?

SGI. SUESS: So, yes, sir. David Taylor,
Andrew Medina, and | believe it was in David
Taylor's interview they specified M. Taylor
said to Assistant Principal Mrford that if
Cruz is going to shoot anybody it would be you
first, basically. So we don't know who el se
was there, they said there were other canpus
noni t ors.

MR. SCHACHTER: Was there a, sonething
that precipitated this conversation?

SGI. SUESS: No, sir, not that | recall

MR. SCHACHTER: | wonder how t hat
conversation, you know, got started. But was
anyt hing, any actions taken as a result of this
conversation, this very, very disturbing
conversation?

SGI. SUESS: No, sir. This conversation,
the way it was portrayed to us is nore water
cooler talk, for lack of a better phrase. It
wasn't a formal neeting.

MR. SCHACHTER: Yeah. Unfortunately |

w sh they woul d have taken it a little bit nore
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serious and done sonet hi ng.

MR. CARROLL: Wth -- with respect to what
Medi na radi oed, and that's why |I'm confused,
because, you know, it | ooked like to ne that
when Taylor first got that he was on the second
floor, he didn't seemto rush so it didn't seem
urgent. Even when he got to the first floor he
kind of gave a kid a fist bunp, or sone type of
acknow edgenent, and he did see himcone in,
and Cruz imedi ately ducked in, and again it
didn't seemlike there was any sense of urgency
because he didn't start running at that point.

SGI. SUESS: Right.

MR. CARROLL: Until he got the second --
when the canera picks himup on the second
floor after the gunshots started, by that tine
he was runni ng, because he slid across the
floor and into the janitor's cl oset.

CHAIR Right. Right, because he heard
the, heard the gunshots.

MR CARROLL: But -- but he didn't seemto
be reacting with the sense of urgency had the
nmessage been what it should have been --

SGT. SUESS: | conpletely agree.

MR. CARROLL: -- and so | question what
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the nmessage was to him

SGI. SUESS: | think nore or less it was,
and again this is speculation on ny part based
of f what we know, but | think it nore or |ess
was there's an intruder on canpus, he's com ng
your way, just a heads up.

MR. CARROLL: Yeah, okay.

SEC. KAPUSTA: And you said that happens
daily?

SGI. SUESS: No, ma'am | believe one of
t he other investigators nmay have referenced
that. The canpus nonitors painted the picture
about kids are skipping class daily, or junping
fences. | don't find that difficult to
bel i eve.

SEC. KAPUSTA: R ght. But do we know how
often an, and intruder cones onto the canmpus?

SGI. SUESS: No, ma'am

MR. SCHACHTER: We heard testinony
yesterday that, that several kids and a nother
told Morford that, that the nurderer was goi ng
to do exactly what he was going to do, and
here's another instance of a conversation
I nvol ving Morford know ng that Cruz was a mmj or

threat, and was going to shoot up the school.
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Dd we interview Morford after hearing this,
that he had this conversation?

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir, we did.

MR. SCHACHTER: And did he deny it, as he
did the other?

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir, he did.

MR. SCHACHTER: Not surpri sed.

CHAIR Al right, go ahead, John. Wait.
M. Petty, go ahead.

MR PETTY: | was trying to find in ny
notes, but to Conm ssioner Carroll, to your
guestion, Medina, at sone point we've heard,
right, identified it as a, as a gun bag, and
says he didn't approach Cruz because he thought
he m ght have a handgun, however he didn't
relay that information to Taylor it appears,
because Tayl or doesn't seemto be acting with
any sense of urgency, to your point. So |I'm--
|'d be interested to know what M. Medina said
over the radio.

CHAIR:  Wiich -- which is not recorded,
yeah, so.

SGI. SUESS: So Medi na says as his golf
cart goes over the curb it causes Cruz to | ook

back, at which point he recognizes Cruz from
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prior interactions. Medina said that he was
too far fromCruz at that point to say anything
to him So in the interview w th BSO he
described Cruz as carrying a, quote, nice sized
duffl e bag, and he said sonetines ROIC and the
color guard carry simlar bags. He also said
that Cruz was not a student, and he had
w t hdrawn the prior year due to ongoi ng issues.
In our interview he said he was unaware whet her
Cruz was or was not a student at that tine.

So this next map shows the approxi mate
| ocati on of where Cruz and Medi na were | ocated
at the tinme Cruz woul d have turned and seen
Medina. So this inage, you're on the east side
of Building 8 so l'mgoing to point wth the
| aser pointer here, approximately this area
| ooking north. So the bike racks are to your
right in that |arge rectangul ar box, and then
the smaller square box is the gate through
whi ch Medi na woul d have traveled. |If you go up
to that gate and | ook to the left, or
nort hwest, you're able to get a view of
Bui I ding 12.

Continuing wiwth the interviews of Andrew

Medi na, Taylor said that he asked Cruz which
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si de Medina was comng in, and Medina told him
the east side. Medina said that after he and
Cruz saw each other Medina, or I'msorry, Cruz
began to run toward Building 12. He said as
Cruz continued, I'msorry, as -- Medina said as
he continued towards Building 12 is when he
first heard the gunshots, we'll tal k about that
alittle later, and said that he then turned
south towards the courtyard and radi oed that
there was suspicious noises at the tine he
heard those shots.

Medi na said he heard additional
unidentified staff getting on the radio and
tal ki ng about those noi ses possibly being
firecrackers. He said he did not call a code
red because his focus was on going to get help.
He said that he first heard Bonner call a code
red when he was in route to pick up Deputy
Peterson. W know this to not be true. And
we'll go through the code red issue shortly.

MR PETTY: Detective, wouldn't --
woul dn't the fast way to get help be a radio?

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir. So Medina said --

SEC. KAPUSTA: A cell phone too.

SGI. SUESS: -- that he told Peterson what
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Cruz was wearing. He did not recall Peterson
saying anything to him Medina said that it
did not occur to himthat those suspicious

noi ses were gunshots until he was approaching
the east side of Building 12 with Peterson. He
said after he dropped Peterson off near the

wat er pipes Peterson told himto | eave. He
heard Peterson repeatedly saying active shooter
on his BSO radio. W know it was actually
shots fired that was being transmtted. Medina
said he quickly left that area, and did not see
what Peterson did or did not do.

So these are sonme quotes that are
significant fromthe BSO i nterview which
several of the comm ssioners have referenced.
Medi na said that sonething inside himtold him
not to approach Cruz, said that he shoul d just
report it |ike we've been taught, he said just
|l et himgo and report it, and nake sure your
boy inside, referring to Coach Taylor, is good.
He expresses regret, w shing that he woul d have
stopped Cruz, and then says he did not know if
Cruz had a handgun, maybe he coul d have had a
handgun in the pocket.

From our perspective this sort of |ends
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credence to the theory that Medi na knew
sonmet hing nore sinister than a trespassi ng was
t aki ng pl ace.

MR. SCHACHTER: And -- Sergeant.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir.

MR. SCHACHTER: When -- when Medi na says
do what we're taught and just report it severa
times, why, why do you think he said that, and
what is he tal ki ng about ?

SGI. SUESS: | think he realizes that his
efforts were inadequate, and he's trying to
find a way to provide sonme sort of cover for
t hat .

MR SCHACHTER: You don't think that he
was taught to just report it?

SGT. SUESS: |'mnot sure he was taught
very nmuch at all. Based off what we heard
there was no training offered.

So as we go through, return to the
tinmeline, and again the prior tinme stanp that
you saw was at 2:19 when Cruz was dropped off.
So about a minute and a half before the first
shots were fired canpus nonitor Taylor was on
the west end of the second floor. It was

evi dent that he began to use his radio, and was
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wal king toward the east end of the hall.

We conducted an interview with David
Taylor as well. He was unaware of Cruz's
| ssues about brining knives or ammp to school,
as well as threats to shoot up the school. He
al so referenced that conversation with the
school canpus nonitors and Assistant Principal
Morford about Cruz's potential to be a school
shooter, and it was in Taylor's conversation
that he referenced that Morford would Iikely be
the first target. Taylor confirnmed --

MR. PETTY: Sergeant, again --

SGI. SUESS: -- that he was notified via
the radio of a --

CHAIR  Hang on, John. Go ahead.

MR. PETTY: Apologies. |'mgoing back to
Medi na on the radio for just a nonent.

SGT. SUESS:. Yes, sir.

MR. PETTY. Wuld Peterson have been able
to hear that transm ssion?

SGI. SUESS:. If his radio was on, yes,
sir. W got no indication the school radios
don't work at any given | ocation.

So again, Taylor confirned that he

received the radio traffic about a suspicious
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I ndi vi dual on canpus. Yes, sir.

MR. SCHACHTER: They joked that, that Cruz
woul d i kely be comng, his first target. Do
we have any reason why that, that was, what
interactions did Morford have with Cruz --

SGI. SUESS: Morford had been identified
by Taylor as, | believe the phrase he used is
riding that kid, that there were several issues
bet ween t hem

MR. SCHACHTER: Riding that kid. And so
can we get nore details about that?

SGT. SUESS:. About what in particul ar,
sir?

MR. SCHACHTER: Well, | nean this just
goes the point that Mdirford knew what a threat
he was, he had been warned about him and for
himto say that he, he wasn't told by those two
ki ds and the nother, and he wasn't told before,
now for themto admit that he was riding that
kid, it totally invalidates that argunent.

SGI. SUESS: So in the interviewwth --
we conducted a second interviewwth him and
we confronted himon sone of these issues,
expressed out concern about the

I nconsi stencies, and we really just reached a
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crossroad where, | nean there's -- he gave his
statenent, about he either denied it or didn't
remenber things happening. There's really not
much el se we could do other than ask him

MR. SCHACHTER: And so did Tayl or explain
what he neant by riding that kid? Qoviously
there was a lot of interactions with him |'m
just trying to get sone details.

SGI. SUESS. Right. No, sir, | don't
recall any el aboration from Mrford on that.
Morford I would characterize, and again
gentlemen if | msspeak correct nme, but | would
say Morford largely mnimzed his contact with
Cruz.

MR. SCHACHTER: O course he did. And
what about, | nean there's got to be other
corroborating witnesses to riding that kid, it
sounds |like he had a lot of interactions. D d
any of the staff, would Broward County be able
to provide records of interactions? | don't
know if that's available or --

CHAIR. There's nothing |like that, M.
Schachter. There's nothing Iike that. And
remenber, two things keep -- one is that

Morford, we pressed Morford, and the
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I nvestigators interviewed hima couple tines,
and his classic response to everything is |
don't recall, | don't recall, | don't recall
And second is, is that keep it in perspective,
is, is that the last tinme that Cruz was on that
canmpus was February of '17, and all these
contacts, et cetera, and the issues, were prior
to February of '17, and this incident happened
I n February of '18, so, you know, he was gone
for a year, and that has to be kept in mnd as
we' re eval uati ng.

MR. SCHACHTER: | -- I'mfully cognizant
of that, but I want the comm ssioners to
understand this guy is still on canpus, okay,
he's still there protecting our children, and
If he is not telling the truth that needs to be
uncovered, and he needs to be renoved
I medi atel y.

CHAIR And again, with this information,
"Il say it, is, is that we were -- now t hat
this has been presented to the conm ssion then
this information will be presented to the
Broward County School Board, or Broward County
School Superintendent, but they don't have a

lot of this information, and they will have it
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after it's been presented to you.

MR. SCHACHTER: And did Broward County
never received any statenents from any of these
APs; is that your understandi ng?

CHAIR | can't say any, but renenber is,
is that we asked them not to conduct their
i nvestigation, their inquiry while this was
ongoing, for a lot of significant and valid
I nvestigative reasons, and so we wll now
provide themwi th this information.

MR, SCHACHTER: But, Chairman, that was in
August when we requested that, when, when you
call ed the superintendent. They still had five
nonths to do sonet hing when they decided to do
not hi ng.

CHAIR. Go ahead, John.

SGT. SUESS:. Yes, sir. And so as Tayl or
went down the west stairs, I'msorry, to
clarify, there was no description over the
radi o, according to Taylor, about Cruz carrying
anything. Taylor said he went down the west
stairs, and down the hall, saw soneone in a
burgundy shirt carrying a three foot |ong
duffel bag. He did not recognize Cruz as he

entered the door, according to Tayl or.
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He said that he turned and went up the
west stairs in order to cut off Cruz,
anticipating that because Cruz was going in the
east stairwell he nust be going upstairs, and
that was his plan. Taylor said he heard the
gunshots while in the stairwell, and at that
point he fled into the closet. He recalled
heari ng soneone over the PAtelling people this
was not a drill, and that they needed to
evacuate. M. Taylor said he never heard a
code red called over the PA, but heard
Assi stant Princi pal Porter announce an
evacuation order over, over the PA prior to
hearing a code red called on the radio.

Tayl or said that he heard transm ssions
about firecrackers over the radio, two or three
peopl e, and one of them may have been fenal e.
He believes he also nade a transni ssion
i ndi cating that they were not firecrackers. He
recal | ed hearing Deputy Peterson ask for radio
silence while he spoke with sonebody in the
canera room believed he heard Coach Bonner, or
canpus nonitor Bonner say Feis is down, and he
definitely heard canpus nonitor Bonner say

that's not firewirks, that's gunfire, and
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repeatedly said code red.

So approxi mately a m nute seventeen
seconds before the first shots froma canera on
the south side of Building 13 you can see
Sergeant Heinrich, again, off-duty Coral
Springs officer, watering the baseball field.
At about 2:20.24 Ashley Baez, Luke Hoyer,
Martin Duque, walk north between Buil dings 7
and 12, I'msorry, between Building 7 and 8
toward Buil ding 12. Throughout the
presentation if you see the NF or F, NF stands
for non-fatal wounds, F stands for fatal
wounds, or fatality fifty-nine seconds prior to
the first shot canpus nonitor Tayl or has
al ready turned around so that now he's now
wal ki ng west on the second floor towards the
west stairwell. He began wal king with purpose,
and it was evident that he was sonehow usi ng
his radio. So he had an earpiece with a wire
with a m crophone attached to it, so you could
tell he was sonehow maki ng use of his radio.
Approxi mately forty-one seconds before the
first shot he reached the base of the west
stairwell on the first floor, then made a right

turn so that he was traveling east towards the
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east doors, the sane doors that Cruz woul d
enter shortly thereafter.

Approxi matel y twenty-seven seconds prior
to the first shot Medina drove north on the
east side of Building 8. So if you |look at the
map, and you, you saw the map earlier in the
presentation, he's essentially between the bike
rack and the northeast corner of Building 8,
and you'll see a video in a second. The golf
cart cones into view at approximately 2:21.11,
parked by 2:21.13, and renmains stationary until
2:21.28. Medina was slowi ng, and the cart was
stationary for seventeen seconds. During that
time Medina was facing north, and al so during
that time at 2:21.16, so about three seconds
after Medi na stopped Cruz entered the east door
of Building 12.

We showed this video to Medina and asked
himwhat it was he was doing during that tine,
and he said that he followed their standard
practice, was to not necessarily pursue
sonmebody but to radi o ahead to the next canpus
noni tor, making them aware of the situation.

So this is a still imge. You see Medina's

cart in the distance, again between the
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nort heast corner of Building 8 and the bike
rack. On the map that illustrates the

approxi mate | ocation of Medina. And so on the
side by side video you'll see as Cruz enters
the stairwell on the east end of Building 12,
and you'll see Medina's cart conme into view. A
graphic will pop up identifying the point at
which Medina fired. I'msorry, Cruz fired the
first shot.

MR. SCHACHTER: Sergeant, did you ask
Tayl or why he did not call a code red?

SGI. SUESS: | do not recall if he was
asked why. W can review the transcript if
necessary.

MR SCHACHTER: But he didn't, he did not.

SGI. SUESS: Correct.

MR. SCHACHTER: Do we have a tine that he
was, you know, when he was there? Like at what
poi nt did he hear the shots, what point could
he have called a code red? He was there on the
second floor, right?

SGT. SUESS:. Taylor?

MR. SCHACHTER: Yeah.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir, he was on the

second fl oor.
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MR. SCHACHTER: He heard everyt hing.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir.

MR. SCHACHTER: And didn't call code red.
| certainly would like to know why.

SGI. SUESS: Would the conm ssion |ike ne
to play that video again?

CHAIR Yeah, play it again. Yeah, let's
just play it again. Let this -- it's like
everybody, they didn't know -- we've tal ked
about it, is that the general answers they got
wer e nobody gave any answers, because they
didn't know, they weren't sure, they --

MR. SCHACHTER: They just heard a nonth, a
nonth prior --

CHAIR It wasn't clear to them --

MR. SCHACHTER:  Cone on.

CHAIR. They -- they all said that it
wasn't clear to themas to who could call it
when. Sone of themwere told that they, you
know, they had to hear gunshots, they had to
see a gun, or didn't, wasn't sure, that was the
consi stent theme of all the answers to the
guestions on that topic.

MR. SCHACHTER: Except -- except for
Medi na, when he said | was going to do what |
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was told, and I was only, | was only told just
to report it, and not --

CHAIR  kay, go ahead. Go ahead, John.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir. M. Medina starts
driving north at that point.

CHAIR: Medina is driving north to go get
Pet er son

SGI. SUESS: Wll, so he -- he drives
north, and | believe in his interview he stated
at that point he decided nore or | ess on second
t hought maybe | shoul d go investigate, so he
was headi ng generally towards the east side of
Bui l di ng 12, and then upon hearing the gunshots
turns and heads south to go get Peterson.

So at 2:21.16 Cruz entered the east doors
to Building 12. Canpus nonitor Tayl or was
wal ki ng toward Cruz in front of the wonen's
roomon the first floor. Ashley Baez, Martin
Duque, and Luke Hoyer were wal king west in
front of Cruz toward canpus nonitor Tayl or, and
Chris McKenna was wal king toward Cruz in the
east stairwell.

So this canmera is on the west side of the
first floor of Building 12, so that is the back

of canpus nonitor Taylor, and in the distance,
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It's very hard to tell on the still imge, but
it's Nikolas Cruz wal king in. Wen you watch
the noving video you can see that he is hol ding
the, the large bag. This is a canera that is
in the mddle of the first floor facing west,
so Taylor at this point is facing toward Cruz.
Twenty seconds prior to the first shot Cruz
entered the east stairwell in Building 12, and
about that point, about the sane tine Cruz
entered the stairwell is when Coach Tayl or
turned around and wal ked west on the first
floor. Cruz was carrying the soft sided rifle
bag at that tine.

So that's the nonent at which Tayl or
begins to turn around. The rifle bag which
Cruz was carrying, as you saw in Detective
Bonasoro's presentation. This is the vest
whi ch Cruz had in the bag and put on, and | ater
di scarded on the west stairwell third fl oor,
and the magazi nes that were inside of that
vest. It is not a ballistic vest, it's just
made to carry anmunition.

Excuse ne. Yes, ma' am

SEC. KAPUSTA: Do the doors on the

stairwells in east floor have an i ndivi dual
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| ock on thenf? Could Tayl or have | ocked the
doors on two and three, and then --

SGI. SUESS: | do -- | do not know off the
top of ny head. Detective Bonasoro, do you
recall, on the stairwel|l doors?

DET. BONASORO If they were | ocked?

SGT. SUESS:. If they have | ocks.

SEC. KAPUSTA: If they have | ocks, so
theoretically he woul d not have been able, Cruz
woul d not have been able to get to the second
or third floor if they were able to | ock those
doors in the stairwell?

DET. BONASCRO It's different, it's a
different |ocking mechanism It requires a
speci al key, so it would have been very
difficult to lock those doors expeditiously at
any tine.

SEC. KAPUSTA: Did Tayl or have that key?

DET. BONASORO. |I'msure he did. | don't
know for a fact.

SGI. SUESS: We didn't ask himthat
guestion specifically.

SEC. KAPUSTA: (Ckay.

SGT. SUESS: So fourteen seconds prior to

the first shot McKenna entered the east
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stairwell. MKenna told BSO detectives that he
said, that Cruz said to him he told ne you
better get out of here, sonething bad is about
to happen, he told ne to run. Seconds | ater
McKenna fl ed east outside of Building 12.
That's the nonent at which McKenna entered, and
at the bottom of the inmage you can see the, the
front of the barrel, and the sight for the
rifle.

So at 2:21.38, and you notice the second
time stanp there, we're at zero seconds, so
this is what all tinmes will be based on noving
forward, Cruz entered the first, I"msorry,
entered the first floor at the east end of the
hall and fired the first round. Baez, Duque,
Hoyer, and Montalto were in that hallway and
shot. Canpus nonitor David Taylor transitioned
froma jog to a sprint up the west stairwell
So that next image is approximtely the nonent
at which Taylor realizes shots are being fired.

Four seconds after that shot Andrew Medi na
drove south on the east side of Building 12,
conti nued south between Buildings 7 and 8, and
a school radio was visible in Medina' s hand.

Again that's just a still, a screen shot from
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that video which you saw just a little bit
earlier. Approximtely nine seconds after the
first shots McKenna is picked up on the canera
bet ween Buildings 12 and 13 fleeing to the
west. Seconds |ater he would neet up with
canmpus nonitor Feis.

We conducted a follow up interview with
McKenna to confirmwhat he did or did not tel
Feis, and McKenna said that he told Feis there
was sonebody with a gun inside Building 12.
Fifteen seconds after the first shot Andrew
Medi na has reached the northeast corner of the
mai n courtyard near the southeast corner of
Building 7. So you'll see in sonme of these
slides, you still see the three story |ayout of
Buil ding 12. That's just to let you know what's
happeni ng inside of Building 12 as we're still
t al ki ng about other areas of canpus.

Twenty-four seconds after the first shot
security specialist Geenleaf exited his
officer, followed by campus nonitor Brian
Staubly. Geenleaf held his radio up to his
nmouth as if he was transmtting on the radio.
We conducted an interview with Kelvin

Greenleaf. He also recalled hearing Medina's
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radi o transm ssion which specifically addressed
Tayl or notifying himabout a suspicious person
on canpus. G eenleaf recalled hearing
subsequent transm ssions about a weird sound.

Greenleaf exited Building 1, but at that
poi nt he did not hear any gunshots. He told
Pet erson, and you'll see the image in a nonent,
you've seen it in the nedia as well, that, when
they're on the west side of Building 1, that he
was going to go to Assistant Principal
Rosario's office and get the key for the golf
cart. G eenleaf said once Medina picked up he
and Peterson they were in conversation in the
cart, being Medina and Peterson, but he could
not hear what they were saying. You'll see in
a monent Greenleaf is riding on the back of the
cart holding onto the two support bars.

So this video has been released to the
public. 1'll play it here shortly. This video
is from C assroom 1215, and the teachers for
this is Ivy Scham s.

(Thereupon, a video is played in the open neeting,
and the proceedi ngs continue as follows:)

SGI. SUESS. So approxinmately a second

after that video was filned the first 911 cal
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was made to Coral Springs.
(Thereupon, the following 911 call is played in the
open neeting.)

CSCC. 911, what's your energency?

CALLER. Hello, we're at Stoneman Dougl as
Hi gh School, and | think there's a shooter --

CSCC. Hello? Are you still there? Talk
to ne pl ease.

(di al tone)
(Thereupon, the 911 call concluded, and the
proceedi ngs continue as follows:)

MR. SCHACHTER: Sergeant, were those shots
that we heard into ny son's classroon?

SGI. SUESS: In that video we do not know,
sir. So approximately thirty-six seconds after
the first shot Geenleaf exited the west side
of Building 1, where he would neet up with
Pet erson. Peterson and G eenl eaf appeared to
engage each other in conversation, and it
appeared that Peterson was using his schoo
radio at that point. W have no way to know
what he was transmtting at that tine.

Students on the west end of the second
floor are still noving about pretty casually,

with no indication that anything is going on.
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So this is the inmage which you' ve all seen
several tinmes by now, G eenleaf com ng out of
Building 1. Deputy Peterson had just cone to
t hat sane west side. Peterson is the person
further left.

Forty-five seconds after the first shot
Coach Feis arrived on the north side of
Building with student Chris McKenna. He as
holding a radio in his hand, Coach Feis that
I's, and he assisted McKenna into the north
doors of Building 13. So you see, this is
si mul taneous to what | just explained, this is
the noment at which they arrived on the north
side of Building 13, and in the bottomright
you see the image showing it on the map, where
t hey were | ocated.

Fifty-five seconds after the first shot
Peterson and G eenl eaf walk south to get a golf
cart. You can see the golf cart in that inmage.
Pet erson was using his school radio, which is
on his right lapel, his right shoul der, and
they quickly turn back north. Seconds |ater
Kel vin G eenl eaf begins running north in the
direction of Building 12, and Deputy Peterson

follows suit. At this point a student on the
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west end on the second floor is still walking
around casual ly.

Approxi mately one m nute and one second
after the first shot the fire alarns becone
active at various parts on canpus. This is not
all the fire alarns, but just to illustrate to
you there were several alarns active at this
point. As those fire alarns began Cruz is
still on the east end of the first floor. The
video you'll see in a nonment is where N kol as
Cruz was shooting into a nearby classroom
Pet erson and Greenleaf, this is the point at
whi ch they began running north, and Feis is
still with McKenna on the north side of
Bui I ding 13.

It's inportant to know as you' re wat chi ng
this these students are in the hard corner, but
you will see there, are crammed in there, and
there are several students hiding under the
desk.

(Thereupon, a video is played in the open neeting,
and the proceedi ngs continue as follows:)

SGT. SUESS: This next video was recorded
fromthe third floor, and this was captured

fromsocial nedia, so the format in which it
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plays is a little different. You can hear the
gunshots fromthe third floor, but it is
extrenely faint, and very difficult to hear.
But this video very clearly illustrates the
begi nning of conplete confusion on the third
fl oor about what it happening.

(Thereupon, the following video is played in the

open neeting:)

SPEAKER: Bro, what the -- | know you -- |
now you - -

SPEAKER: No, |'m goi ng behind the
cover --

SPEAKER: It sound |i ke sonebody in the
bat hr oom

SPEAKER:  Sh.

SPEAKER: It sound |ike sone --

(screans)
(Ther eupon, the video concluded, and the proceedings
continue as follows:)

SGT. SUESS:. Approximately a m nute and
three seconds after the first shot the first
Coral Springs 911 call was transferred to the
Broward Regi onal Communi cations Center. At
that same time students in Ms. MCoonb, Ms.

McCaul , | apol ogi ze for any nanes |
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m spronounce during this presentation, but

cl assroom 1250, about twenty-three students
flee out of that classroom This wll -- yes,
Sir.

CHAIR: Go ahead, finish this slide, then
we're going to take a break.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir. So at this nonent,
for those of you that watched the video
yesterday, and you saw this, the video of
students on the third floor, the |arge group,
this is really when this begins. These
students flee out of this classroom begin to
go down the third floor stairwell on the west
side. They later hear gunshots, shortly
t hereafter hear gunshots, go back up into the
third floor hall and nove east, so they then
get joined by that other group of students.
Well over a hundred go to the east stairwell
and start to go down.

You can tell that they are very |eery and
appr ehensi ve about goi ng down, they hear
addi ti onal gunshots, which results in every one
fleeing to the third floor, and the mass, the
vast majority of those students then taking

cover inside of the classroons. So this was
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al so the point at which M. Porter quickly
starts wal king towards the al arm panel in
Deputy Peterson's office.

CHAIR Okay, so why don't we take a
break. Here's where we are, just for context,
and | think that we need to go, we'll take
about a fifteen mnute break. WelIl conme back
at 3:.35. But we need to probably go until 5:30
tonight. | know we're set to stop at 5:00, but
at least we need to go to 5:30. W're on Slide
103, and there are about 650 slides in this
presentation, so we need to go a little bit
| onger tonight | think to nake sure we -- we
have to have this done to stay on track by
m dday tonmorrow. So let's take fifteen

m nut es, cones back at 3: 35.

(Thereupon, the neeting is in recess, and the

proceedi ngs continue as follows:)

CHAIR Al right, we'll go ahead and
start again, and continue on with the
present ati on.

SGT. SUESS: Yes, sir. So again, we're
just after a mnute beyond the first shots
being fired. Students have begun quickly

evacuating in the third floor. Students on the
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second fl oor, again, have heard sonething.
It's evidence by their body | anguage that they
change froma casual walk to panic, nore or

| ess. 2:22.49 canpus nonitor Hi xon entered

t hrough the west doors of Building 12. Cruz
was still at the door in the alcove for 1216
and 1217, and began to turn in Hi xon's

di rection.

At about that sane tinme Peterson and
G eenl eaf have joined Medina on his golf cart.
You can see in that inmage in the bottomri ght
Peterson is on the front right seat as they are
making a U-turn essentially. At the sane tine
canmpus nonitor Hi xon was shot, and AP Porter
entered Peterson's office where the alarm
panels were | ocated. Approximately a mnute
and fifteen seconds, Cruz stepped into the
al cove for Cassroons 1214 and 15, and within
seconds canpus nonitor H xon crawl ed across the
hal | and behind a partial wall.

A mnute and ni neteen seconds, the | ast
students on the second fl oor have left the
hal | way, so at this point everyone on the
second fl oor has conceal ed thensel ves insi de of

a classroom The first alarnms at this point
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begi n shutting down at various | ocations on
canpus, and it is evident again from body
| anguage that the students on the third fl oor
are still confused. Students are walking in
different directions, and it's obvious that
they aren't exactly clear on what is happening,
or where they should be going.

Yes, M. Schachter.

MR. SCHACHTER: Wy did the fire alarns
shut down, was that sonething that, they shut
t hem down?

SGI. SUESS: M. Porter did, yes, sir.
Qobvi ously not under the know edge that there is
an active shooter taking place at this point.

So at a mnute and a half after the first
shots Coach Feis parked his golf cart between
Buil di ngs 12 and 13, so he's already secured
Chris McKenna inside of Building 13. Cruz
noved to the al cove for C assroons 1212 and
1213, and students on the third floor are
really casually wal king. So that initial panic
seens to have subsided for a little bit, and
there's just a very large crowd of students on
the third floor. And you'll see sone stil

I mages in just a mnute depicting that group.
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Yes, sir?

MR. SCHACHTER: But the -- Bonner called
the code red nuch later, right?

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir.

MR SCHACHTER: So he -- if Porter shut
the fire alarnms down why didn't he call a code
red; do we know?

SGI. SUESS: Wy didn't Porter call a code
red?

MR. SCHACHTER: Yeah.

SGI. SUESS: He hadn't by this point.

MR. SCHACHTER: He had not.

SGI. SUESS: No, sir.

MR. SCHACHTER: So that's what |'m aski ng,
why didn't he? He shut the fire alarns off
because he knew sone, it wasn't a fire.

SGI. SUESS: There's no indication at this
point to Porter that there was an active
shooter taking place. Bonner has not called a
code red. Porter is inside of Building 1, a
coupl e hundred yards, maybe a hundred yards
from Building 12.

MR. SCHACHTER: Wy did he shut the fire
al arm down?

SGI. SUESS: That was their standard
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practice. Detective Bonasoro interviewed him

SEC. SENNOR Was it -- was that the one
i ndi cating gas leak? |Is that the one he --

SGT. SUESS:. Correct, that's the only
alarm that woul d have taken, was activated that
day. There is a lot of questions -- if you ask
us very specific questions on certain issues we
may not have the answer. | nean we've --

MR. SCHACHTER: No probl em

SGI. SUESS: -- we've done, or reviewed
hundreds of interviews, but if there's an
answer you need we're happy to get it for you
as best we can. So approxinmately, at that sane
tinme as we were just speaking Feis, that's his
| ocati on between Buildings 12 and 13, as
Pet erson, Medi na, and G eenl eaf are noving
north between Buildings -- and 8. You see them
depicted there on the bottomright. The |arge
group of students remained on the third floor
casually continuing on to the east stairwell.

So this is that group of students. It's
difficult because of the lack of clarity in the
screen, and students noving around, but | took

t hat approximately thirty second span and tried
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to count the students, and there is well over a
hundred twenty-five students that are inside of
the third floor acting very calm for |ack of a
better phrase. There is sone students, you can
tell, seema little nore pani cked, but other
students are on their phone in casua
conversation, | aughing, joking.

At about that sane tine Medina, Peterson,
and G eenl eaf continue north fromBuilding 7
and to the east side of Building 12. 1In that
top right photograph you see the two yell ow
circles. So these are students that are
evacuating Building 7 directly south of
Buil di ng 12, again under the premse of this is
a fire alarm They're just going about their
normal routine. So they have no know edge of
t he shooter being next to themin Building 12.

At 2:23.17 Medina, Peterson, and G eenl eaf
reach the southeast corner of Building 12. So
they |l eave the screen, but this is the point at
which we are attributing to Peterson being on
the east side of Building 12. Yes, sir.

MR. DODD: You had nentioned David Tayl or
when he got the, he went to the second fl oor,

and we haven't heard anythi ng nore about
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Taylor. Were did he --

SGI. SUESS: So he went into a closet and
remai ned there.

MR. DODD: Right. And at what tinme did he
come out?

SGT. SUESS: Once | aw enforcenent got
there. They're -- they go -- you know, you
used to be cop, they're clearing each room
room by room they find himand take himout.
So going back to the interview with Andrew
Medi na, again those are those water pipes which
he referenced where he dropped off Peterson.

He made a right turn, and again said he did not
see anything which Peterson did or did not do.

We spoke wth Kelvin Geenleaf about what
he recalled fromthat interaction on the east
side of Building 12. He identified the
| ocation as between Building 7, 8 and 12. He
recall ed Peterson telling himto get back
because he did not have a weapon. He said that
Pet erson did not approach the east doors, he
did not ook in the wi ndows on the door, he did
not access his keys, and did not ask G eenl eaf
for his keys. The keys were not necessary, the

door was unl ocked, but we asked that specific
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gquestion to try and gl ean was there anyt hi ng
proactive within Deputy Peterson would have
done at that tinme, and by all accounts there
was not .

He descri bed Peterson as having his weapon
drawn and seem ng stressed. Geenleaf said he
heard five to seven gunshots com ng from
Building -- during this tine. Geenleaf also
I dentified Bonner being the first person to
call a code red. It hasn't happened at this
poi nt yet, though, so just to clarify that.

G eenleaf stated that he later repeated the
code red over the radio at |east twice, but did
not recall anybody acknow edging that code red.
And it's been well established the PA system
cannot be heard outsi de.

So approximately a mnute and forty-two
seconds after the first shot Cruz began to run
towards the west stairs on the first floor.

You can see the students are in the east
stairwell at this point. There is visible
apprehension on their faces. Cbviously | can't
read m nds, but in their body |anguage it's
apparent sone of themwant to go down but are

concerned to do so, or fearful to do so. Sone
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students do end up naking it down, and just
conti nue down, and do so safely.

Approximately a mnute forty-five seconds
after the first shot Cruz wal ked by canpus
moni tor Hixon and fired additional rounds at
him These rounds were not imrediately fatal.
He was alive until |aw enforcenment responded.
So this is the point in which canpus nonitor
Bonner exited the southwest corner of Building
6. He would get onto his golf cart and
continue on to Building 12. You see at the
three story map on the left side Cruz is noving
now towards the west stairwell, and that red
dot represents Feis, so this is at the point in
which Feis is approaching the west stairwell.

A mnute forty-seven seconds after the
first shot is when Feis and Cruz neet at the
west stairwell, where Feis was fatally wounded.
One mnute forty-eight seconds after the first
shot Deputy Peterson is still on the east side
of Building 12. At the sanme -- well, within
seconds of the BSO di spatcher attenpting to
rai se Deputy Peterson, Deputy Hanks, and Deputy
Seward, Deputy Peterson interrupts to broadcast

that he al so hears these gunshots.
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(Ther eupon, the radio transm ssion concl uded, and
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pl ayed in the open neeting:)
DI SPATCH 17Bravo3, 17 Bravo --
SPEAKER:  17Juliet3, please be advised we
have possible -- it could be firecrackers, |
think we got shots fired, possible shots fired

1200 Bui |l di ng.

t he proceedi ngs continue as follows:)

SGI. SUESS. So approxinmately a mnute
fifty-two seconds after the first shot M.
Rospi erski approached a group of students that
was casually noving towards the third floor
west stairwell and turned them around toward
the east. At that sane tinme Medina drove south
away fromthe east side of Building 12, and
students on the north side of Building 7 south
of Building 12, it becones apparent they
realize sonething nore grave than a fire alarm
Is taking place. Those students turn in a
pani ¢ and run back towards Building 7, where
they take shelter. There is still a great
nunber of students on the third floor near the
east stairwell.

CHAIR  Senat or Book, go ahead.
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SEN. BOCK: Thank you. | just want to
make sure that | understood that. These
students on Slide 123 that are standi ng outside
real i ze sonething nore grave was happeni ng and
ran back.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, mm' am

SEN. BOOK: That woul d be because they
heard gunfire?

SGI. SUESS. So those specific students,
and | don't recall any of them by nanme, | don't
recall if they actually heard gunfire. The --
the presunption that we're operating with is
that Medina as he's | eaving, and Peterson and
G eenleaf, we know at different tines they're
also telling students to evacuate. W don't
know if it's happening at that very nonment, but
this is the sane tinme Medina is | eaving.

SEN. BOOK: So they just know that
sonmething really bad is happening in the 1200
Bui l di ng, and to go away.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, ma'am You know, |
don't knowif it's -- we didn't show all of
t hese images to each person we interviewed and
said at this point, you know, what do recal

doing or saying. W know that the people on
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the east side of Building 12 at various tines
were telling students to get away.

So just shy of two minutes past the first
shots being fired by Cruz, Cruz has nmade it to
the west end of the second floor. He does have
the firearmraised, but he's not firing any
shots at this point. He fires into two
classes. One of themwas enpty. There was
nobody at all in that class. And another one
he just shoots through the wi ndow, but nobody
on the second floor is killed or injured.

A mnute fifty-nine second, one mnute
fifty-nine seconds after the first shot BSO
br oadcasts about the active shooter.

(Thereupon, the followng radio transmssion is
pl ayed i n open court:)

DI SPATCH Attention all units in District
15, possible shots fired at 5901 Pine Island
Road at Stoneman Dougl as Hi gh School, possible
shots fired at Stoneman Dougl as Hi gh School .

(Thereupon, the radio transm ssion concl uded, and
t he proceedi ngs continue as follows:)

SGT. SUESS: So two m nutes and two

seconds this |large nmass of students is still on

the third floor near the east stairwell. You
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can tell the students are all looking in
different directions. There's no clear

di rection on who should be going where, or what
I s happening. Cruz is alnost hal fway down the
second fl oor noving towards the stairwell that
he woul d | ater go up.

Two mnutes and five seconds after the
first shot students on -- so there's a catwal k,
a second floor hallway, for lack of a better
phrase, between Building 7 and 8, so from
standing at that |ocation you can see the east
side of Building 12. So these students, and
you see the one circled in red, see Medina, |'m
sorry, Peterson and Geenleaf, as they are
runni ng south toward themfromthe east side of
Bui l ding 12. Seconds |ater after that still
| mage these students turns and then begin to
nove south away from Buil di ng 12.

Two m nutes and six seconds after the
first shot Medina drove south on the east side
of Building 8, so that map on the top right,
the red dot further to the right is Medina.

The other red dot and the green dot are
G eenl eaf and Peterson running south to the

nort heast corner of Building 7. Peterson and
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G eenl eaf spend approximately twenty-seven
seconds on the east side of Building 12.

Two m nutes and seven seconds, M.
Rospi erski has gone to the top of the west
stairwell, and | ooks down the stairs to try and
identify what is happening. So as Peterson has
reached the northeast corner of Building 7 he
turns towards Building 12, reaches up to his
BSO radio on his left shoulder. Students stil
on the third floor are near that east stairwel
door .

So nost conm ssioners have been out there
to the school, and | know it's been quite a
whil e since we've been out there, so this inage
Is Peterson's location, but it's just alittle
cl oser than that canera that captures his
novenent. So the -- on the left side of that
you' Il see there's a very large fence. That
fence was not there on February 14th, that has
since been erected. Deputy Peterson took that
| ocation near the red oval, and there's a few
di fferent inmages here.

So this perspective in the next few inages
that you'll see, this is essentially where

Deputy Peterson was standing. So to the |eft
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you'll see that that's stairwell by which
Deputy Peterson had taken cover. The red oval,
that's classroom 1234. That is the classroom

t hrough which Cruz fired the rounds that

Pet erson woul d have, in all |ikelihood had been
t he | oudest rounds, which Peterson would have
heard. So this is just turning to the right
slightly.

So this tree is the location that Oficer
Burton woul d take upon his arrival. Again, as
we' re noving through this chronologically he's
not there yet, but just renenber this inmage,
and that's the |l ocation that he woul d t ake,
whi ch afforded he and Deputy Peterson the
chance to communi cate back and forth

Two minutes thirteen seconds after the
first shot Cruz fired rounds into classroom
1231. These are the rounds that really caused
the students in the east stairwell to realize
that sonething bad is happening. That's when
they all turned, and that's really when nass

panic on the third floor sets in.

(Thereupon, the following radio transm ssion is

pl ayed in the open neeting:)

SPEAKER: 17Juliet3 -- you got to get sone
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units over here. | need to shut down Stonenan
Dougl as, the intersection.
(Thereupon, the radio transm ssion concl uded, and
t he proceedi ngs continue as follows:)

SGT. SUESS. Two mnutes and twenty
seconds after the first shot Cruz reached the
al cove for Classroom 1234, and fired those
shots, which are in the general direction of
Peterson. There's no evidence to suggest that
Cruz knew Peterson was there. |t just appears
to be coincidence. Two minutes and twenty-two
seconds after the first shot students fleeing
west on the third floor reach, some of them|l
shoul d say, reach M. Rospierski, who is
poi nting themtowards classroons. Miltiple
students attenpt to enter his classroom but
were unable to do so, as Detective Bonasoro
expl ai ned he forgot his keys, or left his keys
when he was evacuating his classroom

At about that sanme tinme there's sone
additional traffic from Deputy Peterson and
Deputy Kratz, who was the first other BSO
Deputy to be on scene.

(Thereupon, the following radio transm ssion is

pl ayed in the open neeting:)
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DI SPATCH: 5901 Pine Island --

SPEAKER: 17Juliet3, we're tal king about
the 1200 Building, it's going to be the
bui |l di ng of f of Hol nberg Road.

(Thereupon, the radio transm ssion concl uded, and
t he proceedi ngs continued as foll ows:)

SGI. SUESS: So two m nutes and
thirty-nine seconds after the first shot Cruz
entered the east stairwell to travel up the
east stairs towards the third floor. Students
on the third floor are still trying to get into
classroons. And in the bottomright inmge you
see Peterson at the northeast corner of
Bui l di ng 7.

(Thereupon, the followng radio transmssion is
pl ayed in the open neeting:)

SPEAKER: W don't have any description
yet, we just hear shots, but appears to be
shots fired.

(Thereupon, the radio transm ssion concl uded, and
t he proceedi ngs continue as follows:)

CHAIR So that's not true, he had a
description from Medina, right?

SGT. SUESS: Correct. Yes, sir, | believe

Medi na said that he gave Peterson a
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descri ption.

CHAIR Right, inthe -- in the golf cart
he gave a descri ption.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir.

CHAIR Right.

SGT. SUESS: Two mnutes and fifty seconds
after the first shot Rospierski you can tel
was attenpting to cal mstudents, trying to get
theminto classroons, so on that third fl oor
I mage on the |left side, you see the red dot,
there are sonme students there wth Rospierski,
and Cruz has reached the third floor stairwell,
and is preparing to enter the east end of the
third floor.

At two mnutes and fifty-four seconds Cruz
began shooting west in the third floor hallway.
Teacher Scott Beigel was fatally wounded while
hol di ng his door open. Joaquin Adiver, Madow
Pol | ack, and Ant hony Bourges were shot around
this tine as they were standing in the mddle
of the hall.

MR. SCHACHTER: And, Sergeant, were they,
can you -- are we going to get into the fact
t hat Meadow and Joaquin were trying to get into

t he bat hroom t hat was | ocked?

Veritext Legal Solutions
800-726-7007 305-376-8800



© 00 N o o~ wWw N

N N N N N N P B P PP R R R R
a A W N BB O © 0O N O 0o~ W N+, O

Page 307

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir. Wthin seconds of
that they do try and get into the third floor
restroom

MR. SCHACHTER: After he starts to shoot
in the hall way?

SGT. SUESS:. Yes, sir. They are not able
to do so, and then quickly flee across the hal
south towards the al cove, where for M.

Rospi erski's class, Joaquin continued into the
adj acent bathroom | don't recall which was

men's, which was wonen's, so he went from one
al cove to the next.

MR. SCHACHTER: And which -- and which
adm nistration officer made the decision to
| ock the bat hroons?

SGI. SUESS: | do not know. | don't know
i f we reached a --

DET. BONASORO M. Porter.

SGI. SUESS: Porter nade that decision.
And di d you ask himwhy?

CHAIR It was for vaping. Renenber it
was for vaping. The third and the first floor
restroons are | ocked because the students were

vaping in them And that's why they put Tayl or

out side the second fl oor restroom It's the
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only restroomthat was open, was the second
fl oor, because they were having a vaping
problemw th the students in the bathroons.
That's why they | ocked them

MR. SCHACHTER: Do we know how | ong t hey,
t he bat hroons were | ocked, |ike did they just
start this, was this for a nonth, the whol e
year, do we have any idea on tine frane?

SGT. SUESS: Detective Bonasoro is saying
that had just started.

MR. SCHACHTER: It had just started.

SGI. SUESS: So two mnutes and fifty-four
seconds after the first shot masses of students
are exiting other buildings, but they again are
exiting in a very cal mmanner. They are still
under the inpression that this is a fire drill.
And these two i nmages, the next screen, you'l
see a map of where they're | ocated.

MR. PETTY. Sergeant, Porter had turned
the fire alarmoff at that point.

SGI. SUESS. Yes, sir.

MR. PETTY: Is it still procedure to
evacuate the buildings when the fire alarmis
shut off?

SGT. SUESS: | don't know if the procedure
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Is that well defined. Detective Bonasoro did a
| ot nore involvenent as far as schoo

procedures and policies. You know, obviously
we cone froma very policy heavy profession, so
there's a policy for nearly everything. |

don't get the inpression that the school board
operates in any way the sanme nanner.

MR. PETTY: | had that sane inpression.

But these kids are out -- we know what Cruz is
about to do, and they're now out wal ki ng
unprotected, they have no idea what's going on,
they're wal king very casually. The fire

ener gency appears to be over, the alarns are
off, but --

SGI. SUESS: Yeah, | think it's a matter
of they hear a fire drill, even though it was
shut down pretty quickly the teachers interpret
it as, or | guess this is another fire drill,
so they just nove ahead with that. They --

t hey never got any information to counter it

ot her than, you know, correct nme if |I'm w ong,

| don't know if there's a sense, when they do
an actual fire drill do they let the alarmrun
for five seconds, for twenty seconds, for three

m nutes, | don't know.
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MR PETTY: Well, had there been an
announcenent over the PA at this point into the
ot her cl assroons, and what was that
announcenent? |'m seeing a yes.

DET. BONASORO. There was an announcenent.
The announcenent was to, they referred to it as
a gas leak. So he called for the evacuation
over the PA regarding the, the readout on the,
on the box on the inside of the SRO so they
evacuated there. It wasn't '"til we hear,

Porter hears Bonner scream ng code red, where
he reverses the code black for the evac to a
code red, code red at that point. But at that
point there's a |lot of people in the hallway,

and nobody heard what was happeni ng over the

PA.

MR PETTY: | just -- well, obviously in
Building 12, but in the other buildings -- it's
still, what, alnost thirty seconds before we're

going to hear the code red called?

SGI. SUESS. Yes, sir.

MR. PETTY: Yeah.

SGI. SUESS: If -- | nmean if you're asking
for a good explanation |I don't have one. |

don't think there is one.
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MR. PETTY: Well, we've already identified
the policy as being shelter in place or
evacuate, and so we've got to, the schoo
district needs to fix that, it's got to be one
or the other. | don't know what the right
answer is, but we've need to pick one.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir.

MR PETTY: But still, when the, when the
fire alarns are turned off we have kids now
wal ki ng around with no i dea what's going on.
This could have -- this could have been
significantly worse.

SGT. SUESS: | conpletely agree.

CHAIR  And, you know, against the
backdrop is, is that until Butler's training in
January there had not been any. In the
preceding tinme there not had been one code red
drill. If you don't train this is what you're
going to get, and, and you got chaos, and an
appear ance of chaos because that's what it was.

SEN. BOOK: And | just want to al so point
out fromthe last presentation | believe it was
Porter, was told by the, no | onger was an FB
agent, that soneone could, you know, open fire

fromthe Sawgrass and --
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CHAIR Right, but he did talk -- that was
to Wexler, correct. R ght.

SEN. BOOK: Right. | nean --

CHAIR Right.

SGT. SUESS: So just shy of three m nutes
past the first shot Deputy Peterson transmts
that he's over by the south side, | think
referring to the south side of Building 12 by
the 700 building. Deputy Kratz transmts that
he is shutti ng down eastbound Hol nberg at the
di vi de between West gl ades M ddl e and the high
school. So again to reference this map it's
really the west end of the football field.
This is the general area to which Deputy Kratz
Is referring.

MR. SCHACHTER: Had he told everybody to
stage 500" away yet?

SGI. SUESS: No, sir. W'Il cover that.
So two mnutes and fifty-seven seconds, Kratz
| ocation is established approxi mately here.
This was confirned | ater by sone GPS records
provi ded by Broward Sheriff's Ofice that at
the | atest put Deputy Kratz at this |ocation by
2:25.12. And you'll see that Cruz is still on

the east end of the third fl oor.
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So we're going to go through the eight
deputies, well, seven in addition to Deputy
Peterson, their statenments, the interviews that
t hey have provided about what they saw, what
t hey heard, what they knew. So we're going to
go through each of those in the next several
sl i des.

So Deputy Kratz has approximately thirty
years in | aw enforcenent. He |ast attended
active shooter training with BSO on Sept enber
9, 2015, and he said as he was approaching
canmpus he saw three school buses driving
towards Marjory Stoneman Douglas. He was aware
that el ementary schools were in the process of
rel easi ng students, so that caused his concern
to be for the students traveling east on
Hol nber g Road.

He tried to get information about the
shooter from students who were fleeing, and he
recal |l ed sonme of themreferencing fireworks, or
firecrackers. To himthe gunshots sounded as
t hough they were thirty or forty feet fromhim
as he was, fromthe area on the east end of the
football field. He nmade reference to there

being only a fence between hi mand where he
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t hought the shots were coming from So Deputy
Kratz' point of view, as he's on the north side
of the fence on Hol nberg Road, or on the right
of way, there's the six foot fence, there's
very | arge banners obstructing your view of
that, and then you're | ooking at the back of
the football stands, so his viewis largely
obscured from where he is.

He expressed a concern about clinbing up
that fence, which, you know, froma tactical
standpoint is a very bad place to be, where
you' ve got your gun holstered and you're fully
exposed on that fence, so that was sone of the
expl anation of his concerns at that point.
Deputy Kratz returned to the trunk of his
vehicle and get his rifle. He said that he saw
Kyl e Laman bei ng hel ped by Sergeant Heinrich as
t hey were noving to the west.

Goi ng back to the chronol ogy, this happens
| ater, but I'"mjust going to go through Deputy
Kratz' statenment about what he said he
experienced. He said that he started to escort
Sergeant Heinrich, who again is unarned and not
in uniform and Kyle Laman, to the west. He

turned Kyl e Laman and Sergeant Heinrich over to
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Deputy Marchese, who would arrive shortly after
that nonent. He said he did not continue east
due to hearing no nore gunshots, and he had no
description of the suspect.

He described Coral Springs officers comng
to his location and taking cover near his
vehicle, and their vehicle, as he tried to
explain to them what he knew. Oficers told
himthat there were three victins inside
Bui l di ng 12, which the officer said he | earned
from Coral Springs dispatch, and Deputy Kratz
rel ayed this over the BSO radio.

Deputy Kratz said that he remained in this
area directing students away from Buil di ng 12,
and from canpus, and trying to keep the roadway
clear for energency vehicles. Mich |later on he
went on to assist with crowd control and
traffic direction.

MR. SCHACHTER: Sergeant, can | ask you a
guestion. It seens, you know, we heard
testinmony on the training, and Deputy Kratz
hasn't had active shooter training in over
three years, you know, I'mnot in |aw
enforcenent, but | nean what do, what is normnal

best practices?
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CHAIR It varies. You know, as | said
yesterday Coral Springs trains every year.
Broward has cycles of training, but they have
exponentially nore deputies. They have
fourteen hundred | aw enforcenent deputies, so
the training goes in cycles. Not everybody is
going to go every year in an agency that size.

MR. SCHACHTER: And he was -- he was BSO?

CHAIR Kratz is, yes.

MR. SCHACHTER: And, okay, so yesterday,
if there's fourteen hundred deputies, and |
t hought there had been twel ve hundred that were
trained in 2017, he was one that mssed it?

CHAIR:  Those nunbers aren't -- those --
t hose nunbers you just said are not accurate,
Is, is that in 2018 they have put about twelve
hundred through. In 2017 they only had about

MR. SCHACHTER: Sixty -- sixty -- okay.
That's right. That's what | neant.

CHAIR -- sixty sonething go through,
because they were, because they were
enphasi zing other training. You can see from
their nunbers that their enphasizing other

courses, which is not unusual because you have

800-726-7007

Veritext Legal Solutions

305-376-8800



© 00 N o o~ wWw N

N N N N N N P B P PP R R R R
a A W N BB O © 0O N O 0o~ W N+, O

Page 317

to pick and choose. You can't send everybody
to do training every year on everything,
especially in an agency that size, so their
training was cyclical, and you' re not just
going to get everybody through every year.

SGI. SUESS: So we're three m nutes and
two seconds after the first shots. Deputy
Eason transmts |'|ll get the west side of
St oneman on Hol mberg. It's inportant to
remenber that five seconds earlier Deputy Kratz
transmtted |I'mshutti ng down east bound
Hol nberg at the divide between West gl ades
M ddl e and the high school, so imediately
after Deputy Kratz nakes that transm ssion
Deputy Eason says that he's essentially going
to the sane pl ace.

Three m nutes and six seconds after the
first shot canpus nonitor Bonner drove east
toward Building 12 on the south side of
Building 13. Cruz is still near the east end
on the third floor, as M. Rospierski and
students have taken cover in the alcove to his
cl assroom Three m nutes and el even seconds on
the canera you're able to see that Sergeant

Hei nrich shuts off the water and sprints
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towards Building 12. Again, he was unarnmed and
did not have a vest.

Canpus noni tor Bonner at this point
reaches the sout heast corner of Building 13,
where he hears the gunshots, and sees canpus
nonitor Feis lying on the ground. He stopped
noving forward at that point, so on this nap
you see the approxi mate | ocation of those three
I ndi vi dual s.

MR. SCHACHTER: Sergeant, what is the
significance of Sergeant Heinrich shutting off
t he water?

SGI. SUESS: No, that because earlier on
he was out there watering the baseball field,
So it's very easy to see at that point he shuts
off the water. That's when it's occurred to
hi m sonmet hing i s going on.

MR. SCHACHTER: | understand. Ckay, thank
you for explaining that.

COURT REPORTER: I'msorry, if | can just
make sure you guys are not talking at the sane
time, because | can't get it on the record
separately.

MR. SCHACHTER: Sure. Sorry about that.

SGI. SUESS: Three mnutes and twel ve
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seconds past the first shot N kolas Cruz was
rel oading his firearmand wal ki ng east in the
hall. So he had turned his back towards

Rospi erski and the other students that were
taki ng cover. Again, Rospierski and the
students were unable to enter the classroom
and then they tried to, well, M. Rospiersk
tried to get into Ms. McCaul's door, but wasn't
able to do so to that, because that door was

| ocked as well. So Rospierski after noving to
t hat classroomthen gets the students, and they
feel west on the third floor.

So you see Cruz, this canera is on the
east end of the third floor. The red circle is
just pointing out his firearmis unl oaded at
this point, there's not a magazine in the
magazi ne well. He does have a magazine in his
right hand. M. Rospierski |eaves the students
that are in the alcove to his classroom and
goes to the al cove where for Ms. McCaul's
cl assroom After realizing that door is | ocked
as well he directs the students to flee with
hi mwest on the third floor towards the third
floor stairwell.

SEN. BOOK: How far is that fromthat
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al cove, because | see the exit, that woul d be
the stairwell?

SGT. SUESS: So from M. Rospierski's door
to the stairwell, | haven't been in that
building in a while. If | had to estinate,
twenty, thirty feet approxinately.

CHAIR Maybe a little | onger.

SGI. SUESS: Gkay. Three m nutes and
fifteen seconds after the first shot |arge
groups of students gather on the south and west
sides of Building 9, still in a manner
consistent with a fire drill. The students are
novi ng about very casually with no know edge of
anyt hi ng of the shooting taking place.

Three m nutes and fourteen seconds,
Deputies Perry and Vol pe, Parkland deputies say
over the radio that they are going to be
responding as well. Three m nutes and si xteen
seconds after the first shot is when canpus
nmoni tor Bonner calls the first code red. He is
south of Building 13. You can see in that
i mpage he's holding the radio up to his nouth,
and it's during this tinme that Rospierski is
| eadi ng students west on the third floor hall.

SEN. BOOK: That's forty feet.
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SGI. SUESS: Yes, ma'am W -- we can try
and get you a better neasurenent down the road
i f you want, but --

CHAIR  And you know, for them-- and it's
only over the radio. Not everybody had a
radio, and it wasn't over the PA system

SEN. BOOK: Well, it was nore just for the
point of that's how far --

CHAIR Into the event it was.

SEN. BOCK: Everything had gone.

CHAIR. Absolutely. Right, it was -- it
was -- Cruz is about, about hal fway down the
hal | way, so those |ast victins, Meadow Pol | ack,
and the ones that were in the al cove, and then
just before he went into the teacher's | ounge,
so it's right at the end of the event. o
ahead.

SGI. SUESS: And again, you know, |'m
poi nting out the tinme since the first shots,
but we've gone through a hundred and si xty-four
slides. This has only been three m nutes and
si xteen seconds. A |lot has happened in a very
short period of tinme. So seconds after canpus
monitor calls that code red staff and students

on the west side of Building 9 react to the
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code red being called. You know there's no
recording of the school radio so it's largely
based off of statenents that we were given, and
sonme video that you'll see in a second, that we
have conme to the conclusion that that is when
the first code red was call ed.

So if you watch this video in the
hi ghl i ghted area the | ady standing there in a
burgundy shirt and dark shorts, a teacher, an
adm ni strator, coach, I'mnot quite sure, but
you wi Il see watching her, she's the first
person to react. She -- | believe it's her
| eft arm she throws up, and all these students
prior to that nonent are very cal mand
col l ected, after she does that you can tell the
body | anguage changes drastically.

(Thereupon, a video is played in the open neeting,
and the proceedi ngs continue as follows:)

SGI. SUESS: So based on Assi st ant
Principal Porter's statenment that he did not
call the first code red until hearing canpus
noni tor Bonner call it over the radio, it is
not until after this point that Porter calls
over the PA that there is a code red, notifying

everyone el se, everyone el se that can hear him
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on a PA that is.

CHAIR.  Anybody notice when the code red
Is called where do the students go, back into
the school. And there's other video of it too.
It goes back to the |lack of training, and the
| ack of -- because there's other ones you'll
see later, and there's video where at one point
| ater on they're actually bringing kids back
I nto the canpus, because it was chaos. And --
and they weren't drilled enough, there were no
drills, so you got, you know, a code red is
called, she's turning them back into the
canmpus, and you can see other ones with, back
in the, even in the 100 building, et cetera,
you can see themliterally bringing kids back
into the, into the school.

SEN. BOOK: And then -- I'msorry to
interrupt, M. Chair. | -- these kids -- |
notice the young | ady, she has balloons in her
hands right here, backpacks, like typically, |
nmean it's been a while since | was in high
school, believe it or not, but you don't take
your backpacks with you during a fire drill,
you don't take your balloons with you when

you're on a fire, you know, during a fire
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drill. I --

SGI. SUESS: So, Senator, what | can tell
you -- I'msorry to interject.

SEN. BOOK: No, no, |I'mjust --

SGT. SUESS. In speaking with sone of
t hese students, sonme of them thought positively
of this fire drill, it's the second one, it's
near the end of the day, so they though, oh,
we're just going to | eave early.

CHAIR Right.

SGT. SUESS: So maybe -- maybe that's what
some of themwere thinking at that point.

CHAIR  Secretary Carroll, go ahead.

MR CARROLL: Just to reiterate that,
because it was about fifteen mnutes fromthe
end of the day. But to go back to what the
Sheriff said about bringing them back to
school, | thought it was strange, because |
don't know what the young man told Feis when he
went to him but | just thought it was strange
that as he went back to Building 12 he brought
the kid back with him To ne it was |ike he
was bringing the kid back into harm s way.

Now, | know he deposited himin Building 13,

but it was strange, even that reaction, where
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he brings himback to where he just saw this
kid with a rifle and, and this kid clearly knew
that there was shooting going on that building,
and he brings himback. Just nothing nmakes
sense here.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir.

M5. LARKIN SKINNER: | have a question.
So that staff nenber clearly did not hear the
code red over the PA system because we've
al ready established the PA system there's no
speakers outside, or in conmobn areas, correct?

SGI. SUESS: Well, the code red woul dn't
have been call ed yet over the PA

M5. LARKIN SKINNER: Okay, so how --

SGT. SUESS: She hears it over the radio.

M5. LARKIN SKINNER: So she hears --
that's just what | wanted to clarify, thanks.

SGI. SUESS: She heard Bonner directly.

M5. LARKIN SKINNER: Ckay, so she heard
the very first code red by Bonner.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, mm' am

MR. SCHACHTER: But that was on the school
radi o, right?

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir, correct. Correct.

MR. SCHACHTER: And then Porter is the
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first one that he changes the evacuati on order
and calls a code red on the PA

SGI. SUESS: Correct.

MR SCHACHTER. Got it.

SGI. SUESS: So three m nutes and
twenty-one seconds, so I'mgoing to try and
poi nt out any tine we watch a vi deo, because
t hat again can be m sl eading on the chronol ogy.
That video was twenty seconds, so we're sort of
going back intinme alittle to the begi nning of
that video. So four seconds after that code
red was call ed Rospierski and those students
were entering the west stairs, where Cruz again
began shooting. This is where Jam e Quttenberg
and Peter Wang woul d end up being fatally
wounded.

Three m nutes and twenty-three seconds
after the first shot seven of the ten students
in M. Rospierski's group fled down the west
stairwell. Kyle Laman would join, join them
shortly thereafter, and at sone point while
fl eeing he was shot in the ankle.

So we're going to talk a little bit about
Deputy Eason, and sone of the data that we've

gat hered on him and sone of the statenents
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that he had provided. If you recall he's the
i ndi vidual that five seconds after Kratz said
he was going to the west side of canmpus he
transmtted essentially the same thing. GPS
records from Broward SO show the green dot, so
when that, the nmap on the right side of the
slide, that green dot corresponds to the green
dot on the map on the left side, show ng the,
approxi mately the sane | ocation.

Deputy Eason would have.3 mles north of
Hol nberg Road at 2:25.07. Twenty-seven seconds
earlier is when he transmtted that he would go
to the west side of the MSD canpus, soO
obvi ously the shortest route for himto get
there would be follow ng that yellow Iine on
the map on the left side, south on Hol nberg,
west on -- I'msorry, south on Pine I|sland,
west on Hol nberg, and then south onto the
West gl ades canpus, where he woul d end up at
that red dot. You can see in doing so he
drives past all buildings on the MSD canpus, in
particular Building 12 where the red box is
| ocated. Cruz's final shot would not be fired
until 2:27.10, and we'll talk nore about that

inalittle bit.
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Three mnutes and thirty seconds after the
first shot there's additional -- this is when
Deputy Kratz first transmts about shots being
heard by the football field.

(Thereupon, the following radio transm ssion is
pl ayed in the open neeting:)

SPEAKER: Daniel 2, | hear shots fired by
the football field. Shots fired by the
football field.

DI SPATCH: Shots fired by the foot bal
field heard.

(Thereupon, the radio transm ssion concl uded, and
t he proceedi ngs continue as follows:)

SGT. SUESS. As a rem nder, Deputy Kratz
I's the one who expl ai ned he's got the fence
barrier, the football field, the shots sound
much closer to him Three m nutes and
thirty-three seconds canpus nonitor Brian
St aubly wal ked north between Building 7 and 8,
where you see Kelvin Geenleaf has his radio in
his hand. It's evidence on the video that M.
Greenleaf is directing students away from
Buil ding 12, and away from his |ocation. Cruz
Is still on the third floor, approxinmately

hal fway down the hall.
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A second later Cruz continued past Meadow
Pol | ack and Carol Loughran, and fired rounds at
themas they were in the al cove of M.

Rospi erski's door. Cruz would continue on and
into the al cove where Joaquin Qiver was

hi di ng, had taken cover, and fired additional
rounds at him As we referenced earlier we
Identified Deputy Kratz' |ocation based off of
his radio transm ssion. W also nade reference
to his GPS. This is that tine by at the |atest
Deputy Kratz was on Hol nberg Road near the west
end of the football field.

Three m nutes and forty seconds after the
first shot Deputy Peterson nakes anot her
transm ssi on.

(Thereupon, the following radio transm ssion is
pl ayed in the open neeting:)

SPEAKER:  17Juliet3, we're |ooking at the
1200 building, it's going to be the 300
building, it's going to be right off of
Hol nberg Road by the senior |ot.

(Thereupon, the radio transm ssion concl uded, and
t he proceedi ngs continue as follows:)
SGT. SUESS: Three minutes and forty-eight

seconds after the first shot Cruz fired
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additional, or I'"'msorry, fired rounds at the
w ndow on the west end of the third floor hall
This is when he woul d have begun his attenpts
to start sniping out of those upper w ndows,
and canpus nonitor Staubly was visible standing
next to Deputy Peterson.

So these are crine scene photographs taken
by BSO. This is | ooking at the wi ndow at which
Cruz was shooting out of, so you can see how
the, the damage to that window. 1In the
di stance you see the building, are Westgl ades
M ddl e, you see the football field, the track,
just to sort of give you a lay of the land, and
hel p orient what you're seeing.

At three mnutes and fifty-two seconds, as
you saw in the video yesterday, Cruz approached
the stairwell and attenpted to open the door
where M. Rospierski had conceal ed hinself. He
put his foot at the bottom of that door to keep
Cruz fromopening it. At three mnutes and
fifty-three seconds as canpus nonitor Bonner is
fleeing to the west in his golf cart he cones
across Sergeant Heinrich, who is continuing to
nove east on canpus.

MR SCHACHTER:  Sergeant.
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SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir.

MR. SCHACHTER: So -- so the nurdered was
not able to go through that door because
Rospi erski bl ocked him Wat did he do then?

SGT. SUESS:. W're getting there. He --
he -- we'll get there.

MR. SCHACHTER: Ckay. Ckay.

SGT. SUESS: And here we are. So Cruz
left that stairwell door and turned, and woul d
go into the teacher's |lounge. Al renaining
gunshots fired by Cruz would have been fired
frominside that teacher's lounge. So this is
a view frominside the teacher's |lounge. This
is a window facing south. You see the, to the
ri ght the damage from sone of the attenpted
shot s.

CHAIR He fired through those w ndows,
and then he, he tried to open the w ndows, but
he couldn't figure out how to open them And
you can see where he had tried to open the
w ndows, so very fortunate that those were
Hurri cane resistant wi ndows and he coul dn't
fire through them and then he couldn't figure
out how to open them because there were

hundreds of kids in that courtyard bel ow t hat
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were fleeing to the west at that tine.

MR. SCHACHTER: In -- and one page back he
fired rounds at the w ndow on the west end of
the third floor. Was he trying to do to the
same thing there?

CHAIR Yes. He had -- and he had -- and
he had just finished shooting Peter Wang at the
poi nt, and then he fired through the w ndows,
and Peter Wang was underneath the w ndows t hat
he was shooting out of. And then fromthere is
when he went into the third floor |ounge. He
shot out the w ndow of the door to the
teachers' |ounge, he went in, tried to shoot
t hrough wi ndows, tried to open the w ndows,
couldn't, and once he figured out that he
wasn't being effective, then that's when he
fled. M. Petty, go ahead.

MR PETTY: You just pointed it out, M.
Chair, the, the one roomthat he accessed by
shooti ng a wi ndow out was unoccupi ed.

CHAIR Correct.

MR. PETTY: Had he done that in any of the
cl assroons and entered --

CHAIR  This would have been a nore

devastating event than it already is. Senator.
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SEN. BOOK: | know, M. Chair, that he
spent quite a bit of tinme -- | apologize. [|'m
sorry. | know he spent quite a bit of tine in

the teachers' lounge. D d he -- he didn't -- |
woul d i magi ne he didn't spend that entire tine
shooti ng out the w ndow.

CHAIR. Aot of it. | nean, you know, we
don't know exactly how nmany rounds. | can tel
you that, though, that there were, he rel oaded
In there, because there were nagazines found in
there. He had set up a bi-pod on the gun, and
was trying to shoot fromthe bi-pod. So he was
in the teachers' |ounge from about 3:52 unti
about, I"msorry, from about 2:25.30 to about
2:27.35, and that's when he hit the stairs. So
he was in there for about two m nutes.

SEN. BOOK: So -- and across fromthat
wi ndow is the, is Building 13.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, ma'am So on this
particular image in the bottomleft, that white
buil ding, that's Building 13. Sone of the
fragnents fromthese projectiles actually ended
upon the roof of Building 13.

SEN. BOCK: Right. So when you say that

-- when you say they're projectiles on the
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roof, so did stuff go through?

CHAIR  Yeah, sone did, the fragnents.
When they went through the roof, they did go
t hrough but they fragnented, they broke up. So
there's two windows in the teacher's | ounge.
One goes west, and one goes south, so he had
two angles there. So when you go into the
teacher's lounge it's kind of |ike, the w ndows
are kind of like this, so some of those are
facing directly to the west, and sone are
facing to the south.

SEN. BOOK: Thank you.

SGT. SUESS: Just another image |ooking to
the west. And again that's Building 13, the
white building. The silver is the awning on
the east side of Building 13. So the golf cart
down there, if you can see, that's Coach Feis'
golf cart, where he would have left it. So
three mnutes and fifty-nine seconds, a very
| arge group of students had fled east toward
Pine Island Road between Buildings 1 and 8. A
staff nenber goes over, or several staff
menbers | should say, and bring those students
back onto canpus.

MR SCHACHTER:. Wich staff menber?
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SGI. SUESS: | do not recall his nanme off
the top of ny head, but we do have, have their
names.

MR. SCHACHTER: And when you intervi ewed
t hem what was their rational e?

SGI. SUESS: | don't recall that we have,
that we interviewed themat this point. Yeah,
In a chaotic situation | don't know what they
were doing. | think it's been well established
they were not well trained on what to do.

SEN. BOOKX: I'msorry, can | ask ny --

SGI. SUESS: Four mnutes and --

SEN. BOOK: |I'msorry, | have a -- is that
- - and this is for the |l aw enforcenent in the
room who kind of studied this like for a |ong
time, lots of time, is it human nature to want
to just go back to what you believe to be your
safe space, and they believed their classroom
or like their school, like -- no -- no.

CHAIR | -- | don't think that that's --
| nmean anybody el se wants to weigh in on it, |
don't think that that's intuitive that way. |
think that the, the intuition should be is, is
to get the heck out of there, and to get as far

as you can as fast you can. And why anybody
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with that situati on woul d come back, unl ess
they were directed to conme back, and these kids
wer e bei ng brought back on -- and so you see
that a fewtines. It really doesn't nake any
sense because, you know, the training, and
everybody's heard it, right, run, hide, fight,
so run and get away.

So but -- but again, they weren't trained,
and, and if you have no training you' ve got not
muscl e nenory, you've got no, you're going to
react how you train, and if you're not trained
this is how you react, you don't appropriately.

SHER. JUDD: Also -- also you get a nob
mentality. Werever the first one runs they
all run.

CHAIR Right.

SHER. JUDD: So when -- when one or two
broke and run one way, and everybody is
pani cked, they all followed the | eader.

SGI. SUESS: It's four mnutes, this is
that transmssion | referred to earlier, again
specul ation on ny part, Peterson maybe neant to
transmt this over the school radio. Four
m nutes and four seconds after the first shot

Deputy Kratz nakes a reference to firecrackers,
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"' mnot sure, but he's by the football field.
Four m nutes and ni ne seconds after the first
shot Kelvin Geenleaf ran south from Deputy
Peterson's location. He described in his

i nterview he went on to get students to secure
in the auditorium Building 8.  Deputy Staubly
woul d return to Peterson's | ocation.

SEC. SENIOR: One second. Just goi ng back
to 186, hasn't Kratz already seen a wounded
student at this point?

SGI. SUESS: No, sir, | don't believe so
at this point. And there's -- the only thing
we woul d have to really put atinme frane to
that would be any radio traffic. There's no
video over there. There's no body canms. So
it's largely narrowing it down to a w ndow.

CHAIR. But go to back to -- renenber too
-- and this is, you know, bringing it up
yesterday, but renmenber at this juncture is
that all these calls are going into the Cora
Springs comuni cation center, and if the calls
were going into the BSO comruni cati on center
they already know it was the 1215, the 1216,
they already had that, they knew it wasn't on

the football field, they knewit was in 1200
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bui | ding, they were hearing shots in the 1200
buil di ng. But the channel that he's
transmtting on right now, this channel he's
transmtting onis, is not being heard by
anybody that has that know edge, and has that
i nformati on, because all that information is
sitting over in Coral Springs.

And that's why when he transmts this, and
he says that they thought it was firecrackers,
and thought but we'[re not sure it's by the
football field, is that Coral Springs had a
pl ethora of information, specific classroons,
heard shots fired, et cetera, and, and but
nobody on the BSO channel had that information
to say no, it's not on the football field,
here's the classroom here's the buil ding,
we're hearing shots et cetera. So that's the
si tuation.

SGI. SUESS: And to that point, the
deputies are also being told by Peterson to
bl ock traffic.

CHAIR Right.

SGI. SUESS: The transm ssion has not
occurred about staying away yet, but --

SEC. SENIOR:  Ckay.
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CHAIR Go ahead, M. Petty.

MR. SCHACHTER: \When --

MR, PETTY: Just for ny understanding --

CHAIR Hang on. Go ahead, M. Petty.

MR. PETTY. Just for ny understandi ng
t hough did, was Kratz able to hear Peterson on
t he radi 0?

CHAIR  Yes.

MR. PETTY: So | know the information was
sitting wwth Coral Springs, but BSO did have
sonme information, they had a deputy on scene
rel ayi ng sone information, weren't they al
hearing it?

CHAIR Yes, Kratz -- Kratz woul d have,
woul d have heard it, or should have heard it,
as far as, you know, Peterson's transm ssions,
yes.

MR PETTY: Ckay.

CHAIR Right. But not the specifics, you
know, as far as, you know, the classroom the
cl assroom nunbers, and all of that.

MR. PETTY: He wouldn't have that. He had
bui |l di ng and shots fired, right?

CHAIR Sure. Yeah, absolutely. And he

woul d have heard, and he woul d have had that,
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yes, that's, that's true. M. Schachter

MR. SCHACHTER: When you -- did you
interview Oficer Staubly, and |'mjust curious
why he didn't go into the building.

SGT. SUESS: Well, Staubly is a canpus
nmonitor. He works for the school s.

MR. SCHACHTER: Staubly is a canpus
nmonitor. Got you. Got you. Yeah, thank you.

SGT. SUESS: Yes. Yes, sir. And
Det ecti ve Bonasoro just rem nded ne, and
t hroughout the course of these interviews, and
we asked several deputies what, what did they
recall hearing at that time -- sone of these
interviews were done nonths afterwards. Sone
of them have gone back and |istened to the
radio traffic, which obviously is going to skew
their menory. And it's not -- again, it's not
|l ost on us, | nean this is a, none of us have
experi enced responding to an incident of this.

| nmean we've been to shootings, and bar
fights, and bank robberies, that are all just
chaotic in and of thenselves, but sone of these
deputies don't recall hearing certain
transm ssions, which is not unusual, and we'l|l

get to this point later, radio traffic in, or
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radi o transm ssions in Parkland, even on a good
day, it's been explained to us are not great
just due to its proximty.

MR. PETTY. So they -- so they may have
heard sonet hing, they may not have heard
sonmething. The throttling issue with the
radi os hadn't begun yet, right?

SGT. SUESS: | don't believe so.

CHAIR  No. No.

MR PETTY: kay. But obviously under
stress --

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir. So after G eenl eaf
got the students in an auditorium he cane
across Assistant Principal Mrford. Later they
woul d go into Building 1 and begin review ng
the surveillance video. So you see Sergeant
Heinrich here. He starts noving north towards
that student parking lot. So this is on the
sout hwest corner of Building 13. He's wal king
north between Buildings 10 and 13, where he
woul d | ater encounter Kyle Laman.

This shows the approximate travel of
Sergeant Heinrich as he | eaves the basebal
field. He would encounter canpus nonitor

Bonner, continue north between those buil di ngs,
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where he would neet up with Kyle Laman
somewhere in that general area. So in response
to Deputy Kratz' transm ssions about hearing
shots by the football field Deputy Peterson
says that we al so heard it over by inside the
1200 Bui | di ng.

Four minutes and twenty seconds after the
first shot based off of Broward' s GPS records
Deputy Seward arrived on Hol nberg Road north of
the MSD canpus. He was not seen approachi ng
t he west doors of Building 12 until
approxi mately 2:37, about ten mnutes after the
final shot had been fired, and el even m nutes
after his arrival. So this shows the
approxi mate travel of Deputy Seward. This is
based both on his GPS, and then also in his
statenent where he provided a di agram show ng
his path of travel. So he goes west on
Hol nberg, nmakes a U-turn, and then parks by the
east gate. Later he would continue south
towards the east side of Building 12.

Deputy Seward has thirty eight years as a
| aw enforcenent officer anongst several
agencies. He last attended active shooter

training on August 19, 2015. He's worked as a
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deputy in Parkland for seventeen years. He is
one of the deputies that referenced radio

probl ens in Parkland on any given day. He was
in the 6300 bl ock of Hol nberg Road when he
heard the shots fired call from Deputy

Pet erson, and he responded to that | ocation due
to hearing Peterson refer to Building 12, and
havi ng prior know edge of where Building 12 was
| ocated on the canpus. He could not recall if
he saw any, any other vehicles on Hol nberg Road
when he arrived.

Deputy Seward said that as he was pul ling
onto the curb he heard, quote, five or six
very, very loud, very, very loud, referring to
gunshots, they sounded |ike bonbs, | didn't
know exactly where they were, | knew they were
sonewhere, they were on canpus sonewhere.

After hearing these shots he heard sonmeone
broadcast that there were shots by that
football field, and that sane person asking for
bolt cutters.

Deputy Seward said that the gunshots
sounded as though they were com ng west of the
1200 building. He went to the rear of his

vehicle to get his vest, and then went behi nd
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his engine block to put his vest on. So he
went to the north side of his car. He saw
Deputy Hanks pull up east of his |ocation and
run towards Sergeant MIller. Deputy Seward saw
officer -- and again, this is just his
statenment on what he recalls. This is noving
ahead in our chronology. But he saw O ficer
Fer nandes on Hol nberg Road, but quickly | ost
sight of him and did not know where he went.
He saw additional CSPD cars arrive,

approxi mately three or four of themeast of his
| ocation. He didn't have any interaction with
them but recalled one of them asking Sergeant
MIller if they could cut open the gate.

Deputy Seward said that he foll owed these
officers onto canpus. Once he reached Buil di ng
officers had already entered through the east
doors. At sone point while he was on the east
side of Building 12 he saw Deputy Peterson to
his south. Deputy Seward | argely renmai ned at
t he east door hol ding the door open as students
and staff were fleeing. He assisted in
detaining nmultiple students in ROIC uniforns
based on the description.

So you'll see as this plays out it's
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I nportant to note BSO | argely operated under
the prem se that the suspect was wearing an
ROTC uniform so a light blue shirt and a dark
bl ue uni form pant, whereas we know Medina is
wearing a, I'msorry, Cruz is wearing a
burgundy polo with an ROTC | ogo and dark pants.

Seward said that he eventually went to the
nobi | e command bus on Pine Island Road. So
goi ng back to our chronol ogy, four m nutes and
twenty- two seconds after the first shot Deputy
Peterson transmts.

(Thereupon, the followng radio transmssion is
pl ayed in the open neeting:)

SPEAKER: W' re | ocking down the school
right now Mke sure there's no pedestrian
traffic anywhere on Hol nberg Road.

(Thereupon, the radio transm ssion concl uded, and
t he proceedi ngs continue as follows:)

SGI. SUESS: At four mnutes and
thirty-two seconds Deputy Peterson appears to
have his firearmdrawn and pointed at the east
side of Building 12. Cruz is still in the
teacher | ounge on the third floor. This is the
point in which Sergeant Reid inquires based

of f, inquires about the active shooter based
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off the fire chief crossing paths with him
(Thereupon, the following radio transm ssion is
pl ayed in the open neeting:)

SPEAKER: | just had one of the fire admn
go by and nmake reference to an active shooter
at Dougl as, anything to that?

DI SPATCH. 10-4 Tayl or23, we are, there is
an active shooter working at Douglas, nultiple
gunshots are being fired. W can hear themin
t he background. Qur 911 |lines are bl ow ng up.
We have multiple units on the phone, sone are
giving EMD, it is confirned.

(Thereupon, the radio transm ssion concl uded, and
t he proceedi ngs continue as follows:)

SGI. SUESS:. So throughout our interviews
we heard several officers from Coral Springs
reference this transm ssion as what pronpted
themto nove. It was admnistrators in
neetings, detectives at their desks, officers
on traffic stops, they hear this transm ssion,
and that's what sets CSPD s response into
nmot i on.

So four mnutes and fifty-three seconds,
based of f Deputy Stanmbaugh's body cam we know
that he arrived on Hol nberg Road north of
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Building 13. This is a screen shot fromhis
body cam This is the sane canmera you heard
t he gunshots on in the ani mati on, and you'l
see that video again shortly. Fromthat body
camyou see an individual in the red circle
runni ng west on the south side of Hol nberg
Road. W believe this is possibly Deputy
ool shy, and we will get to himin a m nute.
But you see Building 12 in the distance.
Again, Cruz is still in the teachers' | ounge.
This is Deputy Stanmbaugh's body cam
We'll play that for you, and you'll see this is
basically the point he puts the car into park,
and then ends, this runs approximtely two
mnutes | believe. You will hear the gunshots.
They begin at approximately 2 -- I'msorry,
yes, 2:27.03. So this tine it's in UTC, so the
19 you see in the top right, pretend |ike that
is a2 andit's 2:26, not 19:26.
(Thereupon, the body camvideo is played in the open
meeting:)
SPEAKER: Unit3, we're going to Bravo. |
hear shots fired.
DI SPATCH: Shots fired -- all units --

shots fired, stay on Main.
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SPEAKER: -- shots -- (unintelligible)

SPEAKER: -- nmake sure nobody cones inside
t he school .

DI SPATCH: | need the units --

SPEAKER: Bravo3, we need sonebody to shut
down Hol mberg at -- Pine Island.

DI SPATCH: W need to shut down Hol nber g,
advi se.

SPEAKER:  Hol nmberg i s shut down -- 900
bui | di ng, we have shots fired -- we're trying
to get the fence open.

DI SPATCH:  Unit13 at 900 Buil di ng.

SPEAKER:  No, do not approach the 12 or
1300 buil ding, stay at |east 500" away at this
poi nt .

(Thereupon, the body can video concluded, and the
proceedi ngs continue as follows:)

CHAIR  Yes, Sheriff Ashley, go ahead.

SHER. ASHLEY: |s the Broward County
Sheriff, this deputy, was he on-duty or
of f-duty?

SGT. SUESS: He was working an of f-duty
detail at a nearby school.

SHER. ASHLEY: Are they required -- do

they have a policy to wear their vests while on
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duty?

SGI. SUESS: So that's been a point of
contention at BSO between the union and the
admni stration, it's ny understanding. Sheriff
| srael may be able to give a better
explanation, but it's ny understanding that the
policy is a mandatory wear, but if you sign a
wai ver then you can opt out of wearing it.

CHAIR But -- but it was not -- but, and
to be clear, it was not a mandatory wear policy
at that time. M understandi ng, since that
time they have inplenented a mandatory wear
policy, but because of whatever with the union
is they can sign sonmething to opt out of it.
That is a question for Sheriff Israel. He can
further clarify if that's not correct tonorrow,
but at that tinme on February 14th BSO did not
have a mandat ory wear policy.

SHER. ASHLEY: Thank you.

CHAIR  Senat or Book.

SEN. BOOK: Thank you. | just want to
make sure that when | heard them say stay on
main, that's |ike the main channel.

CHAIR Right, main -- main channel --

mai n channel .
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SEN. BOCOK: Ckay, so like, that's |like
when you tal ked, when we tal ked about at sone
poi nt |ike sonebody decided to do, |ike go,
stay on one channel, had nothing to do with --

CHAIR. They -- they -- they took to --
this is all on a channel they call 8A it's the
mai n radi o channel for that area, and they were
take - - taking people not related to this
event to another channel.

SEN. BOOK: Cot it.

CHAIR That's all that is.

SGI. SUESS: So as a rem nder that video
was about a mnute and a half, so we're
st eppi ng back. Four mnutes fifty-seven
seconds after the first shot Coral Springs

di spat ch broadcasts.

(Thereupon, a radio transmssion is played in the

open neeting:)
DI SPATCH Al units remain at 10-3,
remain at 10-3 for the active shooter at

Dougl as Hi gh school .

(Thereupon, the radio transm ssion concl uded, and

t he proceedi ngs continue as follows:)
SGI. SUESS:. The 10-3 is just a reference

to energency traffic only, so if you're going
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to say sonething on the radio basically it
needs to be very inportant. Five mnutes and
one second after the first shots student
Brandon Hough wal ked north in the direction of
Deputy Peterson, and was wai ved away by
Staubly. Both student Brandon Hough and
Staubly fled south fromthis |ocation.

Four mnutes and fifty-seven seconds,

Pet erson again makes a transm ssi on about
heari ng shots fired.
(Thereupon, a radio transmssion is played in the
open neeting:)

SPEAKER. We're going to Bravo. | hear
shots fired.

DI SPATCH:  Shots fired.

SPEAKER:  Shots fired --

(Thereupon, the radio transm ssion concl uded, and
t he proceedi ngs continue as follows:)

SGI. SUESS: Five mnutes and fifteen
seconds O ficer Burton transmts that he is at
MSD. Again, he said he made this transm ssion
alittle bit before arriving. It's not that
uncommon of a practice within |aw enforcenent.

(Thereupon, a radio transmssion is played in the

open neeting:)
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SPEAKER:  Jul i et39 -- Dougl as.
(Thereupon, the radio transm ssion concl uded, and
t he proceedi ngs continue as follows:)
SGI. SUESS: So five mnutes and
twenty-five seconds deputy, or |I'msorry,
Det ective Gool sby transmts that we definitely
have shots being fired, and Deputy Kratz again
makes a reference to the football field.
(Thereupon, a radio transmssion is played in the
open neeting:)
SPEAKER: 17N nj a4, we definitely have
shots being fired.
DI SPATCH: Al District 7 units goto
Br avo.
SPEAKER: Tango2 -- right by the footbal
field.
(Thereupon, the radio transm ssion concl uded, and
t he proceedi ngs continue as follows:)
SGI. SUESS: So simnultaneous to this
Deputy Stanbaugh's body cam recorded the,
approxi mately the five final gunshots. Cruz is
still inside of the teachers' |ounge. Based
off this we know that Deputies Perry and
Det ecti ve Gool sby were on Hol nberg Road, based

on their interviews and radio traffic. So
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Det ecti ve Gool shy says over the radi o he hears
t he gunshots, and we know from Deputy Perry's

I nterview that Deputy Gool sbhy was present when
he arrived. They each said that they heard
approximtely three to five gunshots. Sergeant
MIler, Deputy Kratz, Deputy Seward, and Deputy
Eason, were all on or near the canpus at this
time as well because they also heard the
gunshot s.

So there are eight deputies, including
Deputy Peterson, that heard gunshots, the dates
next to each nane is the last tine they
attended active shooter training. The
asterisks represents that those three deputies
are the only ones for whom BSO has GPS records.
Sergeant Heinrich was the only Coral Springs
of ficer who heard the gunshots, but again, he
was of f-duty at that tine.

These are the approxi mate | ocati ons where
each deputy was at the tinme they heard the
radio traffic from Deputy Peterson about shots
being fired. Beneath their name is the
approxi mate di stance to the MSD canpus.

MR. SCHACHTER: My question is if, you

know, how do we understand -- okay, so they
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haven't had, you know, active shooter training
in along tinme, how would their have actions
been different if they had training nore

recently, is a question that | have, and --

SGT. SUESS: I'mnot sure there's really a
fair answer to that. | neanit's, it's a
hypot hetical. | mean it's worth pondering |

think, but I would | eave that to the comm ssion
for discussion if they decide.

MR. SCHACHTER: | would -- | would
certainly love, you know, the experts on the
comm ssion to give ne their opinion. | don't
know if this is the right tinme, but | just
woul d |i ke that answer.

CHAIR It's a hypothetical. | don't know
that it can be answered. You know, woul d they,
woul d t hey have done anything differently, |
can't answer that, you know. We'I|l get into
this alittle bit nore, you know, about -- and
some of them are the ones, as you noticed
earlier, did stay up on Hol nberg Road, and I
think there's sonme fair questions about whet her
It was appropriate for themto stay on Hol nberg
Road, but let's -- you'll see it alittle bit

nore. Let's get into it further. Secretary
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Kapusta, go ahead.

SEC. KAPUSTA: Do you know how | ong
bet ween BSO receiving the first call and
arrival on the canpus, do you know how | ong
t hat took?

SGT. SUESS: So how long fromthe first
time BSO got the first 911 call until the first
deputy arrived?

SEC. KAPUSTA: | could figure that out. |
can work on it tonight and have an answer for
you in the norning.

SEC. KAPUSTA: |'d be curious to know in
addition to that how long it was between when
t he ot her --

MR. SCHACHTER: Coral Springs.

SEC. KAPUSTA: Coral Springs, yes.

CHAIR: So -- so Coral -- so Cora
Springs, renenber Coral Springs, okay, they did
not dispatch this until four m nutes and
twenty-one seconds into it. Ckay, so it was
four m nutes and twenty-one seconds after the
first 911 call, and then, and then deputy, or
O ficer Burton was, announced that he was there
about ni neteen seconds |ate.

SEC. KAPUSTA: So | guess ny question is
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nore fromthe first time Coral Springs received
the first 911 call until the transm ssion went
to BSO, and then BSO -- so how nmuch tine | apsed
between the call to Coral Springs before BSO
got their first call, and then BSO actually
arriving on canpus.

SGT. SUESS: kay. Yes, ma'am | don't
have those off the top of ny head, but we can
wor k - -

CHAIR. The answer -- the answer to that
I's, is BSO was on canpus because Peterson was
on canpus, but -- but -- but so it's sixty-nine
seconds, right, it's sixty-nine seconds from
the tinme that the first 911 call until the
first dispatcher at BSO put voice to
m crophone, was sixty-nine seconds. And -- and
that's when Peterson acknow edged it. And the
previ ous slide shows where everybody was when
the first radio traffic occurred.

MR CARROLL: But |I -- as a followup to
t hat, because fromthe tine Cruz entered that
bui | di ng, and because | do think it's startling
that when it was broadcast that Coral Springs
was able to have sonebody on the scene in

ni net een seconds, so that sixty-nine -- | guess
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I"'mtrying to figure out because when you saw

the sinulation | don't think any of the

officers were in a place, | think four m nutes
and sonething, | don't recall what it was, but,
but nost of the killing took place in that four

m nute period and, and with the exception of
Peterson the other officers weren't in a
position to enter that building until, until
after that four mnute mark, so | guess what
I"mtrying to get to is eventually if this
radio or the 911 system worked nore efficiently
what's the best -- can we get an estimate -- if
that thing worked efficiently and, and that
call was handled a different way, what's the
best possible response tine that we woul d have,
and when do you think a deputy, or soneone
ot her than Peterson woul d have been on the
scene, cause, cause | don't know what that is.

SGI. SUESS: An estimate, |1'd say within
ni nety seconds there would have been anot her
deputy or officer there. Now, it may not have
been a deputy, it nay have been a Coral Springs
officer, or sonebody else, but --

MR. CARROLL: But there would have been a

| aw enf orcenent response you think wthin a
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m nute and a half if, if --

SGI. SUESS: Once the transm ssion has
been nmade.

MR. CARROLL: Right.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir, over the radio. |
mean provi ded that Coral Springs and BSO are on
t he same channel, or have a shared
conmuni cations center, sonething to that
affect. That's an estimate though.

CHAIR  Sheriff -- Sheriff Ashley go
ahead.

SHER. ASHLEY: |If we go back to the
earlier presentation where the scenario
actually played out there were plenty of
deputies there. They were all shutting down
traffic rather than responding to the building
and the shooting, and that was at the direction
of Peterson. So there were a |ot of officers
there very quickly, they just didn't get the
right direction fromthe --

CHAIR Well, you know, and | said -- |
think it's a fair question. This is something
| think that, that where we're going to go with
this is | think we need to turn it over to the

Broward County Sheriff's Ofice, and turn it
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over to Sheriff Israel, and | think that this

I's sonmething they need to |ook into further.

W're junping a little ahead here. You'll see
nore of it. Sergeant MIler, who was -- you
saw that in the animation, you'll see nore of

this now, Sergeant MIler, who was there fairly
i mredi ately, who was the first supervisor on
the scene, and off the top of ny head, but I
believe it's three mnutes plus before he even
gets on the radi o, and he never noved.

And so, you know, and they're up there
hearing the shots fired on Hol nberg Road, and

yes, Peterson is on canpus, and yes, Cruz is

still in the building, and they're hearing the
shots, | think the question has to be asked,
it's a hard question, | don't |like asking it

but it has to be asked is, is that why didn't
they nove toward the building. You ve got
seven deputies on Hol nberg Road, why didn't
they nove. Wy did Eason cone all the way down
Pine Island, cone west on Hol nberg, and then go
south and go over to Westgl ades M ddle? Wy
didn't he pass the school? Wy -- you know,

t hose are questions that are probative, that,

that, that need to be addressed, and | think
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that the Sheriff needs to address those.

What the outcone is | can't tell you, but
those are things that, that need to be
addressed. You know, the issue about Stanbaugh
getting out of his cruiser, hearing shots,
going to the back of the cruiser and getting
his vest out, and putting the vest on -- and
there's one that you're going to hear comng up
here, and you mght here it |ater today or
tonorrow, there's another deputy in there that
tal ks about telling people to hold on, wait
until | get dressed, because he's got to put
his vest on.

You know, and it's a hard thing to say,
but, you know, | don't have a nmandatory wear
policy in our agency, but if you don't wear a
vest and you're out there on patrol taking
calls, is that your butt better go in there
W t hout the vest because that's what you signed
up to do, and it's your choice, and if you're
not going to wear a vest then you need to go
in. You don't get to get dressed first, your
tail end needs to get in there and take care of
busi ness. And, you know, when you're sitting

there hearing shots, and you're putting your
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vest on, | think it begs the question about
whet her you should be sitting there putting
your vest on or whether your tail end needs to
be hightailing it into where those shots are
com ng from

SHER. ASHLEY: And -- and another -- |
woul d just nmake the point that | think those
deputies, or at |east ny outside |ooking in
viewis were msdirected by the person that was
on scene closest to the action, and was, and
they were being directed to do sonething that
was not, not in training.

CHAIR And -- and sone of the shots that
they heard were before they were getting those
directions from Peterson, so you're correct,
but, but sone of that was being heard by them
before Peterson started tal ki ng about stay back
500", before he was giving the direction about
the traffic. So | -- | absolutely agree with
you, and anything after that, anybody after
that, there's no cop in the world that isn't
going to respond to what that guy who is on
scene who is giving you direction about, so |
whol eheartedly agree with that, but what |'m

talking to is prior to that direction being
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gi ven.

SGI. SUESS: And to that point in that
video with Deputy Stanbaugh earlier, that video
ended at the point where Peterson said stay
500" away, so there was a period, and just
rough estinmate, maybe thirty seconds where
St anbaugh is behind his car, so which begs the
question for those thirty seconds what's,
what's your mnd set, why are you already
taking a position of cover.

MR. SCHACHTER: And the reason, you know,
obvi ously, you know, everybody was shot in a
little over three m nutes, but could, if
of ficers have gotten in there sooner could they
have saved sone of the |ives?

CHAIR  You know, that's an unknown, you
know, and the only one, as many of you
observed, and | think it's accurate, the only
one that was clearly in a position to do
anyt hi ng that woul d have made a difference was
Scot Peterson. And that's the only thing
that's clear. The rest of it, you know, it's,
it's not that clear.

MR. SCHACHTER: Wiy -- what tinme was the

first deputy there outside of Peterson?
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CHAIR Let's get through this. You'll
see it as you get intoit. W need to let it
evol ve.

SGI. SUESS: So at that tinme of the --
2:27.03, when Cruz begins firing the |ast
vol l ey of shots, these are the deputies, again
that you saw in the am nation, their |ocation,
approximate | ocation as it relates to Building
12. So we're going to go into Sergeant
MIller's response. He arrived traveling west
on Hol nberg Road, and parked approxi mately
north of Building 12. He would remain there,
exit his vehicle, remain in that general area,
and nmuch later on, and you'll see this tonorrow
sonetine, he |later goes down to the nobile
command buses on Pine |sland Road.

Sergeant M Il er has been wth BSO for
thirty-two years, |last attended active shooter
training June 7, 2016. He was at the BSO
Par kl and of fi ce when he heard the radio
traffic. He estimated that he heard
approxi mately three to four shots as he was
arriving. He described themas rapid, sounded
outside, did not sound nuffled at all. He

bel i eved the shooter was outside due to the way
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t he shots sounded, and because Peterson was
directing roads to be shut down. He got behind
his vehicle and put on his vest. He saw
Deputi es Seward and Hanks, and Deputy Hanks
told himthat he was going in. He directed
Coral Springs to cut the gate. W did not hear
fromany Coral Springs officers that they had
been directed by Sergeant MIler to cut the
gate.

He directed officers and Deputy Seward
toward canpus. Again, that's the statenent
from Sergeant MIller, that is what he is
saying. At this point he is unaware if any
ot her | aw enforcenent other than Peterson is on
canpus. He recalled hearing radio traffic
maki ng reference to the football fields. He
expressed a concern about parents comng to
school to pick up their children. He
referenced radi o probl ens begi nning early on.

He said that he repeatedly tried to get on
the radio to coordinate the response. He said,
guote, | was controlling the scene as best |
coul d, end quote, and went on to reference how
radi o problens hindered his ability. He said

that | was trying to get resources and peopl e
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in places to help, eventually | got a K-9 to ne
to deploy. And | said earlier, he |later would
show up to the staging area, or the nobile
command buses.

Moving on to Deputy Perry. So he arrived
in the sane direction as Sergeant M| |l er,
parked his car approximately north of Buil ding
13, exited his vehicle, ran south to a gate
where Detective Gool sbhy he saw unl ocki ng the
gate. Detective Gool sby, due to living on
anot her campus, is ny understandi ng, has a key
to the exterior gates of all schools. Deputy
Perry continued south, where he would | ater
stop at a vehicle, and he in our interview
poi nted out that the area near the basketball
courts, so to the west side of Building 6, is
where he thought the shots were comng from
And the thought that the shooter potentially
was shooting toward the west side of Building
12.

Deputy Perry has been with Broward SO for
twenty-three years, and | ast attended active
shooter training Novenber 18, 2015. He was
wor ki ng as an SRO at Park Trails Elenentary

when he heard the radio traffic. That schoo
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I's approximately 1.3 mles fromMD. He said
that he put on his vest, collected his rifle
and magazi nes. Wen he arrived he saw

Det ecti ve Gool sby on Hol nberg Road near his
trunk. Deputy Perry parked in the |eft hand
turn | ane which provided access to the west
gate. He heard approximately three to five
shots while either exiting his car or
approachi ng the west gate.

He saw Sergeant Heinrich in the northeast
parking lot. Heinrich was the parent who Perry
woul d reference on the radio. So you'll hear
traffic later where Perry makes reference to
heari ng sonething froma parent. |It's actually
Sergeant Heinrich. Heinrich yelled to Perry
and Gool shy fromthe fence, and Deputy Perry
recall ed hearing radio traffic about the
football field.

Deputy Perry said that Gool sby had keys,
and unl ocked the west gate. Deputy Perry never
saw Deputi es Marchese, Kratz, or Eason, who
woul d have been west of his |ocation on
Hol nberg Road. He heard Deputy Peterson
I dentifying Building 12, but Perry was under
the inpression that Building was Building 9.
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He was just under the belief that that was the
name of that building. He would transmt on
his radio, we're just going to Building 13 and
the 900 building. He said that the shots
appeared to be comng fromthe area north of

t he basketball courts, or near the basket bal
courts based on hearing them seeing Kyle Laman
and Sergeant Heinrich in the north parking |ot,
Deputy Kratz' radio traffic about shots being
near the football field, and Marchese tal ki ng
about bei ng near Westgl ades Mddle with an

i njured student.

Deputy Perry said that he approached a
position behind or north of a car on the north
side of Building 13, quote, waiting for people
to arrive, and we're | ooking because we're
heari ng nothing. He said he saw the bull et
hol es on the third floor of Building 12, and
saw Coach Feis lying on the ground. He thought
sonmeone had been on the west side of Buil ding
13 shooting at the west side of Building 12 at
Coach Feis. W asked himwhy he did not
approach the basketball court where he thought
the shots were comng from and he said that

was what Detective Gool sby had gone to do.
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Deputy Perry stated that a Coral Springs
of fi cer approached himto his east, and that a
group of Coral Springs officers ran past him
towards Building 12. This group included,
woul d have included Coral Springs Oficers and
Deputi es Vol pe and Hanks. In a later interview
with Coral Springs Oficer WIkins he described
an individual who is consistent in appearance
Wi th Deputy Perry. He said this deputy was
standi ng behind a tree as Oficer WIkins and
Det ective Monzon approached him and this
deputy said we can't all stand behind this
tree, we're going to get shot.

Deputy Perry did not join those Coral
Springs officers and Deputy Vol pe approachi ng
Bui |l di ng 12 because, quote, if |I leave this
area he can run out the gate, he can circle
back around and anbush, soneone has to do an
over- watch, if | leave this spot who's going
to cover this area. He said that Captain
Jordan | ater jointed himbehind that car.

Det ective Gool sby arrived in the sane
fashion as Sergeant M| ler and Deputy Perry.

He parked his vehicle north of Building 12, ran
west towards the gate which Deputy Perry
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previously identified. He described noving
south through a parking |ot, having sone
exchange with Heinrich, and then noving sout h,
where he went towards the east side of Building
13. Detective Gool sby has been with Broward SO
for twenty-two years, and | ast attended active
shooter training on May 17, 2016.

He explained that he was at his desk in
t he Parkland district upon hearing the radio
traffic. | explained where he parked. He said
upon reaching the west gate he heard the final
five gunshots, and believed that those shots
were com ng from between Buil dings 12 and 13,
SO an accurate assessnent on his part. He
descri bed Deputy Perry being near him He saw
Kyl e Laman and Sergeant Heinrich. He tried to
get sone information from Kyl e Laman, and went
on to direct themwest toward the other
deputi es.

He went south towards the southeast corner
of Building 13. He saw the holes in the
wi ndows on the third floor of Building 13, but
could not tell if those projectiles had gone
fromoutside inside or inside to the outside.

After continuing to Building 13, that's when he
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| ost track of Deputy Perry, who remained at the
vehicle in the north parking lot. Goolsby said
he di d not advance further south onto canpus,
as he had not heard shots for a couple m nutes.
He recal |l ed bei ng approached by Oficer

Harri son, and they checked the doors to
Bui l di ng 13, which were | ocked. He did not
recall hearing nuch radio traffic at all, and
did not hear any transm ssions about Buil ding
12.

Det ecti ve Gool sby said he al so knew
Buil ding as the 900 Building. He described
Coral Springs officers running to check on
canpus nonitor Feis, and he spoke about them
going into Building 12. It did not make sense
to hi m because Feis had been outside, Laman was
outside, so he anticipated that the shooter was
al so outsi de.

Deputy Vol pe joined officers on the west
end of Building 12 and assisted Coral Springs
officers with Chris Hi xon, who had been pul |l ed
out of Building 12 by this point. Goolsby said
t hat he maintained coverage to the south as
they went in. So basically |looking to the

south in possible anticipation that the
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shooter, or anther shooter, may cone fromt hat
direction. Goolsby said that he later went to
check on Feis again, and | ooked into Building
12, where he saw several officers advanci ng
through the building. He later saw Captain
Jordon anong the cars north of Building 13. He
recal | ed Captain McKeone from Coral Springs and
Sergeant Heinrich joining himfromthe south.

He expl ained that he al nbost shot Sergeant
Hei nrich due to Sergeant Heinrich's clothing.
So at this point Heinrich had made it to the
west end of MSD, nmet with Captain MKeone.
Capt ai n McKeone gave Sergeant Heinrich an extra
ballistic vest and a handgun. So he sees
Hei nrich com ng around dressed |ike that, and
his initial reaction is this is probably not a
cop. Detective Goolsby then transmts over the
radio that all additional responding officers
need to cone fromthe north to try and avoid
that friendly fire situation.

CHAIR. Senator Book, go ahead.

SEN. BOOK: In ternms of some of his
comrents and recol |l ections, when Gool shy said
he went back to check on Coach Feis again, two

t hi ngs, one, when we've tal ked about |ike what
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do you do during an active shooter, and I, it

al ways struck ne because | don't, that you have
to step over sonebody who's hurt to stop

what ever i s happeni ng.

CHAIR Correct.

SEN. BOOK: Like is everything al ready
stopped at this point, or is that like, no, so
this was -- okay -- and --

CHAIR.  Nobody has gone into the building
at this point.

SGI. SUESS: But at this point the
gunshots woul d have stopped. So this is sort
of where you're -- the | aw enforcenent response
is going to be fluid. |If you hear gunshots you
need to go to them

SEN. BOOK: Right.

SGT. SUESS: If they stop for a few
m nutes you sl ow down and becone nore
met hodi cal , you're searching for the suspect.
| f you hear gunshots again, okay, then it's
time to pick up speed again, go back towards
t hose gunshots.

SEN. BOOK: | understand. | just wanted
to make sure that | understood.

MR CARROLL: |I'm confused about the
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comment where it said Deputy Vol pe joined
officers on the west end of the buil ding, of
Building 12 with H xon. So they entered the
bui l di ng and --

SGT. SUESS: Well, again, this is just
goi ng through Gool shby's statenent, so we're
j unmpi ng ahead chronologically. So | apol ogize
If that is confusing. So what happened,
eventual |y when | aw enforcenent officers
entered Building 12 they renove Chris Hixon
fromthe building and put himon a golf cart.
So Gool sby is explaining as they nove Hi xon out
Vol pe, Deputy Vol pe goes to hel p those officers
get M. Hixon onto a golf cart.

So Deputy Eason approached in the sane
direction on Hol nberg Road, continued past the
canmpus, and went south. So that green box
represents approximately where he parked his
car on the, really the border, for lack of a
better phrase, between MSD and West gl ades.
He's been with Broward SO for ei ghteen years,
| ast attended active shooter training on Apri
28, 2016.

Deputy Eason said he was previously the

SRO at Westgl ades M ddle School. He said that
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he had reviewed his body cam footage prior to
the interview which we conducted with him He
expl ai ned that he was | eaving Heron Hei ghts

El ementary, where he was assisting wth traffic
control, and he was going east to handle

anot her call when he heard the radio traffic.
He coul d not recall where he was when he
activated his body cam Initially he said he
could not recall if he had to put his vest on
when he responded to the scene.

He later in that sanme interview said,
guote, | believe | put nmy vest on when | got
there, so | had to redo the canmera when |
arrived on scene, | had actually put ny canera
off my shirt and put it onto the vest, so it
took a few seconds to do that, | had to find a
place to put it on. He said in the interview
that he probably had the wi ndows down in his
car. He passed anot her deputy and patrol
vehi cl es on Hol nberg Road. Deputy Eason is not
i ssues a rifle.

In one of the interviews he described
heari ng shots after getting out of his car,
quote, as soon as | got there, end quote, and

fromthe direction of the MSD canpus. In
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anot her interview he clainmed he could not tell
where the shots were comng from or where he
was when he heard those shots. He said, quote,
"' mnot exactly sure when | heard gunshots, if
| was approaching the school or when | got
there, but it could have been anywhere between
six and a dozen total.

Deputy Eason was asked what nmade you park
there on the west side of the MSD canpus,
versus anywhere el se on that canpus, and he
said | believe when | was getting there | heard
a deputy say shots fired by the football field.
The evidence woul d contradi ct Deputy Eason's
statenment. As a rem nder, at 2:24.35 Deputy
Kratz transmts he's shutting down Hol nberg
Road between Westgl ades and MSD. | mmedi ately
t hereafter Deputy Eason says that he's going to
go to essentially the sane location, and it's
not until 2:25.08 that Kratz says that he hears
shots by the football field. WlIl, we know
t hat Deputy Eason arrived on the west side of
MSD after, I'"msorry, prior to the transm ssion
by Deputy Kratz.

Deputy Eason stated that his focus was on

the football field, and he was worri ed m ddl e
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school kids m ght have been outside as well.

He said, quote, | was the SRO there, and | knew
upon respondi ng that the SRO was not on scene
at that school. Again evidence would
contradi ct Deputy Eason's statenent. At
2:28.03 his body cam begins recording as he's
on the border between MSD and West gl ades

M ddle. Four mnutes later at 2:32.08 he asks
over the BSO radi o, ask the SROif the canpus
Is on | ockdown. So this illustrates that he
di d not have know edge that the SRO was not on
canmpus, otherw se he would not be asking himif
t he campus was on | ockdown.

Deputy Eason was asked in his interview
was there sonething that prevented you from
entering MSD s canpus to go towards, or
possi bly towards where you thought the gunshots
were. He said, well, | didn't know where they
were, the gunshots, but | already saw the
deputies there so | passed them | don't know
if they were BSO or Coral Springs, | don't
know, but that's when | passed them and went
down to the west gate there on the west side.

Rem nder, in an earlier interview he said

he heard gunshots as soon as he got there, and
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fromthe direction of the school. On his body
cam and you'll see the video shortly, he
points to the area of Building 12, and

I dentifies that as where the gunshots were
comng from Yes, sir.

SHER. ASHLEY: Any theory on the
I nconsi stenci es, why?

SGI. SUESS: | think it may be anot her
situation where he realizes his response was
| nadequate, and he's trying to cone up with
some reason.

So we just went through quite a few
interviews. Going back to the chronol ogy,
we're at five mnutes and twenty-si x seconds
after the first gunshot. Again, this is the
time in which the final shot is heard on Deputy
St anbaugh' s body cam

(Thereupon, the body camvideo is played in the open
meeting:)

SPEAKER: | hear shots --

DI SPATCH: Al District 7 units goto
Br avo.

(Thereupon, the body cam video concl uded, and the
proceedi ngs continue as follows:)

SGT. SUESS: So Deputy Stanbaugh remai ned
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on Hol nberg Road for approximtely five m nutes
next to his vehicle. After soneone suggested
getting a deputy onto the Sawgrass Expressway
he | eft Hol nberg Road and drove south to the
end of canpus, I'msorry, to the south end of
the campus. So this is where Deputy Stanbaugh
arrived north of Building 13. He's been with
BSO for twenty-four years. He attended active
shooter training nost recently February 8,
2016. He was working an off-duty detail when
he heard Deputy Peterson's radio traffic. He
did not recall hearing any other radio traffic.
He did not wear a vest prior to the shooting,
and he did not have a rifle.

Upon arrival he heard the gunshots, and
knew t hey were com ng from canpus, but could
not tell fromwhere on canpus they were
originating. He saw two deputies inside of the
fence. He could not identify them but these
deputies are al nost certainly Gool sby and
Perry. He said that he stayed by his vehicle
because the shots had stopped. Wile waiting
by his vehicle he called for another deputy or
officer to cone over by him This was seen on

his video. It appears that a Coral Springs
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officer pulled up next to him exited his car,
and then noved south toward canpus. W' re not
able to identify which officer that is.

He claimed in an interview the dispatch
asked several tinmes for sonmeone to go to the
Sawgr ass Expressway, and that was why he went
there. W know fromradio traffic there was a
single request to have soneone on the Sawgrass
Expressway, and twelve seconds after that
request he responded saying that he woul d go.

Chi ef Babinec from Coral Springs Fire
approached Deputy Stanbaugh while still on
Hol nberg Road, and Deputy Stanbaugh told him
there is, quote, three people down, and that
Babi nec needed to go further west. It took
St anbaugh five and a half mnutes to get to his
position on the Sawgrass Expressway.

CHAIR Explain -- explain when he got on
t he Sawgrass what he did.

SGT. SUESS:. So at that point he had
bi nocul ars, and he took essentially an
over-wat ch position, watching the canmpus, and
that's, that's where he stayed. He stayed --

CHAIR  How did he get there?

SGT. SUESS: That map is comng up in just
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a mnute, Sheriff.

CHAIR Okay. Al right.

SGI. SUESS. After not being able to
recall when he | ast attended active shooter
training MSD i nvestigators asked twenty years
ago, then he said, no, not twenty years ago,
ten years ago, and he said, no, | couldn't give
you a tine, it was a long tine ago. Deputy
St anbaugh attended active shooter training
February 8, 2016. It was not uncommon duri ng
our interviews for deputies to have a difficult
time renmenbering the last tinme they attended
active shooter training, and what type of
training they received, whether it was a
| ecture, PowerPoints practical exercises,
drills.

MR. SCHACHTER: | nean it just, it just
points out that it's not on the top of their
mnd. If -- if they're not training every
year, you know, | would defer to you gentl enen,
but that's what it says to ne.

CHAIR It -- it was -- it was perplexing
at the tine. | can tell you that this caused
us, and | had a discussion with Sheriff |srael

about this, and it caused us to go back to
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training, and cone back down for nore
interviews, to get all the records of
everybody, because when we got this
I nformati on, and he said he hadn't been to
active shooter training, you know, twenty
years, ten years ago, | was stunned by that,
and so -- because it didn't make any sense,
because we know they do training, and it raised
the question as to why. So we went back and
got it, and in fact he's wong, as you can see
he did, he had been, you know, a couple years
previously, so, you know, | don't know the
answer to it, and but it was sonething that
per pl exed us over the | ast several weeks, and
as this cane out, this only cane out in the
| ast several weeks, but why he would say it was
ten years ago, and why others had trouble
recalling it, soit, it's a valid question that
we haven't been able to figure out.

MR. SCHACHTER: What about when you asked
the other officers and deputies on scene, did,
were they able to recall, oh, | went two years
ago, or | went three years ago?

CHAIR  No, just what Sergeant Seuss j ust

said is, is that a lot of them they couldn't
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recall. Whatever it is it didn't resonate with
t hem enough for themto be able to recall it
when they were asked. Sheriff Judd, go ahead.

SHER. JUDD: O -- or do they not want to
admt that they had been trained to do
sonmet hing different than the response? None of
t his nmakes sense.

CHAIR It -- it doesn't make sense, sOo in
trying to figure it out, | nmean that's, that
certainly is a valid, could be an explanation
for, we don't -- we don't know, but it doesn't
make sense that sonebody would say, is that |
haven't been to active assailant training in
twenty years, in ten years, and others woul d
say that, what were you taught, | don't really
remenber, | don't really, you know, does it, is
It because it wasn't enough, because it was a
four hour block, and you | ook at the | esson
pl an during that four hour block, sone of the
actual tine for drills was |ike only ninety
m nutes, did they not get enough reps.

| don't know the answers to those
guestions, but those are the things that we
have been tossing around and trying to figure

out, trying to put sonme explanation to this,
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because it didn't nake sense to us that people
woul dn't renenber that in conjunction and
context wth this incident.

MR. SCHACHTER: You know, when you say
that, you know, they, they do other training,
di d, when you | ooked through the training did
you, did you say, oh, that makes sense, or they
shoul d have spent nore tinme on active training,
| ooking at all the training that the, you know,
was given to thenf

CHAIR There's no question that the
Broward Sheriff's O fice does a | ot of
training.

MR. SCHACHTER: No, | understand that, but
' mtal king about --

CHAIR  And -- and they -- and that they
have a dedicated training unit that does a | ot
of training, there's no question about that.

MR. SCHACHTER: But |'m sayi ng should they
have been training nore on active shooters.

CHAIR:  You know, |I'mnot going to offer
an opinion on that. | -- and | don't know --
they did a lot of training onit. It was
cyclical training, as | said, and in an agency

that size fromny experience you're going to
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have cyclical training because you can't get
everybody through all the tine, every year
there's other requirenents of training that you
have to give, so it is clearly appropriate in
ny view that you have cycles of training, and
that you, over a period of tinme you'll have
peopl e that go through the various bl ocks of

it. | think it's common, and in an agency that
size it's appropriate.

SHER. JUDD: Understand there's al so
training on Hurricanes, recover, riots, crowd
control, and I can go on and on, and on, and
on. There -- there is a litany of things that
you have to keep folks trained up on, and so
It's not uncommon that you can't train
everything every year because there's just not
enough hours or noney.

CHAIR. They got to -- they got to be on
the street doing the job at sone point, you
know what | mean, they have to -- training is
i nportant, but they can't train all the tine.
Secretary Carroll, go ahead.

MR. CARROLL: To ne the, the big thing
here is -- and | understand the chaos, and |'ve

never had to put nyself in that position so, so
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| don't want to judge others, but clearly by
sonme the response was inadequate. \What
di sappoints ne nore is the answer by sone here
are not credible, and one of the things we | ook
for in law enforcenent is, A that they are
going to be the one, that Sheriff Judd said, is
going to run through the door, but we al so need
themto be credible, and, and not only don't |
believe this is credible, but | take it from
this last slide it was a little bit passive
aggressi ve, because this is serious business,
and when we're aski ng when you | ast got that
training we're trying to determ ne whether the
response was i nadequate because you were poorly
trained so that we can fix it, so for youto
not even give that any thought, and, and just
t he response, and the nature of the response,
i ndicates to ne it was a passive aggressive
response. |It's disappointing.

SGI. SUESS. Yes, sir.

MB. LARKING SKINNER: | woul d just mention
t hat Conmi ssioner Ashl ey here was keeping track
of the nunber of years of experience, and |
think it's worthy to note none of these

deputies were new. They've had significant
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time here, and that nakes you wonder about
culture, and about conpl acency setting in. W
are all human beings, and so | don't know t hat
we'll ever find the answer, |ike you said, why
peopl e do what they do ultimately, but | think
gi ven the sheer nunbers of deputies, plus the
years of experience, there does have to be a
questi on about culture and conpl acency.

SHER. JUDD: And there -- there's an old
maximthat if we had to fight wars wth nen
over forty-five there would be no wars. So
when you - - when you -- this -- this was the
perfect storm and these backup cars that are
arriving, they truly don't know what's
happening, and if they're hearing that shots
are fired, or they're comng fromthe footbal
field, or they're comng from Building 1200, or
they're comng from 900, and even when you get
t here and you hear the crack you can't isolate
t hat because it kind of echoes, and you, you've
got a parking lot full of cars, so in essence
when you, when you | ook at the cars that are
pouring in after the fact you go, okay, |
understand why they're trying to get their

beari ngs.
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But then you | ook and you see that Coral
Springs right, ran right to the building, so
what did they know, maybe on anot her frequency,
that these deputies didn't know, or were these
deputi es responding to Peterson, who was there
and giving theminstructions, and when you're
t he responding cars and the guy on the ground
there tells you go here, go there, do this, do
that, that's what you do, with the
under st andi ng that he knows and is reacting
appropriately.

So there's a lot of dynamics all at work
right in the mddle of this vast energency, and
that's the hard part to sort out.

MR. SCHACHTER: Sergeant, when was the
date of the, the active shooter at the airport,

was that in 20167

SGI. SUESS: | think it was nore recent
t han that.
MR SCHACHTER: | don't think it was 2017.
CHAIR It's too -- it's too late in the
day. | don't renenber.

MR. SCHACHTER: The -- the -- the reason
|"masking is be -- the reason -- I'msorry?

CHAIR  When was the --
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MR. SCHACHTER: One year prior, so it was
20 -- okay, so it was 2017. And they had
al most all of their officers trained in 2017
with active shooters. You said twelve hundred
had gone through --

CHAIR No. No. No. No. You keep
saying that. The twelve hundred is in 2018.

It was sixty-two in 2017. But renenber, when |
say they're trained, it isn't |like that they
hadn't received previous training. As we saw
yesterday they've been training in cycles with
active assailant trainer, and active shooter
training since 2007, so just because in 2016
that there are only sixty-two that went

t hrough, those are the sixty-two they cycl ed

t hat year because their enphasis in '17 was on
ot her training.

But peopl e had been through in "16 in
greater nunbers, in '15 in greater nunbers, in
"14, so just because they only did sixty-two in
*17 doesn't nean that their deputies did not
have active assailant training. They did.
Those are just the nunbers they cycled through
In that particul ar year.

MR. SCHACHTER: And when you say training,
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Is it just like an eight hour course; is that
what it is?

CHAIR So -- we went through this
yesterday. At that point, okay, at that point
they had two bl ocks of instruction, a four hour
bl ock in active assail ant response, and a four
hour block in rescue task force response. Now
they' ve conbined it, and it's an ei ght hour
bl ock that is both covering active assail ant
and rescue task force, and so far this year
t hey' ve got about twelve hundred through. So
it was different back in '"17. Nowit's -- now
it's an ei ght hour day.

SHER. ASHLEY: Can | ask one nore
questi on?

THE COURT: Go ahead.

SHER. ASHLEY: On the -- on the origina
simul ati on when the vehicles started arrive,
and you saw the green dots start to, out on
Hol nberg, or whatever the --

SGT. SUESS:. Hol nberg, yes, sir.

SHER. ASHLEY: Hol nberg Road. Then you
saw the blue dots conme. And then you saw the
bl ue dots go through the gate.

SGT. SUESS: Right.
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SHER. ASHLEY: And sone of the green dots
foll owed, but the blue dots went through the
gat e.

SGT. SUESS: Right.

SHER. ASHLEY: Was that because they had
ei ther -- have you uncovered anything that
woul d | ead you to believe that they did that
because they had nore information --

SGT. SUESS: Absolutely.

SHER. ASHLEY: -- or was that self-
initiative?

SGT. SUESS. No, sir, absolutely, Oficer
Burton transmtting the three story building on
the north end of canpus, and, you know, they
had received these 911 calls where it's being
I dentified, specific room nunbers where
students had been shot.

SHER. JUDD: So they had better
I nf or mati on.

SGT. SUESS. Yes, sir, undoubtedly they
had better information. And -- and as we
progress you'll see that unfold a little nore.
And sone deputies, in particular Deputy Hanks,
and we' ||l evaluate his statenent, but |ong

story short, he gets behind a car to orient
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hi msel f, he didn't hear any gunshots, but sees
a group of Coral Springs officers bee |ining
towards Building 12, so he says |I think, well,

t hey | ook |ike they know where they're going,
"Il join them And that's what he did, and he
ends up being the first deputy inside Building
12.

CHAIR  So, John, let's get through a few
nore, and then when we get to a certain point
here we'll stop, and then we have public
comment. But let's get through a few nore.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir. So back to the
chronol ogy. Five mnutes thirty-five seconds
after the final, I"'msorry, after the first
shot, M. Rospierski makes it down the west
stairwell. Cruz is still inside of the
teachers' |lounge at this point. Students on
t he sout hwest corner of canpus begi n wal ki ng
west towards Westglades Mddle School. This is
about two and a half mnutes after the code red
had been called. Prior to this point, again,

t hese students were gathering in a pretty
casual manner.

This is the type of crowd which Ni kol as
Cruz was looking for. This is what he hoped
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for. This is what he described in his videos.
Five mnutes and fifty-two seconds after the
first shot Deputy Peterson transmits that he
needs a unit by the front of the school, nake
sure nobody cones inside. Shortly after M.
Rospi erski went down the stairs, and M.

Rospi erski ended up going into the second
floor, and he hid in a, in a office there with
a |l ocked door, Cruz sets his rifle and vest
down on the third floor |anding and ran down
the stairs.

Deputy Seward transmts that they need
sonmebody to shut down Hol nberg at Pine Island,
and dispatch attenpts to locate a deputy to do
that. Six mnutes and el even seconds after the
first shot Oficer Burton transmts that he
needs nore details, and he's on scene on the
south side of the school. [It's obvious that
O ficer Burton is there at this point, because
you can hear in the tone of his voice, his
cadence, you can hear the heavy breathing.

Six mnutes and twel ve seconds after the
first shot Deputies Perry and Gool shy were
present at the west gate by at least this

poi nt, based on the fact that Deputy Perry
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transmts we're going to the Building 13 and
the 900 building, we have shots fired, |'m
trying to get the fence open. So we know they
were there sooner because they heard the final
gunshots. But if nothing else this really
reinforces it, based off what the deputy says.
(Thereupon, the following radio transm ssion is
pl ayed in the open neeting:)
SPEAKER:  Hol nmberg is shut down. W're in
front of Building 13 of the 900 building. W
have shots fired. |I'mtrying to get the fence
open.
DI SPATCH: Building 13 and 900 buil di ng.
(Thereupon, the radio transm ssion concl uded, and
t he proceedi ngs continue as follows:)
So this is the gate which Detective
ool sby woul d have unl ocked. Six m nutes and
si xteen seconds after the first shot Cruz exits
the west end of Building 12 and ran sout hwest.
So six mnutes and sixteen seconds have el apsed
since the first shot was fired. Six mnutes
and twenty-two seconds is when Deputy Peterson
transmts about staying away.
(Thereupon, the following radio transm ssion is

pl ayed in the open neeting:)
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SPEAKER: No, do not approach the 12 and
1300 building, stay at |east 500' away at this
poi nt .

DI SPATCH: Stay away from 12 and 1300
bui | di ngs.

(Thereupon, the radio transm ssion concl uded, and

t he proceedi ngs continue as follows:)

M5. LARKIN SKINNER: Can | just ask what
I's the significant of 500", why 500'?

CHAIR W in the world knows?

M. LARKIN SKINNER:  Ckay, | just wasn't
sure.

CHAIR It nakes no sense to even say it,
much | ess that distance, so.

SGI. SUESS: And additionally, | mean
nobody -- regardl ess of what he believed,
whet her it was a sniper, or sonebody inside,
your |ast transmission isn't going to be to
stay away. | nean you're going to -- | would
like to think you'd tell the deputies, al
right, well, here's a safe route, | need nore
people with me, and then we woul d go approach
it. It nmakes no sense.

MR. SCHACHTER: \What were the

conversati ons between Burton and Peterson based
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on --

SGT. SUESS: We'll get into that when
O ficer Burton arrives.

MR. SCHACHTER: Ckay, great. Thank you.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir. So this is when
Deputy Eason's body cam begi ns recording. And
again, he's on the west end of the MSD canpus.
About three mnutes earlier is when he was. 3
mles north of Hol nberg Road, and.7 mles from
where he ended up on the west end of canpus.
So three m nutes have el apsed since he had to
travel and extrenely short distance. This is
t he point when his body cam cones on. Based
off his interview we couldn't get any
clarification on when he turned it on, or why
there was a del ay.

You coul d see students were still fleeing
the canmpus at this point, and Cruz was stil
fleeing west fromBuilding 12. So there's
Deputy Eason's |ocation, and the nap on the
right, you see the green dot, that's where he
was at 2:25.07. So at 2:28.03 his canera
begi ns recording as he's on the west side of
this canpus.

SHER. ASHLEY: Again, do you have a theory
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on that?

SGT. SUESS: No, sir. W tried to get a
cl ear expl anation, but he couldn't give -- |
mean the only person that could give a clear
expl anation couldn't. At six mnutes and
thirty seconds O ficer Burton transmts that
units need to go to the north side of the
school. This would have been based off
I nformati on he received from Andrew Medi na
after Medina picked himup in his golf cart.

This is the point at which Deputy Perry
makes a reference to a parent, who is actually
Sergeant Heinrich, saying there's a child down,
have fire rescue stage an area. So six mnutes
and fifty-one seconds after the first shot
O ficer TimBurton wal ked north on the east
side of Building 1. He was the first on duty
Coral Springs officer on scene. He was
approached by Medina in the golf cart. Burton
got onto the golf cart with Medina. Medina
identified Building 12 to himas the scene, but
made no nention of Peterson.

Al nost sinmul taneously Captain Jordon and
Li eutenant DeVita pull into the adm nistration

parking lot. Cruz was fleeing south on the
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west end of the canpus at this tine. So to

| ook at the map, sonmewhere in this area east of
Building is where Oficer Burton and Andrew
Medi na neet up. This is the video canera
between Buildings 1 and 8. It's difficult to
see, but again, if you re watching the noving
video it's easier to pick out. But Medina and
Burton are on the golf cart, they're going
north on the east side of Building 1. Captain
Jordan and Lieutenant DeVita are traveling
south on Pine Island Road, and they pull into
this parking lot on the east side of Buil dings
1 and 8.

Six mnutes and fifty-four seconds after
the first shot Kelvin G eenleaf and Assistant
Principle Morford entered the north end of
Building 1. If you refer to this map that's
the | ayout of Building 1, help you understand
sort of the layout. The top right corner,
you'll see there's two doors. The one on the
north end of that building is the door through
whi ch Greenl eaf and Morford travel. Slight
| eft of that you see the red box that says CR
That's the canera roomwhere they ultimtely

woul d nove i nto.
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CHAIR  And, John, | think that's a good
point. Wy don't we just stop there.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir.

CHAIR Okay, we'll pick it up tonorrow.
We have public comment. First Tony Mntalto.
As al ways we just ask everybody to please try
to keep your comrents to three mnutes. M.
Montalto, you are recogni zed.

PUBLI C COMMENT

MR. MONTALTO. Today marks ni ne nont hs
since the |l oss of ny bel oved daughter, the |oss
of Conmm ssioner Petty and Schachter's fantastic
children, the |loss of heroic staff nenbers
Hi xon, Feis, and Beigel, as well as all the
ot her wonderful children that were nurdered
that day. | nust ask is there no outrage anong
t he conm ssioners regarding the fact that none
of the security folks on canpus just did the
right thing and noved to stop the shooter as he
wal ked towards the 1200 Buil di ng?

Too often in our society today, and
clearly with respect to this incident, the
desire to do the right thing is mssing. W
all need to conme together and begin to | ook out

for one another. That sinple prem se, a desire
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to help others, may have prevented this entire
I nci dent.

The famlies represented here today do not
support the Chairman's decision not to subpoena
the teachers fromthe 1200 buil di ng who did not
cooperate with the investigation. It is not
because of a | ack of conpassion or concern for
their well-being, but instead through a desire
to learn the truth, after all, that is the
reason this comm ssion exists. W nust ask why
t he deci sion not to subpoena or take w tness
statenents under oath was not put to the entire
comm ssion. One person, no matter how well
i ntentioned, should not have nmade the decision
w t hout a public discussion.

W find it uninspiring that many of the
statenents were not done while under oath. W
have seen a constant stream of evidence
suggesting a culture of sweeping issues under
the rug, teachers feeling unsure they could
speak freely, and other participants naking
conflicting or self-serving statenents. How
can this comm ssion and the public have the
confidence that we have received truthfu

answers to this inquiry?
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Al t hough the prelimnary report is due in
January | amnot sure that this body is done
gat hering evidence or interview ng those with
rel evant know edge regarding this terrible
tragedy. W are all counting on you to do a
great job. Thank you.

CHAIR. Next is Fred Guttenberg.

MR. GUTTENBERG  Thanks Tony, for calling
out nine nonths. It's alnost surreal, but it's
been an overwhel m ng nunber of surreal nonents,
to think that on the nine nonth anniversary is
the day we're getting these details. It just
-- in the nine nonths everything that could
possi bly be overwhelmng to us just continues.

I want to say a few things. And, nunber
one, | want to thank you all for your work,
because | am hopeful that we will get to the
bottom of every failure. | also want to rem nd
all of it could have happened in any school in
any county, in any Sheriff's jurisdiction, and
so for nme what cones out of this comm ssion, |
hope it's able to be neaningfully inplenented,
but here's ny concern.

|"ve lost ny belief in heroes, because

they didn't show up on the day that | needed
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them nost, that Max needed them nost, that Ryan
needed them nost, that Tony, and Jennifer, and
Lori needed them nost. We've |ost our belief

I n heroes.

Just today, and thankfully | guess | was
in the right room of people so | passed it on,
on Facebook | received a nessage from sonebody
I n another county in Florida seeking help
because apparently these kids were starting a
fight club, and they were tal ki ng about
bringi ng an AK-47, an adult found out about it,
reported it, and was told nothing could be done
because the kid said he wasn't, didn't say he
was bringing it to school, and she, the adult
couldn't get anybody to take it seriously.

Again, fortunately I'min the right room
of people today, and | did get sone help from
some in this room but this is here in Florida.
This will happen again, because if we don't get
people -- | amso thankful for all of you, but
| have news for you, it can happen in your
counties too, and other schools, because of the
human potential for failure or fright, and so |
amreally concerned as to how we change the

cul ture.
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Let's face it, all, we're living in a
culture now where guns are out there, and, and
if we don't deal with that reality, we could
| ock down the school, we could build a solid
perimeter, ny, ny horrible fear fromthat day
is actually what if the shooter didn't go in,
and as the thousands of kids were wal king onto
and off that canpus at the end of the day he
was waiting outside that perinmeter while ny two
ki ds were wal ki ng out together.

| hope as part of this conm ssion's work,
because not one word has been said about it
while |'ve been here, there's sonme discussion
about how do we keep children fromgetting
guns, how do we keep children who intend harm
who are telling us in every way possible, from
bei ng able to get weapons. And ny hope is that
you all give a wish |ist as to changes in | aw
that you would |li ke to see, because | can tel
you you have a roomfull of parents here right
now who have gotten really engaged in this
process with legislatures. |If there is
anyt hing that we can change in law to help
I nsure that you have the tools you need to go

reach out to these kids before they cause harm
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| would love to be able to help you all do
that. So | thank you for your tine.

CHAIR  Yeah. Thank you, M. Cuttenberg.
Next is Ivy Scham s.

M5. SCHAMS: H there. | mssed nost of
it because | had to conme after school. M nane
is vy Schams. | teach at Stonenman Dougl as.
|'ve been there for eighteen years. |'ve been
teaching in Room 1214 for ten years, since the
bui |l di ng was erected, and there have been so
many safety issues, all along |I guess we felt
so safe in the school we never really addressed
it, so much | did tell ny students that if
there was an active shooter good luck to us
because there's really nowhere to hide, there
was nowhere to hide in that classroom

The thing that really bothers ne, and ny
husband and | tal k about constantly, is that
wi ndow that was in the door. So | know the 911
calls was, was it | ocked, was your door | ocked.
The door was | ocked, thank God, but truthfully
if it wasn't locked it didn't matter because
that wi ndow, and | know you guys saw t he
building, it's, the door, it's a netal door,

but it's a very large |ong glass non-bull et
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proof w ndow right in the center of the door,
and that's how the shooter got in and, and
killed Nick and Hel ena, and injured four Kkids
in ny class as wel|.

And we were all hovering in the corners,
whi ch he coul d have easily shot through those,
the walls as well, so it was not, certainly not
fortified, and certainly not safe. And | don't
know how t hose wi ndows were in there, because
If you -- like | was cowering in the corner
wai ting for a hand to cone right through, and
that's how, that's how the Coral Springs Police
Departnment got in, the SWAT team got in, but
you, all you had to do was reach your hand into
that, into that w ndow and open the door. It
was super easy, so that was not safe.

The other thing I want -- and -- and so
they nove us into portables with not only those
w ndows but wi der and | onger w ndows, so |
don't even understand that as well. So -- they
could be horizontal. |I'mnot sure the reason
for the windows, but that's, that's super
unsafe, and |I've felt that ever since | was in
the building for ten years.

The other thing, quickly, is the
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bat hroons. | don't understand that either. |
wor ked there for ten years. |I'min that
building. | love teaching there. | do not

under stand why the bat hroons were | ocked al
the time. And | know you answered a question
about it being a newthing, that's not a new
thing. That's not a new thing, it happened all
the tine, and for years. So if kids were doing
what ever it was in the bathroomthey should
have been nonitored instead of been | ocked, and
| see now it would have been a safe place for
some kids to go. Thank you.

CHAIR. Thank you. All right, we'll be in
recess until 8:30 tonmorrow norning. Thank you.

(Ther eupon, the neeting concl uded.)
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CERTI FI CATE

( STATE OF FLORI DA)
( COUNTY OF M AM - DADE)

I, JENNI FER FOLSOM Reporter, certify that |

aut hori zed to and did report the foregoing

proceedi ngs and that the transcript is a true and

correct transcription of ny notes of the

pr oceedi ngs.

W Folasin

JENNI FER ANN FOLSOM Reporter
Conmmi ssi on Nunber: GG186702
Expires: 02/ 15/2022
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